

Synthesis of Nitrogen-containing Biomolecules under Abiotic Hydrothermal Conditions

Christian Erich Seitz

Vollständiger Abdruck der von der TUM School of Natural Sciences der Technischen Universität München zur Erlangung eines

Doktors der Naturwissenschaften (Dr. rer. nat.)

genehmigten Dissertation.

Vorsitz:

Priv.-Doz. Dr. Alexander Pöthig

Prüfer der Dissertation: 1. apl. Prof. Dr. Wolfgang Eisenreich

2. Prof. Dr. Lukas Hintermann

Die Dissertation wurde am 19.07.2024 bei der Technischen Universität München eingereicht und durch die TUM School of Natural Sciences am 05.08.2024 angenommen. Die vorliegende Arbeit entstand im Zeitraum von Mai 2020 bis Juli 2024 unter der Anleitung von Herrn Prof. Dr. Wolfgang Eisenreich an der Professur für strukturelle Membranbiochemie der Technischen Universität München.

Danksagung

Ohne die Mitwirkung der folgenden Personen wäre diese Arbeit nicht dieselbe beziehungsweise unmöglich gewesen, und deshalb möchte ich mich an dieser Stelle herzlich bedanken:

Meinem Doktorvater Herrn **Prof. Dr. Wolfgang Eisenreich** möchte ich besonders für die freundliche Aufnahme in seine Arbeitsgruppe, die Überlassung des spannenden Themas, die Betreuung und die fachlichen Anregungen sowie sein Vertrauen in mich enorm danken.

Ich bedanke mich bei meinem Zweitprüfer Herrn **Prof. Dr. Lukas Hintermann** für die Übernahme der Prüfung.

Zusätzlich möchte ich Herrn **Dr. Alexander Pöthig** dafür danken, dass er den Vorsitz meiner Dissertationsprüfung übernimmt.

Bei Frau **Dr. Claudia Huber** möchte ich mich herzlich für die Zusammenarbeit, die hervorragende Betreuung und die zahlreichen Gespräche beim Mittagessen bedanken, bei denen es um Gott und die Welt ging und die den Laboralltag etwas auflockerten.

Auch möchte ich mich bei Herrn **Dr. Günther Wächtershäuser** für die zentrale Idee, um die sich meine Laborarbeit dreht, bedanken.

Bei Herrn Prof. Dr. Rainer Meckenstock, Herrn Prof. Dr. Ivan Berg, Frau **Prof. Dr. Christina Zielinski**, **Isabelle**, **Eugenio**, **Willi**, **Eric** und **Philippe** möchte ich mich für die Zusammenarbeit und die Möglichkeit bedanken, auch außerhalb meiner Doktorarbeit an spannenden Projekten mitarbeiten zu können.

Mein weiterer Dank gilt Herrn **Prof. Dr. Franz Hagn** und dem ganzen Lehrstuhl für strukturelle Biomembranchemie für die Aufnahme der Arbeitsgruppe.

Vor allem aber möchte ich mich bei den Mitgliedern unserer Arbeitsgruppe bedanken. Ich möchte den Ehemaligen **Sandra** und **Thomas** für die gute Zusammenarbeit danken. Bei meinen thematischen Vorgängern, **Jessy** und **Thomas**, ohne deren Vorarbeit dieses Projekt nie zustande gekommen wäre, möchte ich mich herzlich bedanken. Auch möchte ich mich bei den neueren Kollegen **Awad**, **Mark** und **Manu** für die gute Atmosphäre bedanken.

Besonders möchte ich mich bei meinen **Studenten** bedanken, mit denen ich das Glück hatte, in der einen oder anderen Art zusammenzuarbeiten. Hierbei möchte ich mich besonders bei **Alex** bedanken, dessen Arbeit größtenteils in eine Veröffentlichung

eingeflossen ist, bei **Nikolas**, der mir zum Schluss den Rücken freigehalten hat, und bei **Elisa** für die legendäre Türkei-Dienstreise und alles außer- und innerhalb des Labors!

Ein weiterer Dank geht an die Kollegen der **AG Storch**, allen voran **Ümit** und **Max**, für die gute Nachbarschaft und dafür, dass ich immer vorbeikommen und mein Leid klagen konnte.

Herrn **Prof. Dr. Dieter Braun** danke ich für Schaffung und die gute Organisation des SFB (CRC 235). Durch den SFB war es mir möglich, auch andere Sichtweisen auf die "Origin of Life"-Szene zu gewinnen und Kooperationen mit anderen Arbeitsgruppen zu schließen. Auch möchte ich mich an dieser Stelle bei der Stiftung **"Hans-Fischer-Gesellschaft"** bedanken, die meine Doktorarbeit finanziell unterstützt hat.

Mein ganz besonderer Dank gilt meiner **Familie** und meinen **Freunden**, besonders meiner Mutter **Rita** und meinem Onkel **Erich**, die mir meinen Lebensweg erst ermöglicht haben und immer da waren, wenn ich sie gebraucht habe. An dieser Stelle auch ein großer Dank an **Robby** und **Vera** für das Korrekturlesen der Arbeit!

Zu guter Letzt geht ein besonderer Dank an zwei Menschen, die diesen Weg leider nicht mehr mit mir zu Ende gehen konnten: an **Tine** für die Unterstützung und die netten Gespräche während unserer gemeinsamen Zeit im Labor und vor allem dafür, dass du selbst in einer deiner schwersten Stunden immer ein offenes Ohr hattest, und an meinen Vater **Manfred**, für den nicht minder das Gleiche gilt wie für den Rest des Clans.

Vielen Dank!

Ich bin nur ein großer Träumer,

doch mit Träumen fängt es an!

Frank Schindel, *Der größte Träumer* (Opening of *Digimon Tamers*)

Zusammenfassung

Der Ursprung des Lebens, wie wir es heute kennen, bleibt trotz intensiver Forschung ein umfassendes Geheimnis. Im Laufe der Zeit, und vor allem dadurch das immer neue Erkenntnisse aus der Forschung zu frühen Erdzeitaltern erlangt werden, entwickelten sich zahlreiche Theorien, wie das Leben entstanden sein könnte.

Das Hauptaugenmerk dieser Arbeit lag darauf, die Hypothese eines möglichen Urmetabolismus unter präbiotischen, hydrothermalen Bedingungen weiterzuentwickeln. Hierfür wurden anorganische Moleküle wie CO, CO₂, H₂O und Acetylen (C₂H₂) durch Metallsulfid-Katalyse zur Reaktion gebracht. Dabei wurden Bedingungen simuliert, die einer hydrothermalen, vulkanischen Umgebungen gleichen sollen.

Unter diesen Bedingungen konnten in der Vergangenheit bereits Intermediate des Citratzyklus, kurzkettige Fettsäuren und Thiophen als mögliche Biomarker synthetisiert werden. Ziel dieser Arbeit ist es nun, das bestehende Reaktionsnetzwerk um Stickstoff in Form von Ammoniumchlorid zu erweitern. Durch den Einsatz von Ammoniumchlorid konnten Vorläufer wichtiger Biomoleküle synthetisiert werden: Aminosäuren und Fettsäureamide als Vorläufer von Peptiden und schließlich Proteinen, Nukleobasen welche ein essentieller Bestandteil der Informationsübertragung in der modernen Biochemie sind, da sie in Form der DNA Informationen speichern und in Form der RNA die Baupläne für die Bildung von Proteinen darstellen und Pyrrol, welches in Form der Tetrapyrrole wie zum Beispiel Porphyrin eine wichtige Rolle als Cofaktor spielt. Hierbei ist es vor allem die Fähigkeit der Tetrapyrrole, Metallionen in ihrer Mitte zu binden, die bei diversen enzymatisch katalysierten Vorgängen und Reaktionen von Bedeutung ist. Zahlreiche Beispiele von modernen Metall-Porphyrin-Komplexen lassen zudem Rückschlüsse auf präbiotische Vorläufer zu, da man die für diese Arbeit verwenden Metalle in solchen wichtigen Komplexen wiederfinden kann.

Das Hauptwerkzeug dieser Arbeit war die Gaschromatographie gekoppelt mit Massenspektrometrie (GCMS). Sie ermöglichte es, Gemische aus kleineren Molekülen effizient aufzutrennen und zu analysieren. Größere Moleküle, deren Siedepunkt ein Verdampfen in der GCMS nicht zulässt, wurden mit einer *tert*-Butyldimethylsilyl (TBDMS)-Gruppe behandelt, um niedersiedende Derivate zu erhalten. Durch die Stabilisotopen-Markierung der Edukte konnten die erhaltenen Produkte zudem verifiziert werden, da sich die Erhöhung der Masse direkt im Massenspektrum widerspiegelt und somit auch Aussagen über die Zusammensetzung der Produkte aus den verschiedenen Edukten und die Bildung an sich zulässt. Dadurch konnten auch Rückschlüsse auf mögliche Kontrollmechanismen gezogen werden. Beispielsweise konnte durch die Nutzung von ¹³C₂H₂ gezeigt werden, dass Alanin in der Synthese aus anderthalb Molekülen Acetylen gebildet wurde. Im

Gegensatz dazu wurde β -Alanin aus je einem Molekül Acetylen und CO synthetisiert. Nun ist β -Alanin als Anti-Markownikow-Produkt leichter zu bilden als das Markownikow-Produkt α -Alanin, was sich auch in den erhaltenen Mengen der beiden Aminosäuren in der Reaktionslösung zeigt. Wie wir aus der modernen Biochemie wissen, ist nun α -Alanin und nicht β -Alanin die Aminosäure, die sich durchgesetzt hat. Die Natur hat also das schwerer zugängliche Alanin gewählt, um Leben aufzubauen. Zusätzlich konnte festgestellt werden, dass die verschiedenen Übergangsmetalle als Katalysatoren bei der Bildung der Produkte unterschiedlich erfolgreich eingesetzt werden. Auch die Verwendung von Gemischen der Metalle zeigt bei einigen Reaktionen eine außerordentliche Wirksamkeit. Dies ist ein weiterer Hinweis auf einen möglichen frühen Kontrollmechanismus, da die Natur möglicherweise auf eine Vielzahl von Metallen gesetzt hat, anstatt die Entstehung des Lebens an ein einziges Metall zu koppeln.

Insgesamt konnten fünf Aminosäuren, 13 Amide, Pyrrol, Dimethylpyrrol und Uracil als Vertreter der Nukleobasen in dieser Arbeit gefunden, und durch oben beschriebene Versuche mit Stabilisotopen-Markierung verifiziert werden. Zusätzlich wurde der Einfluss von verschiedenen Reaktionsparametern getestet.

Abstract

Despite intensive research, the origin of life as we know it today remains a mystery. Over time, and especially as new knowledge from early geological eras have been discovered, numerous theories have emerged as to how life might have originated.

The focus of this work was to expand the hypothesis of a possible primordial metabolism under prebiotic, hydrothermal conditions. For this purpose, inorganic molecules such as CO, CO₂, H₂O and acetylene (C₂H₂) were made to react using metal sulphide-based catalysis. The simulated conditions are supposed to resemble a hydrothermal, volcanic environment.

Under these conditions, intermediates of the citrate cycle, short-chain fatty acids and thiophene as possible biomarker have already been synthesised in the past. The objective of this work is to expand the existing reaction network to include nitrogen in the form of ammonium chloride. By using ammonium chloride, precursors of important biomolecules could be synthesised in this work: amino acids and fatty acid amides as precursors of peptides and finally proteins, nucleobases, which are an important part of information transmission in modern biochemistry, as they store information in the form of DNA and represent the blueprints for the formation of proteins in the form of RNA, and finally, pyrrole, which plays an important role as a cofactor in the form of tetrapyrroles, such as porphyrin and nucleobases. It is primarily the ability of tetrapyrroles to bind metal ions in their centre that is important in various enzymatically catalysed processes and reactions. Numerous examples of modern metal-porphyrin complexes also allow conclusions about prebiotic precursors, as the metals used for this work can be found in such important complexes.

The most important tool for this work was gas chromatography coupled with mass spectrometry (GCMS). This allowed mixtures of smaller molecules to be efficiently separated and analysed. Molecules, whose boiling points do not allow evaporation in GCMS, were treated with a *tert*-butyldimethylsilyl (TBDMS) group to produce lower boiling derivatives. The products obtained could also be verified by stable isotope labelling of the educts, as the increase in mass is directly reflected in the mass spectrum, and thus allows conclusions to be drawn about the composition of the products from the different educts. This also allowed conclusions about possible control mechanisms. For example, by using ¹³C₂H₂ it has been shown that alanine is synthesised from one and a half molecules of acetylene. In contrast, β-alanine was synthesised from one molecule each of acetylene and CO. Now, β-alanine is easier to form as an anti-Markownikow product, which is also reflected in the amounts of the two amino acids obtained in the reaction solution. As we know from modern biochemistry, α-alanine and not β-alanine is the amino acid that has prevailed. So nature chose the more difficult way to access α-alanine to build life. It has also been found that the

different transition metals are used with varying degrees of success as catalysts in the formation of different classes of substances. The use of mixtures of metals also shows extraordinary effectiveness in some reactions. This is also an indication of a possible early control mechanism, as nature may have relied on a variety of metals rather than tying the emergence of life to just one.

In total, five amino acids, 13 amides, pyrrole, dimethylpyrrole and uracil, as a representatives of the nucleobases could be synthesised in this work and verified by stable isotope labelling experiments described above. In addition, the influence of various reaction parameters was tested.

List of Abbreviations

Molecules

C_2H_2	acetylene
NH ₂	ammonia
CO ₂	carbon dioxide
CO	carbon monoxide
COS	carbonyl sulphide
HCN	cyanide
H ₂ S	hydrogen sulphide
H ₂	hydrogen
CH ₄	methane
N ₂	nitrogen
P4O10	phosphorus pentoxide
H ₂ O	water

Definitions

alanine
alpha-ketoglutarate
billion years ago
citrate
coenzyme A
deoxyribonucleic acid
fumarate
gas chromatography-mass spectrometry
glycol nucleic acid
isocitrate
last universal common ancestor
malate
oxaloacetate
peptide nucleic acid
reductive citric acid cycle
ribonucleic acid
threofuranosyl nucleic acid

Table of Contents

Danksa	gung	l					
Zusamr	nenfassung	IV					
Abstrac	t	VI					
List of A	Abbreviations	VIII					
1	Introduction						
1.1	Abiogenesis or The Many Ways of Getting Life Started	2					
1.1.1	The World around 4.3 bya, the Hadean Eon	2					
1.1.2	The Question of Where and How	3					
1.1.3	Iron Sulphur World Theory	8					
1.2	The Next Step: Polymerization and Encapsulation	18					
1.2.1	The Indispensability of Polymers	18					
1.2.2	Metabolism First vs. Transcription First	19					
1.2.3	The RNA World Theory	19					
1.2.4	The Formation of Protocells	20					
1.3	When Chemistry Becomes Biology or The Beginning of Everything	21					
1.3.1	The Last Universal Common Ancestor: This is LUCA	21					
1.3.2	LUCA and the Earliest Life we know about	22					
1.4	The Importance of Nitrogen	23					
1.4.1	Nitrogen in Today's Biochemistry	23					
1.4.2	Another Player in the Reaction Network of Acetylene: Ammonia	27					
2	Motivation	28					
3	Results	31					
3.1	Summary and Article: "The Abiotic Formation of Pyrrole under						
	Volcanic, Hydrothermal Conditions – An Initial Step towards Life's						
	First Breath?"	33					
3.2	Summary and Article: " From Zero to Hero: The Cyanide-Free						
	Formation of Amino Acids and Amides from Acetylene, Ammonia						
	and Carbon Monoxide in Aqueous Environments in a Simulated						
	Hadean Scenario"	45					
4	Conclusion and Outlook	61					
4.1	Expanding the Acetyleno Network	62					
4.1.1	Formation of Amino Acids	62					
4.1.2	Formation of Short Fatty Acid Amides	62					
4.1.3	Formation of Pyrrole	62					
4.1.4	Nucleobases	63					
4.2	The Show Must Go On: Polymerisation	63					
4.3	Possible Early Control Mechanisms of Life	63					
4.3.1	β-Alanine vs. α-Alanine	64					
4.3.2	Iron — Nickel — Cobalt	64					

5	References	.66
6	Reprint Permission	.79
7	Supporting Material	.81
7.1	Supplemental Material: "The Abiotic Formation of Pyrrole under Volcanic, Hydrothermal Conditions – An Initial Step towards Life's First Breath?"	.82
7.2	Supplemental Material: "From Zero to Hero: The Cyanide-Free Formation of Amino Acids and Amides from Acetylene, Ammonia and Carbon Monoxide in Aqueous Environments in a Simulated	
	Hadean Scenario."	.92
8	Publications and Conference Contributions	.98
8.1	Journal Articles	.99
8.2	Posters	.99

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Abiogenesis or The Many Ways of Getting Life Started

Abiogenesis describes the process from non-living, abiotic molecules to the first organism. In the beginning, only simple gases and molecules existed on the early Earth. The first biomolecules, such as amino acids, fatty acids and nucleobases, were formed by simple chemical reactions. The next step was polymerization. The simple compounds must form larger chains, such as RNA, DNA, or peptides, which are necessary to perform specific life functions. To avoid drifting apart and maintaining chemical imbalances, these biopolymers must be separated from the environment to create their own chemical habitat. Ultimately, these protocells can develop further through evolution and thus create the diversity of life. This process, from early environments to the diversity of life, is shown schematically in Figure 1.



Figure 1: Schematic sequence of abiogenesis from the formation of the first biomolecules to the diversity of life. Adapted from Walker *et al.* 2017 (CC BY-SA 4.0)

It is likely that abiogenesis already started at the late stages of the first eon of early Earth, the Hadean eon. The first evidence of the formation of Earth is from a time 4.5 bya (Dalrymple 2001). The first fossils of living species found, however, are from \sim 3.8 bya (Dodd *et al.* 2017; Nutman *et al.* 2016). Therefore, life must have arisen at some point in the period between these two points in time. This period is also known as the Hadean era (4.5–4.0 bya).

1.1.1 The World around 4.3 bya, the Hadean Eon

The Hadean eon began with the formation of the Earth from the solar nebula about 4.5 bya (Dalrymple 2001). This process involved the accumulation of dust and gas, leading to the formation of planetesimals and, ultimately, Earth. In the beginning, Earth was a harsh place with conditions unsuitable for life. Therefore, the name of this eon

was taken from the greek "Hades", the name of the underworld. The early Earth was searing, and temperatures were high enough to initially prevent the formation of a solid crust. The heat was caused by residual heat from accretion, radioactive decay, and frequent collisions with other celestial bodies. In particular, the late heavy bombardment, when the early Earth was exposed to a disproportionate number of asteroid collisions, which contributed to the persistence of these hostile conditions by breaking up any crust that had formed (Marchi et al. 2014). The heat also forced all existing water, which was brought by comets or by the reaction of minerals with primary H₂ (Abe *et al.* 2000), into the gas phase and converted all early accreted carbon into atmospheric carbon dioxide (CO₂) (Zahnle *et al.* 2007). With the end of the heavy bombardment, the Earth had the opportunity to cool, and water vapor condensed to form the first oceans (Mojzsis et al. 2001). The presence of liquid water was a critical factor in the subsequent emergence of life, since it provided a suitable environment for aqueous chemical reactions. As the Earth cooled, its atmosphere also changed. The so-called first atmosphere, consisting mainly of vapor and simple hydrides, changed into the second - or prebiotic - atmosphere (Zahnle et al. 2010). There is no consensus on the nature of this second atmosphere that prevailed during the Hadean period. It could have been of a reducing nature, i.e., consisting of gas mixtures like CH₄/N₂ or CO₂/H₂/N₂ (Zahnle *et al.* 2020). Due to prebiotic volcanic activity, it could also have been more neutral, consisting of CO₂/N₂/H₂O. After the formation of the first ocean and the primordial atmosphere, there was an abundance of possible niches on the early Earth that could have been conducive to the formation of early life. Various forms of energy are also being considered that could have enabled the first chemical reactions to produce biomolecules from the gases present.

1.1.2 The Question of Where and How

Since the evidence of the origin of life is lost, the investigation of the origin of life is only possible from a certain distance. There are two possible approaches: The so-called "top-down" approach and the so-called "bottom-up" approach (Peters & Williams 2012). The "top-down" approach tries to investigate the origin of life from a modern-day point of view. It assumes that specific properties such as metabolites (Benner *et al* 1989), biochemical systems such as translation (Fox 2010; Hury *et al.* 2006; Woese 2000), or metalloproteins (Russel 2003; McGlynn *et al.* 2009; Wächtershäuser 2006) have left traces in modern biochemistry over time, allowing us to trace them back to an initial biotic or even prebiotic chemistry. The "bottom-up" approach takes a different view. Here, conditions similar to those on the early Earth are simulated through a more experimental approach, and an attempt is made to recreate the reactions that led to the formation of life. This approach corresponds to the presumed course of abiogenesis as presented above. There are two central questions regarding the designs of these experiments:

- 1. What was the original energy source that made prebiotic reactions possible?
- 2. What possible environment could have enabled the emergence of life?

Different Types of Energy to Start the Engine of Life

Louis Pasteur established the beginnings of the modern-day origins of life research by breaking the prevailing dogma of his time that life could arise spontaneously under everyday conditions. His experiments showed that boiled yeast water kept in an airtight container remained sterile for weeks. However, as soon as he restored the air supply, a patch of mold soon formed. From this and other experiments, Pasteur concluded that life cannot arise spontaneously, but can only emerge from other life (Ligon 2002).

One of the first and probably most important experiments that recreated the conditions of the early Earth and led to the formation of biomolecules was the so-called Miller-Urey experiment (Miller 1953). An electrical discharge was used as the energy source, leading to the formation of, e.g., alanine and glycine in a simulated primordial atmosphere consisting of CH₄, H₂ and H₂O. Over time, there have been experiments with many different energy sources leading to the formation of simple biomolecules, including UV (Bell *et al.* 2020; Harkiss *et al.* 2019; Sagan & Khare 1971; Steinman *et al.* 1968; Sutherland 2016), X-ray (Takahashi *et al.* 1999; Utsumi & Takahashi 1998) and proton irradiation (Kobayashi *et al.* 1990; Kobayashi *et al.* 1999) as well as shock heating from 90 °C (Lowe *et al.* 1963) to over 200 °C (Islam 2001; Marshall 1994; Yanagawa & Kobayashi 1992).

The Environment: Hot, Cold, Wet, Dry?

One possible area for life to emerge on early Earth is the ocean itself. In fact, it plays a crucial role in the so-called "primordial soup theory". Miller's experiments, for example, are based on this theory. It can be used to explain the formation of many early biomolecules, but it also has a major drawback: the products formed are washed away and distributed throughout the more abundant ocean, so higher concentrations can hardly be achieved. This has led to other theories about where life originated that circumvent this negative concentration factor.

Impact Craters

The impact crater of a meteorite provides a good place for the origin of life for several reasons. First, organic precursors can be delivered by the meteorite; for example, amino acids have been detected in carbonaceous meteorites of various types from C1 (Botta *et al.* 2007; Burton *et al.* 2014; Glavin *et al.* 2010) over C2 (Cronin & Pizzarello 1983; Kvenvolden *et al.* 1970; Oró *et al.* 1971) to C3 (Burton *et al.* 2013; Glavin *et al.* 2010; Pizzarello *et al.* 2012; Poulos 2014). In addition, the energy generated by the impact itself, can cause the formation of simple organic molecules (McKay & Borucki 1997). Impacts in the ocean or on newly formed thin landmasses could also lead to the

emergence of hydrothermal vents (Cockell 2006), creating an aqueous environment for the origin of life. These hydrothermal vents, unlike those at the seabed, are not further heated and therefore have the possibility to cool down completely (Osinski *et al.* 2001). This allows for the formation of more complex structures because their stability in an aqueous environment is increased at colder temperatures (Shock & Schulte 1998).

Warm and Cold Ponds

"It is often said that all the conditions for the first production of a living organism are now present, which could ever have been present. But if (and oh what a big if) we could conceive in some warm little pond with all sorts of ammonia and phosphoric salts, light, heat, electricity etc. present, that a protein compound was chemically formed, ready to undergo still more complex changes at the present such matter would be instantly devoured, which would not have been the case before living creatures were formed."

Charles Darwin wrote this in a conversation with his friend Joseph D. Hooker in 1871 (as cited in Peretó *et al.* 2009). Initially just a thought among friends, the idea of the warm little pond evolved over time into a plausible environment for the origin of life. Warm (or cold) ponds are smaller bodies of water that, in the absence of continents, have formed on smaller islands that arise around so-called "hotspot" volcanoes above sea level (Sleep 1990). This volcanic environment ensures a constant supply of reducing gases from the volcano's plume and energy from discharges in the ash column above the volcano's vent. Through ash eruptions, the reagents for the formation of the first biomolecules can now be introduced into the pond through fallout from eruptions or washed down from the flanks of the volcano (Bada & Korenaga 2018; Scheu *et al.* 2017). The water that accumulates in these ponds evaporates over time and is then replenished. These so-called wet-dry cycles could drive prebiotic reactions to greater complexity (Bada & Korenaga 2018; Becker *et al.* 2018).

Hydrothermal Systems

Hydrothermal vents are hot springs, found on mid-ocean ridges. At a hydrothermal vent, cold seawater seeps into hot basaltic magma chambers, heats up and flows out through the vent (Colín-García 2016). The hot seawater that flows back into the ocean can reach temperatures of up to 400 °C, creating a high temperature gradient when it hits cold seawater. It is also rich in dissolved minerals, which deposit around the vent and thus form the typical chimney structure and the precipitated plume. Since hydrothermal vents are located at a depth of 2000–3000 meters below metric sea level, the water column above them generates a pressure of several hundred bar (Colín-García 2016).

They can now be found in areas where plate tectonics have induced volcanic activity. They can exist for hundreds of years or just a few decades. In general, hydrothermal vents are divided into two types, based on the distance to the magma chamber and the typical colour of the vent cloud:

"Black smokers" (Figure 2) emit water rich in dissolved minerals from the crust, mostly iron and other metal sulphides. Several minerals precipitate when they come into contact with cold ocean water, creating a black, chimney-like structure around each vent. The water reaches temperatures of up to 400 °C, and the pH is comparatively low (Colín-García 2016).



Figure 2: Black smokers known as "the Brothers". (National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, public domain)

The water flowing out of "white smokers" has a fundamentally different composition, consisting mainly of sulphates and calcium, which is responsible for the white colour (Figure 3). White smokers vent more slowly and, due to the greater distance to the magma chamber, discharge water with slightly lower temperatures (220–330 °C) than "black smokers." For these reasons, a substantial portion of the dissolved metals already precipitates in the chimney and is not released into the plume, resulting in its white colour (Schwander *et al.* 2023).



Figure 3: White smokers at Champagne Vent. (National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, public domain)

In 2000, a special type of deep-sea vents was discovered and named "lost city" (Figure 4). Unlike their smoker counterparts, "lost city" vents do not emit smoke. Their very low temperature allows all dissolved ingredients to precipitate immediately, forming chimneys of extraordinary height up to 60 meters (Kelley *et al.* 2001).



Figure 4: A white carbonate spire in the Lost City vent field. (NOAA Photo Library: expl2224, public domain)

Hydrothermal vents provide habitats for a wide variety of life forms, all of which are characterized by the fact that they obtain the energy they need to live from chemical sources (Gold 1992). Because this circumstance forms a possible analogy to the origin of life, soon after their discovery, hydrothermal vent systems were the subject of numerous considerations of a possible geological location for the emergence of life (Corliss *et al.* 1981; Holm & Charlou 2001; Lonsdale 1977). In 1988, the problems associated with the so-called "prebiotic soup theory" led Günther Wächtershäuser to develop a new thermophilic and chemoautotrophic theory based on pyrite-pulled

surface metabolism (Wächtershäuser 1988a, 1988b, 1992). Hydrothermal vents play an important role here, but their origin is volcanic rather than plate tectonic. It is possible that intense volcanic activity during the formation of the early Earth, when the crust was still much thinner, created these ancient volcanic hydrothermal vents.

1.1.3 Iron Sulphur World Theory

Wächtershäuser developed his theory further and came up with the concept of the "iron-sulphur world," which suggests that life originated chemoautotrophically (Wächtershäuser 1988a, 1990, 1992). He proposes that a pioneer organism generated by surface catalysis, preferably at transition metal sulphides, developed at the sites of volcanic hydrothermal vents.

The Pioneer Organism

In the entire abiogenesis process, the pioneer organism is located between the formation of the first biomolecules and the formation of low-molecular organic compounds (Figure 5). Therefore, it can be seen as a transition from primarily abiotic, inorganic chemistry to the first biomolecules and thus the biotic world.



Chemoautotrophic Theory

Figure 5: Chemoautotrophic theory by Günther Wächtershäuser. Volcanic gases deliver the resources necessary for the formation of the "pioneer organism". Low-molecular organic compound formation is the first step in biotic evolution and subsequent polymerization events. Adapted from Sobotta 2018.

Wächtershäuser's idea was that some properties based on modern biochemistry could be projected back to the origin. In a tree-like diagram (Figure 6b), the complexity of the hypothetical organisms decreases with each generation until they ultimately become a chemical entity that can reproduce and evolve: the "pioneer organism" (Wächtershäuser 2014). In stark contrast to this is the concept of "backwards projection" (Lipmann 1965). Here, extant genetic features are directed to several precursors, resulting in a "one-to-one" projection and a community of ancestral cells that form the primordial broth (Figure 6a).



Figure 6: Schematic representation of (a) backward projection and (b) biochemical retrodiction. The left section (a) leads to a group of primitive cells with various genomes, and the right section (b) leads to a single ancestor, the "pioneer organism." P stands for precursor feature and F for current biochemical feature. Adapted from Wächtershäuser 2014.

With his iron-sulphur world theory, Wächtershäuser not only incorporated the principle of horizontal gene transfer through his many to one approach and thus created a reasonable construct based on modern biology, he also anchored it in geochemically plausible circumstances conducive to the emergence of life (Sobotta 2018). He postulates that the pioneer organism is based on the non-metal elements H, C, N, O, Se and S and at the same time on the catalytically active transition metals Fe, Co, Ni and W (Wächtershäuser 2014).

What Does the Pioneer Organism Look Like?

The pioneer organism should not be mistakenly thought of as a kind of first cell. Rather, it is organised as a mineral substructure-superstructure. Gases and water can pass through the (Fe/Ni)S-mineral-containing substructure. Over time, a carpet of organic material forms on this substructure, which is created due to reactions on the mineral surface (Wächtershäuser 2006), promoted by the steady replenishment of gases. This organic phase, called the superstructure, consists of molecules created by the fixation of carbon from the gases. Together, the substructure and the superstructure form the pioneer organism. A cross-sectional view of the organisation of the pioneer organism is shown in Figure 7.



Figure 7: Illustration of the pioneer organism in cross-section. Together, the inorganic mineral substrate and the biological superstructure, which is produced via C-fixation, form the organism. The organism remains distinct from its surroundings, in this case the liquid water phase. There is a constant supply of educts through the water phase and the volcanic exhalations to guarantee the organism's growth. The porous surface becomes lipophilized as a result of persistent growth. Adapted from Wächtershäuser 1992.

A constant supply of gases from the volcanic water phase allows the pioneer organism to grow steadily. In addition, under the anaerobic conditions of pyrite metabolism the carbon chains are chemically inert and have a strong tendency to bind to the mineral surface, which leads to lipophilization, coating the entire mineral substructure with generated lipids (Wächtershäuser 1992). This lipid film creates the prerequisites for the first membranes. Due to the nature of lipids, which have a hydrophilic head and a lipophilic tail, two separate environments form over time. One is the relatively hydrophilic metal sulphide surface to which the hydrophilic lipid heads adhere, and the other is the lipophilic region which is formed by the tails of the fatty acids (Figure 8a). In addition, this change in polarity at the surrounding of the pioneer organism further promotes reactions that cannot occur under strictly aqueous conditions. At the same time, lipophilic fatty acids attach to the lipophilic environment of the protocell (Figure 8ii, iii). The hydrophilic heads of these fatty acids must now be uncharged, otherwise they would stick to the pyrite surface. This conversion probably occurs either by protonation of the carboxyl group or by reduction of the carboxyl group into the corresponding alcohol. There are now two types to distinguish, depending on whether the lipids have polar groups at both ends (still one of them uncharged) or only at one end. If the polar groups are at both ends, a monolayer membrane is formed (Figure 8i). If the polar groups are only at one end, a bilayer membrane is formed (Figure 8ii, iii).



Figure 8: Upper part: formation of membranes depending on the constitution of the corresponding lipid. i: monolayer from lipids with hydrophilic groups on both ends, ii and iii: bilayer membranes from lipids with hydrophilic groups on one end. Whether ii or iii is formed depends on the size of the head and tail parts. If these are the same size, ii is formed, if the size of the tail parts is smaller than that of the head parts, iii is formed. Here black circles stand for anionic head groups, white circles for non-ionic head groups. – Lower part: self-cellularisation through circumferential detachment of a membrane from a pyrite grain. Adapted from Wächtershäuser 1992.

Throughout the evolutionary process, the anionic head groups that bind to the pyrite surface can now be converted into non-ionic groups through protonation or reduction. As a result, the membrane separates from the pyrite surface piece by piece. This creates a hydrophilic, metabolically active pyrite core that is surrounded by a membrane (Figure 8a–c), resulting in a semi-cellular structure (Wächtershäuser 1992).

Energy Source and Catalytic Surfaces of the Pioneer Organism

Methanogenic archaea can be found in extreme environments in modern times. Because they are able to obtain all of their energy from the reduction of CO₂ and H₂ to methane (CH₄), they are independent of oxygen and can be found near hydrothermal vents, for example. This lifestyle suggests a possible early energy metabolism, although the reduction of CO₂ to CH₄ is not considered a precursor of modern energy production due to an endergonic barrier (Wächtershäuser 1988a). Inspired by this, however, Wächtershäuser discovered that the formation of FeS₂ (pyrite) from FeS and H₂S is an exergonic reaction and can therefore provide a constant supply of energy for the fixation of CO₂ (Wächtershäuser 1988b). With a Gibbs energy of -38.4 kJ/mol (pH = 0; T = 25 °C), the exergonic pyrite synthesis can support the primordial organism by providing it with reducing power (Wächtershäuser 1990). The calculated exergonic formation is shown in the following reaction equation (1):

FeS	+	H_2S		FeS ₂	+	H_2	+	2e⁻	∆G° = -38.4 kJ/mol	(1	.)
-----	---	--------	--	------------------	---	-------	---	-----	--------------------	----	----

Other than iron and pyrite, there are other possible transition metals that can lead to the same amount of energy. The similarly reactive nickel sulphide should be mentioned here, as both FeS and NiS are abundant on the early Earth (Allègre *et al.* 1995). Besides the reduction of CO₂, FeS and H₂S have also been shown to be the reducing agents in the conversion of alkynes to alkanes, NO₃⁻ to NH₃ (Blöchl *et al.* 1992) or even N₂ to NH₃ (Dörr *et al.* 2003).

According to Wächtershäuser's chemoautotrophic theory, the biomass for the pioneer organism consists of some elements that were present at the time of the early Earth (H, O, C, N, Mg, Fe, S, Ca, Na, Ni and P), which were able to form simple compounds such as H₂O, CO₂, CO, C₂H₂, H₂S, N₂, NH₃, H₂, HCN and P₄O₁₀, to name a few (Igari 2000; Oremland & Voytek 2008; Wächtershäuser 2007; Wächtershäuser 2014) (Figure 5). These dissolved substances now flow out of the opening of the hydrothermal vents, come into contact with the surface of the transition metal sulphides and are able to form simple organic molecules. The products of these catalytic reactions further promote their own formation reaction and thus an autocatalytic Cfixation can be established. As evolution continues, the pioneer organism can now form more complex molecules and polymers through chemoautotrophic reactions. As mentioned above, in addition to catalysis, the positively charged transition metal surface also has a strong affinity for the negatively charged ions that are formed during these reactions, namely COO⁻, PO₃²⁻ and S⁻ (Wächtershäuser 1992), keeping them close to the catalytic surface and thus further promoting subsequent reactions. These functionalised organic molecules give rise to the cell-free pioneer organism. Under primordial conditions, CO and CH₃SH can react with metal sulphide surfaces to form acetic acid, thioacetic acid or methylthioacetate.

Experiments, that deal with the possible reactions of the pioneer organism were carried out by Huber and Wächtershäuser (Huber & Wächtershäuser 1997), and Figure 9 shows a possible mechanism of the experiments (Cody 2004).



Figure 9: The hypothesised mechanism of a surface-catalysed reaction between CO and CH_3SH provided by Wächtershäuser and Huber (Huber & Wächtershäuser 1997). Carbon monoxide is transferred to a nearby iron atom and a methyl group produced from methyl mercaptan is transferred to a nickel atom. By carbonyl insertion, an acetyl group with nickel boundaries is created. Acetic acid, thioacetic acid or methyl thioacetate are the products of nucleophilic attack by either hydoxyl, bisulfide or methane thiol. Adapted from Cody 2004.

An indication of the importance and correctness of Wächtershauser's iron-sulphur world theory can be seen in extant biochemistry (Berg *et al.* 2010; Span *et al.* 2012). There are numerous examples of enzymes that catalyse through metal-sulphur clusters. In particular, such enzymes play an essential role in reactions involving gases such as H₂, CO, CO₂ and CH₄ (Fontecilla-Camps *et al.* 2009; Volbeda & Fontecilla-Camps 2006). Examples are carbon monoxide dehydrogenase (Ragsdale 1995), [NiFe]-hydrogenase (Thauer 2010) and acetyl-coenzyme A (CoA) synthase (Darnault *et al.* 2003). They are also critical for non-redox processes such as the hydration of acetylene to acetaldehyde by acetylene hydratase (Seiffert *et al.* 2007; tenBrink *et al.* 2011).

Autocatalytic approaches

In order to survive in the course of evolution, the pioneer organism must have developed its own type of metabolism, otherwise it would always be bound to the metal surface. A crucial question is whether this early metabolism was autotrophic or heterotrophic, since both types of nutrition are found in modern biology, even in higher organisms. Autotrophic organisms are now able to build up their entire materials exclusively from inorganic substances, whereas heterotrophic organisms obtain their nutrients from existing organic molecules. Wächtershäuser's theory is based on an autotrophic metabolism based on a reductive citric acid cycle (rTCA) (Wächtershäuser 1990). A one-to-one translation of the modern rTCA into an ancient one is not possible because the modern one is fully enzymatic and therefore requires a number of

cofactors. Therefore, Wächtershäuser assumes a series of historical adaptions, always mentioning first the contemporary equivalent and then its ancient adaptions (Wächtershäuser 1992):

- 1. Reductive metabolism \rightarrow reductive/oxidative metabolism
- 2. (Semi)cellular containment \rightarrow pyrite surface retainment
- 3. Anchoring to membrane and protein surfaces \rightarrow anchoring to pyrite surface
- 4. Catalytic function of enzymes \rightarrow catalytic function of pyrite surface
- 5. Modular synthesis in the cytosol \rightarrow piecemeal growth and rearrangement on the pyrite surface
- 6. Lower pressure conditions requiring energy coupling for condensations \rightarrow highpressure conditions favouring condensations
- 7. Enzyme-induced asymmetric synthesis \rightarrow pyrite-induced asymmetric synthesis
- 8. Thioacid structures \Box thioester structures
- 9. Reducing function of cofactors \rightarrow reducing function of FeS/H₂S

With these adjustments, the ancient rTCA was able to obtain one molecule of succinate from four molecules of CO_2 by completing the cycle which starts from succinate. This process would not only be autotrophic, in that it could obtain succinate from CO_2 , but also autocatalytic, in that it could reproduce itself (Wächtershäuser 1990). The complete process is shown in Figure 10, along with five critical vital reactions.



Figure 10: The hypothetical, simplified rTCA, beginning with succinate (Succ), is shown on the left. The corresponding ideal reaction occurring in the Hadean atmosphere is indicated by the numbers at the reaction arrows. Adapted from Wächtershäuser 1990, 1992.

With the rTCA, the pioneer organism is able to fix CO₂ and to use it to build more complex molecules. This is perhaps the first metabolic pathway and is being widely discussed in the scientific world (Berg et al. 2010; Keller et al. 2017; Keller et al. 2019;

Kitadai et al. 2017). However, in order to be able to transit into more complex life forms (or life forms at all), the pioneer organism must be able to perform reactions of increasing complexity. Claudia Huber was able to show, that some of those reactions are possible. A brief overview of the reactions that Huber has observed are given below.

Activated Acetic Acid (C2)

Acetyl-CoA represents the smallest metabolic entity in modern biochemistry. This C2 body is on the one hand at the end of numerous catabolic processes such as the degradation of alanine and fatty acids and on the other hand an anabolic starting material for numerous biosynthesises. Especially, the possibility of feeding it into the rTCA is of central importance. Accordingly, its importance for prebiotic metabolic pathways is high. Huber and Wächtershäuser were able to show that under NiS and FeS catalysis, a reaction temperature of 100 °C, neutral pH and atmospheric pressure, the activated acetyl thioester can be formed from CO and CH₃SH, similar to the reductive acetyl-CoA pathway (Huber & Wächtershäuser 1997).

Pyruvate (C3)

In 2000, Cody *et al.* demonstrated the formation of pyruvate, another important metabolic building block (Cody *et al.* 2000). However, the conditions — FeS, formic acid and nonylthiol at 2000 bar pressure and 250 °C — were somewhat harsh, which is difficult to reconcile with a hydrothermal environment in the Hadean eon (Wächtershäuser 2000). In fact, the formation of pyruvate could be demonstrated under milder conditions, using acetylene. The system used here consisted of NiS/ β -Ni(OH)₂/C₂H₂/Co at 1 bar and 105 °C (Sobotta *et al.* 2020), which suggests a fundamental role of acetylenes in the origin of life.

α -Hydroxy and α -Amino Acids

Amino acids are essential components of the metabolism, so it is not surprising that Huber and Wächtershäuser took a closer look at the ability of pioneer organisms to produce them. Their first approach was to synthesise them from the corresponding alpha-keto acids by reductive amination (Huber & Wächtershäuser 2003). The corresponding reaction equation is shown in Scheme 1.

$$\mathsf{R} \underbrace{\bigcup_{O}}_{O} \mathsf{O} \mathsf{H} + 2\mathsf{F} \mathsf{e}^{2+} + \mathsf{N} \mathsf{H}_3 + 2\mathsf{H}^+ \longrightarrow \mathsf{R} \underbrace{\bigcup_{N \mathsf{H}_2}}_{\mathsf{N} \mathsf{H}_2} \mathsf{O} \mathsf{H} + 2\mathsf{F} \mathsf{e}^{3+} + \mathsf{H}_2 \mathsf{O}$$

Scheme 1: Reaction equation for the pyrite catalysed reductive amination

In a subsequent approach, they attempted to synthesise amino acids directly from simpler molecules in a Hadean hydrothermal environment. They used CO, KCN and

CH₃SH as carbon sources and Ni or Fe/Ni precipitates as transition metal catalysts. The temperature of the experiments was varied from 80 °C to 120 °C and a CO pressure of 1 bar, the reaction time was 10 days. (Ca,Mg)(OH) 2 was added as a buffer to keep the pH basic (Huber & Wächtershäuser 2006). As a result, a variety of αhydroxy- and α -amino acids with a maximum chain length of C5 were identified. More specifically, it was shown that pyruvate, lactate, glycolate, glycerate and 2-hydroxy butanoic acid were produced. With the addition of KCN, the amino analogues of the previously mentioned molecules glycine, alanine, serine and aminobutanoic acid, appeared. In addition, glycinamide was discovered in these reactions, suggesting that CN ligands might produce amino acids through their corresponding carboxamides. Later, Huber et al. found that an increase of temperature leads to an increase of production, with a maximum at 160–180 °C (Huber et al. 2010). Through further research, they were able to hypothesise a mechanism that leads to the formation of lactate, alanine, glycolate, glycine, glycerate, serine and isoserine (Huber et al. 2012). Starting from a hydrated Ni(CN) complex, the corresponding products could be formed through several insertion and oxidation steps (Figure 11).



Figure 11: Theoretical mechanism by which tetracyanonickelate reacts to alanine/lactate, glycolate/ glycine and glycerate/serine/isoserine through numerous cyanide insertions. Adapted from Huber *et al.* 2012.

Peptides

As a consequence of the synthesis of amino acids, Huber and Wächtershäuser turned to the next logical step, the formation of peptides. They started to mix amino acids with H_2S or CH_3SH and were able to show the formation of dipeptides of the amino acids glycine, phenylalanine and tyrosine (Huber & Wächtershäuser 1998).

In further studies, the authors proposed a peptide cycle for the formation of dipeptides (Huber *et al.* 2003).



Figure 12: Reduced alanine peptide cycle driven by CO in an aqueous (Fe/Ni)S system. Creation of the dipeptide ala-ala using urea and hydantoin derivatives. Adapted from Huber 2013; Wächtershäuser 2006.

Figure 12 shows a condensed form of a CO-driven alanine-to-alanylalanine cyclic process (Huber *et al.* 2003; Huber 2013). COS activates the amino acid to form its aminoacyl-N-carboxanhydride. The dipeptide is formed by the nucleophilic action of a second ala molecule. The dipeptide is converted to the hydantoin derivative upon activation by COS. The urea derivative is created by hydrolysis of the intramolecular amide bond. The dipeptide is recovered by cleavage of a carboxyl group and rearrangement of the molecule. Tripeptides or even tetrapeptides can be formed by repeating the cycle. The reaction is favoured by increasing the pressure with CO gas (Huber *et al.* 2003; Wächtershäuser 2006). There are similarities between the mechanism of the newly hypothesized peptide cycle and the modern nickel enzyme urease. In addition, the continually produced hydantoin can be thought of as a precursor of the purine pathway (Huber *et al.* 2003).

The acetyleno reaction network

Inspired by the ability of certain tungsten-iron-sulphur enzymes to convert acetylene into acetaldehydes (Seiffert *et al.* 2007), Wächtershäuser incorporated acetylene into his iron-sulphur world theory. On early Earth, acetylene can be formed by volcanic processes (Mukhin 1976) and/or from CaC_2 in the reaction with water. An extraterrestrial origin of acetylene, as well as several smaller related molecules, has also been proven (Ehrenfreund *et al.* 2011; McCarthy *et al.* 2019). Acetylene represents a C2 body, similar to acetyl-CoA in today's biochemistry. Due to its unsaturated character, it also has a high reactivity. Indeed, several essential biomolecules or precursor functionalities could be synthesised in prebiotic reaction settings, using acetylene as the main or one of the primary carbon sources: fatty acids (Scheidler *et al.* 2016), several intermediates of TCA (Sobotta *et al.* 2020), the heterocycles thiophene (Geisberger *et al.* 2021) and pyrrole (Seitz *et al.* 2021), acetaldehyde and other functionalities based on it (Diederich *et al.* 2023), vesicular structures derived from fatty acids Geisberger *et al.* 2023) and amino acids and short chain fatty acid amides (Seitz *et al.* 2024) (Figure 13).



Figure 13: Achievements of the acetylene network so far. Dashed arrows show reactions that may be possible in theory but have not yet been proven.

1.2 The Next Step: Polymerization and Encapsulation

1.2.1 The Indispensability of Polymers

What is life? The answer to this question is rarely simple and never precise. According to his own statement, Daniel E. Koshland, Jr. is trying to formulate things cautiously.

In 2002, he described the characteristics that make up life with a model of seven pillars (Koshland 2002). These are program, improvisation, compartmentalization, energy, regeneration, adaptability and seclusion. This already quite advanced list can hardly be applied to representatives of the first organism, which is why it is concerted into three indispensable properties, which were found in all living systems (Eigen 1997):

- I. Metabolism external energy and material supply is necessary; without this, an equilibrium state would be reached.
- II. Self-reproduction implies the information transfer; without it, information gets lost after every generation.
- III. Mutation implies the development of a living system; without it, information would be invariant.

In today's biochemistry, these requirements are met by polymers. Proteins, the polymerization product of amino acids, are responsible for metabolism. Through specific folds, they form enzymes that can act as catalysts. Through them, reactions that do not take place under normal conditions can be accelerated and the organism can be prevented from reaching a state of chemical equilibrium. DNA and RNA are both polymeric structures made up of nucleobases. DNA is responsible for storing information. This happens because of the sequence of nucleobases in which information can be stored. Through transcription, a complementary RNA is formed, which now serves as a blueprint for proteins and other molecules.

1.2.2 Metabolism First vs. Transcription First

After the formation of the first biomolecules, there are now several possible paths that lead to known life. These are usually based on which biopolymer was formed first and therefore, which of the aforementioned characteristics of life developed first. On the one hand, we have "metabolism first" or the assembly of proteins. This hypothesis suggests that metabolic networks, rather than genetic information, were the first systems to emerge and drive the development of life. Here, through the development of simple reactions, the first metabolic series and cycles are formed, which ensure energy gain and thus growth and division. The disadvantage of this theory is that the information that a possible ancestral organism might have received cannot be passed on to daughter organisms. On the other hand, there is the "transcription first" hypothesis, which initially focused on the idea that the processes related to transcription and the interplay between genetic information and catalytic functions might have emerged early in the evolution of life.

1.2.3 The RNA World Theory

The question of what was there first — metabolism or reproduction — divides the scientific community. There are good arguments for both sides of the debate. In

modern biochemistry, there are two different polymer molecules for catalysis (proteins) and information storage (DNA). The problem now is that both are interdependent to each other (Crick 1970): proteins are formed and folded based on the information stored in DNA; at the same time, proteins, in the form of enzymes, are necessary to catalyse the reactions that form DNA. Assuming that the two did not evolve at the same time and independently, a chicken-and-egg problem arises. RNA now offers an elegant solution to this problem: as a polynucleotide, RNA, like DNA, is able to store information. At the same time, it has been known since the discovery of ribosomes that RNA has catalytic properties (Guerrier-Takada et al. 1983; Kruger et al. 1982). This finding argues for RNA as candidate for a first replicator and forms the foundation of "RNA world" hypothesis (Gilbert 1986), because it makes RNA a potential candidate to initially carry out both tasks, before it is replaced or supplemented in the course of evolution by the more stable DNA on the one hand and by the more flexible proteins on the other. As RNA is already a very complex molecule, it was also discussed whether there were precursors to it in an earlier state of evolution. The main topics addressed were theories that suggested the replacement of the sugar-phosphate backbone by, for example, peptides (PNA) (Nelson et al. 2000), threofuranose (TNA) (Schöning et al. 2000) or glycol (GNA) (Zhang et al. 2005).

1.2.4 The Formation of Protocells

Independent of metabolism, transcription and self-reproduction, an early organism must have been able to develop cellular structures to separate itself from its environment. In today's biochemistry, cells maintain their function by forming several reaction spaces, so called compartments, in which metabolic processes take place separately and undesirable reactions can be avoided. At the same time, concentration gradients can be built up. In 1960, Sydney Fox proved that the protein-like products that arise when dry amino acid mixtures are heated can also form self-aggregating droplets known as microspheres. They separate themselves from the environment by a semi-permeable membrane and absorb more protein-like material from the environment. This causes them to grow further and break up into smaller droplets again. Fox also found that these systems have enzymatic properties, breaking down glucose or behaving like esterases or peroxidases, without the addition of enzymes from outside (Fox et al. 1974; Fox & Harada 1960). In 2008, Jack Szostak showed in a model experiment that vesicles composed of fatty acids, fatty alcohols and fatty acid glycerol esters showed strong temperature independence and could exist in the range from 0° to 100 °C, which further strengthened the possible origin of life near hydrothermal vents (Mansy & Szostak 2008). Actually, the ability of the pioneer organism to form prebiotic cellular structures was recently demonstrated by Geisberger et al. (Geisberger et al. 2023).

1.3 When Chemistry Becomes Biology or The Beginning of Everything

At this point in prebiotic evolution, all the prerequisites are present to speak of life: transcription is fulfilled with an early version of RNA/DNA which enables the organism to pass on information to the next generation, early forms of metabolism are developed to enable the organism to produce its own energy, and everything is brought together and encapsulated in a vesicular structure, to be able to obtain chemical gradients.

1.3.1 The Last Universal Common Ancestor: This is LUCA

All known living creatures can be classified into one of the three major domains of biology: bacteria, archaea or eukarya. The fact that they share common properties, such as the (essentially identical) genetic code (Kubyshkin & Budisa 2017) or amino acid chirality (Fujii & Saito 2004), suggests that these properties have been inherited over time and that the domains trace back to a common ancestor. This hypothetical common ancestor is called LUCA (last universal common ancestor). Based on LUCA, the three domains of biology can now be separated, as shown in the so-called phylogenetic tree (Figure 14) derived from Darwinian evolution. This tree originally consisted of only two domains, the eukarya and the bacteria, but was extended to include the archaea after the discovery of those unusual bacteria (Woese 1981; Woese *et al.* 1990) (Figure 14 A). It is now even assumed that eukarya evolved from the archaea, which in turn would result in two domains again, but archaea instead of eukarya (Raymann *et al.* 2015) (Figure 14 B).



Figure 14: Phylogenetic tree of life showing the three domains of life, bacteria (green), archaea (red) and eukarya (blue). A shows a three-domain system, B shows a two-domain system where it is assumed that eukarya developed from archaea. Adapted from Doolittle 1999; Raymann *et al.* 2015; Woese *et al.* 1990.

Pictures of a traditional phylogenetic tree show that gene transfer occurs vertically from predecessor to successor. However, Doolittle showed that this gene transfer is not the only process which can cause the transfection of genes; he also discovered horizontal gene transfer in microorganisms (Doolittle 1999). In order to draw conclusions about

the properties of LUCA from a modern point of view, this horizontal gene transfer must be excluded. Otherwise, this gene would be found in all domains of life, but it cannot be ruled out that it could be the result of a post-LUCA gene origin and interdomain horizontal gene transfer (Kannan *et al.* 2013). Weiss *et al.* therefore examined proteins and thus genes under two criteria: first, the protein should be present in at least two higher taxa, and second, its tree should recover bacterial and archaeal monophyly (Weiss *et al.* 2016), assuming the two-domain phylogenetic tree model. They concluded that LUCA is an "anaerobic, CO₂-fixing, H₂-dependent [organism] with a Wood-Ljungdahl pathway (the reductive acetyl-CoA pathway), [and is] N₂-fixing and thermophilic. LUCA's biochemistry was replete with FeS clusters and radical reaction mechanisms." (Weiss *et al.* 2016), which brings LUCA close to Wächtershäuser's ironsulphur world theory.

According to Glansdorff *et al.*, the emergence of LUCA and the three domains can be represented by the following chronology (Glansdorff *et al.* 2008): first, there was prebiotic chemistry on minerals rich in iron-sulphur clusters, which preceded the first biochemical reactions. A pregenomic epoch resulted from the gradual assembly of the reaction network into a self-replicating proto-metabolism, which, as it progressed, required the formation of vesicles around the catalytic networks that synthesised peptides and polynucleotides This phase also marks the beginning of the era of the community of ancestral cells. Furthermore, a protonucleus is formed and there is an RNA progenote in this age, which implies that the genetic code began started. As a result, numerous metabolic types evolve. The resulting organisms were metabolically and morphologically diverse and genetically redundant. This was followed by the transition from RNA to DNA, which led to diversification in three domains. In conclusion, LUCA represents the end of the so-called early evolution and simultaneously the beginning of the diversity of life as we know it today.

1.3.2 LUCA and the Earliest Life we know about

As mentioned above, LUCA is only a hypothetical organism. The first fossil evidence of life is now estimated to be 3.7 billion years old (Nutman *et al.* 2016). These fossils may be the remains of LUCA, but they may also be the remains of descendants of LUCA that have already gone through thousands of evolutionary stages. There is ample evidence of possible early carbon fixation or even fossils of early organisms. Geological evidence suggests that some of the very first creatures, possibly including LUCA, may have originated near hydrothermal vents. To name some of the oldest:

3.5 billion years ago: samples from the Dresser Formation in the North Pole area of the Pilbara Craton, Western Australia, may show methanogenesis (Ueno *et al.* 2006).

3.7 billion years ago: in the Isua supracrustal belt in southwestern Greenland, stromatolites with microbial structures are indicating the establishment of biotic CO_2 fixation (Nutman *et al.* 2016).

3.8 billion years ago: carbonaceous inclusions from the Isua supracrustal belt were found in West Greenland and on Akilia Island. Carbon isotope composition analysis indicated carbon fixation and provided evidence for the origin of life on Earth at least 3.8 billion years ago (Mojzsis *et al.* 1996).

3.8 billion years ago: fossils of microorganism were found in sedimentary rocks in the Nuvvuagittuq Greenstone Belt, Quebec, Canada. They are interpreted as hydrothermal vents (Dodd *et al.* 2017).

4.1 billion years ago: stable isotope evidence of carbon fixation has been found in zircons from the Jack Hills in Western Australia (Bell *et al.* 2015).

These geological findings support the theories of chemoautotrophic genesis and the chemical evolution of hydrothermal systems (Wächtershäuser 1992). In fact, a variety of microorganisms, including archaea, can still survive in autotrophic habitats near hot volcanic flow conditions (Berg *et al.* 2010).

1.4 The Importance of Nitrogen

This thesis now deals with the formation of various precursor molecules that contain nitrogen. Starting from Wächtershäuser's iron-sulphur world theory, a hydrothermal reaction environment was simulated to produce these precursor molecules from a prebiotic reaction mixture.

Nitrogen is an element in the second period and fifth main group of the periodic table. Due to its unique position, it has properties that make it indispensable in biochemistry. Thanks to its five valence electrons, it can form a maximum of three covalent bonds, leaving a lone pair of electrons on the nitrogen. This lone pair is responsible for the essential character of most nitrogen compounds and is ideal for forming hydrogen bonds. It is this property that makes nitrogen so valuable in biochemistry.

1.4.1 Nitrogen in Today's Biochemistry

Nitrogen has an important function in biochemistry and is essential for all living organisms. Here are the main aspects of nitrogen's role in biochemistry:

Amino Acids, Proteins and the Peptide Bond Reaction

In living organisms, the so-called proteinogenic alpha-amino acids play a crucial role. They carry the amino group in the α -position to the carbonyl group and are able to form peptides through a condensation reaction with themselves.



Scheme 2: Chemical equation for the formation of a dipeptide from two amino acids by separation of water.

This reaction is possible for amino acids at both the carboxyl and the amino groups, allowing peptide chains to form. Through the corresponding side chains of the amino acids, the resulting peptides can link together through hydrogen bonds to form characteristic structures called proteins. This unique structures are necessary to catalyse the reactions of the respective substrates as precisely as possible using a key-lock principle.

Nucleic Acids and DNA/RNA

The ability to form hydrogen bonds plays an important role in nucleobases. Nucleobases, together with phosphate residues and the sugar deoxyribose, are the building blocks of DNA. Four nucleobases play a crucial role: the two pyrimidines cytosine and thymine, and the two purines adenine and guanine. DNA consists of two separate strands. These are placed on top of each other so that two bases are always opposite each other. Because of their respective structures, adenine always binds to thymine, forming two hydrogen bonds, and guanine always binds to cytosine, forming three hydrogen bonds. This means that the sequence of nucleobases can be explicitly mapped onto the complementary strand. Three nucleobases always form a triplet and determine which amino acid is used in protein synthesis.


Figure 15: Base pairing in DNA. Guanine always pairs with cytosine, forming three hydrogen bonds; adenine always pairs with thymine, forming two hydrogen bonds.

Pyrroles, Porphyrins and Corrins

Another important application of nitrogen in modern biochemistry are cofactors such as haem or cobalamin. The most important functional group in both is a ring made up of four pyrrole units with a metal ion bound in the middle. In the case of haem, this is iron, which can bind oxygen. This means that it plays a significant role in respiration. Haemoproteins modify the surroundings of the haem macrocycle within the protein matrix to achieve their astounding functional diversity (Poulos 2014). For instance, certain amino acid residues close to the haem molecule enable haemoglobin to efficiently carry oxygen to tissues (Thom *et al.* 2013). In the lungs, haemoglobin reversibly binds to oxygen under conditions of high pH and low carbon dioxide. Haemoglobin releases oxygen to tissues when the conditions are reversed (low pH and high carbon dioxide concentrations). The structure of haem b, one of the four main types of haem, is shown in Figure 16. The different haem molecules differ in the nature of their side chains.



Figure 16: Structure of haem b.

In the case of cobalamin, the central atom is cobalt. In addition, the central tetrapyrrole unit is not a porphyrin ring, but a corrin ring. Here, one of the methylene bridges between two pyrrole subunits is missing, and the two pyrroles are directly linked together (Figure 17). Coenzyme B_{12} , also known as cobalamin, is involved in the synthesis of amino acids (Yamada 2013). More precisely, it is the coenzyme of three classes of enzymes: isomerases (Takahashi-Iñiguez *et al.* 2012), methyltransferases (Froese *et al.* 2019) and dehalogenases (Payne *et al.* 2015; Reinhold *et al.* 2012).



Figure 17: Structure of the cofactor vitamin B₁₂ (cobalamine).

1.4.2 Another Player in the Reaction Network of Acetylene: Ammonia

Cyanide is a plausible early molecule that can be used to synthesise various precursors of proteins and RNA (Das *et al.* 2019; Sanchez *et al.* 1967; Sutherland 2016). Cyanide is abundant on the early Earth due to photochemical reactions (Tian *et al.* 2011), high-temperature reactions during asteroid impacts (Parkos *et al.* 2018), electrical discharges (Cleaves *et al.* 2008) and cometary inputs (Matthews & Minard 2008). However, cyanide also has a major drawback that encourages critics to raise their voices: Very high concentrations are required for cyanide to polymerise. Furthermore, cyanide is unstable at higher concentrations and quickly reacts in an aqueous environment to formamide, which further decomposes to ammonia and formic acid (Miyakawa *et al.* 2002), especially at higher temperatures. Thus, the equilibrium of HCN/NH₃ at the temperature of a hydrothermal vent (100 °C) is almost entirely on the ammonia side. These facts imply that ammonia itself should be considered in origin-of-life research.

2 MOTIVATION

The origin of life is a complex yet fascinating topic to study. Its most intriguing aspect is that every day we walk past thousands of pieces of evidence that life must have originated somehow, but the knowledge of exactly how is still hidden. In previous works, a reaction network around acetylene, CO, H_2O and cyanide has been established. Using acetylene and carbon monoxide, together with metal sulphide catalysts according to the iron-sulphur world theory, it was possible to synthesise some important biomolecules in a hydrothermal reaction set. Cyanide was successfully used as a possible nitrogen source. However, as mentioned above, the problem is that cyanides rapidly hydrolyse to formamide at 100 °C, which further reacts to NH_3 and formic acid.

The aim of this work is to further develop the reaction network by adding ammonia. As described above, ammonia as a potent nitrogen source is very present in an origin of life scenario due to various ways of synthesis.

The first part of this work focuses on pyrrole, a precursor of tetrapyrrole structures such as haemoglobin or vitamin B_{12} , which are essential molecules for extant biochemistry. Pyrrole can be formed from two molecules of acetylene and one molecule of ammonia (Scheme 3).



Scheme 3: Retrosynthesis of pyrrole formed from two molecules of acetylene and one molecule of ammonia. Adapted from Seitz *et al.* 2021.

In addition, the work of previous members has been continued to investigate the synthesis of amino acids and amides in the hydrothermal reaction setting. Two examples of how amino acids and amides can be formed without using cyanide as a nitrogen source are shown in Scheme 4 and Scheme 5. Here aspartic acid is formed from two molecules of carbon monoxide and water, and one molecule each of acetylene and ammonia.



Scheme 4: Retrosynthesis of aspartic acid formed from two molecules of CO and H_2O and one molecule each of acetylene and ammonia. Adapted from Seitz *et al.* 2024.

The formation of propionamide, as an example of a short chain fatty acid amide, is shown from one molecule each of acetylene, carbon monoxide and ammonia.



Scheme 5: Retrosynthesis of propionamide formed from one molecule each of acetylene, CO and ammonia. Adapted from Seitz *et al.* 2024.

Finally, nucleobases, another important group of nitrogen-containing biomolecules, were studied. We were able to show the formation of uracil from one molecule of acetylene and two molecules each of carbon monoxide and ammonia (Scheme 6).



Scheme 6: Retrosynthesis of uracil formed from two molecules of CO and ammonia and one molecule of acetylene.

Theoretically, it should be possible to form other nucleobases by combining ammonia and cyanide in the reaction. For example, guanine can be formed from one molecule each of acetylene and carbon monoxide, two molecules of cyanide and three molecules of ammonia (Scheme 7).



Scheme 7: Retrosynthesis of guanine formed from three molecules of ammonia, two molecules of cyanide and one molecule each of CO and acetylene.

3 RESULTS

The articles shown on the following pages are referenced as:

Seitz, C.; Eisenreich, W.; Huber, C. The Abiotic Formation of Pyrrole under Volcanic, Hydrothermal Conditions – An Initial Step towards Life's First Breath? Life **2021**, *11*, 980.

Seitz, C.; Geisberger, T.; West, A. R.; Fertl, J.; Eisenreich, W.; Huber, C. From Zero to Hero: The Cyanide-Free Formation of Amino Acids and Amides from Acetylene, Ammonia and Carbon Monoxide in Aqueous Environments in a Simulated Hadean Scenario. Life **2024**, *14*, 719.

3.1 Summary and Article: "The Abiotic Formation of Pyrrole under Volcanic, Hydrothermal Conditions – An Initial Step towards Life's First Breath?"

Tetrapyrrole structures, such as haemoglobin, play an important role in today's biochemistry. However, in order to build tetrapyrrole structures, the building block of these structures must first be studied. In this work, we show the formation of pyrrole under simulated hydrothermal conditions.

The reaction setup was designed to simulate volcanic, hydrothermal vent conditions. A mixture of acetylene and CO gas was filled in a reaction vessel with freshly precipitated metal sulphide catalyst and ammonia. The vessel was prepared at room temperature and then heated to 105 °C for one day. The supernatant was analysed by GC/MS. In order to determine the composition of the products from the starting compounds, experiments were performed with stable isotope labelled precursors such as ¹³CO and ¹⁵NH₄CI.

Pyrrole could be synthesised from two molecules of acetylene and one molecule of ammonia. Additionally, by using propyne instead of acetylene, dimethyl pyrrole could be studied. Different parameters such as pH, reaction time and the amount and composition of the metal sulphide catalyst were examined. A maximum yield based on the conversion of NH_4CI was found at pH of 9.1, equimolar amount of Na_2S and $NiSO_4$, resulting in a perfect concentration of NiS catalyst, without inhibiting the reaction by pH increase due to strong overflow of Na_2S , and a reaction time of 24 hours. Pyrrole was detected by GC/MS and confirmed by using ¹⁵NH₄Cl (Fig. 18).



Figure 18: Different mass spectra from a typical experiment described above. A is the measured pyrrole spectrum, B is the spectrum from database and C is the spectrum from a run with stable isotope labelled ammonia. Adapted from Seitz *et al.* 2021.

Author contribution: My individual contribution to this work included the design and execution of the experiments. I also analysed and interpreted the data obtained and drafted the published manuscript.



Article The Abiotic Formation of Pyrrole under Volcanic, Hydrothermal Conditions—An Initial Step towards Life's First Breath?

Christian Seitz, Wolfgang Eisenreich 🗅 and Claudia Huber *🗅

Bayerisches NMR Zentrum, Strukturelle Membranbiochemie, Department Chemie, Technische Universität München, Lichtenbergstr. 4, 85748 Garching, Germany; c.seitz@tum.de (C.S.); wolfgang.eisenreich@mytum.de (W.E.) * Correspondence: claudia.huber@tum.de

Abstract: Porphyrins, corrins, and tetrapyrroles constitute macrocycles in essential biomolecules such as heme, chlorophyll, cobalamin, and cofactor F430. The chemical synthesis as well as the enzymatic synthesis of these macrocycles starts from pyrrole derivatives. We here show that pyrrole and dimethyl pyrrole can be formed under the simulated volcanic, hydrothermal conditions of Early Earth, starting from acetylene, propyne, and ammonium salts in the presence of NiS or CoS as catalysts.

Keywords: pyrrole; dimethylpyrrole; acetylene; propyne; transition metal sulfides; hydrothermal conditions; origin of life



Citation: Seitz, C.; Eisenreich, W.; Huber, C. The Abiotic Formation of Pyrrole under Volcanic, Hydrothermal Conditions—An Initial Step towards Life's First Breath? *Life* 2021, *11*, 980. https://doi.org/10.3390/life11090980

Academic Editors: Alexander Ruf, Oliver Trapp and Louis B. Le Sergeant D'Hendecourt

Received: 2 September 2021 Accepted: 16 September 2021 Published: 17 September 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/).

1. Introduction

Tetrapyrroles can be found in almost all modern domains of life with important functions, being mainly involved in respiration (heme), photosynthesis (chlorophyll), amino acid synthesis (cobalamin), and methane formation (cofactor F430) [1–3].

The basic structure of tetrapyrroles can be seen in Figure 1. The structures of heme, chlorophyll, cobalamin, and cofactor F430 are shown in the supplemental section (Figures S1–S4).



Figure 1. Structure of porphyrinogen, the most simple, non-aromatic tetrapyrrole.

The chemical synthesis of pyrrole and its derivatives was one of the early milestones in classical organic chemistry. *Ludwig Knorr* discovered in the 1880s that α -amino ketones (1) and a compound with an electron-withdrawing group next to a carbonyl group (2) yield the corresponding substituted pyrroles (*Knorr* pyrroles) (3) [4]. In the 1940s, *Hans Fischer* and *Emmy Fink* discovered that the *Knorr* pyrroles (3) are not the only products of this reaction. With a second carbonyl group (e.g., β -ketoesters) in the non-amino educt, a mixture of the Knorr (3) and the *Fischer–Fink* products (4) could be observed (Schemes S1–S3) [5]. *Kleinspehn* further designed the reaction parameters so that the *Fischer–Fink* product is the exclusive reaction product [6].

The *Paal–Knorr* reaction, developed in 1884, is another example of the formation of a pyrrole derivative [7,8]. Here, a 1,4-diketone (5) reacts with an amine (6) to produce

Life 2021, 11, 980. https://doi.org/10.3390/life11090980

https://www.mdpi.com/journal/life

the corresponding pyrrole derivate (7) (Schemes S4 and S5). Alternatively, α -haloketones (8) can be reacted with ammonia (or primary amines) (6) and β -ketoesters (9) to afford the corresponding pyrroles (10) (Hantzsch pyrrole synthesis, Schemes S6 and S7) [9].

Next to these classical reactions, pyrroles can also be synthesized from acetylene or acetylene-like molecules as one of the starting materials [10]. In the following, four examples are shown which are, in some aspects, related to our setting. More specifically, nickel was used as a catalyst for the condensation of an acetylene derivative with an amine (Scheme 1A) [11]. The reaction can also be performed with acetylene generated in situ from calcium carbide (Scheme 1B) [12], or by using one nitrogen compound and two acetylene-like compounds (Scheme 1C) [13]. In the setting used by *Trovintov* et al. (Scheme 1D), the pyrrole ring was built from ketones (ketoximes) and acetylene in superbasic catalytic systems, finally leading to a variety of pyrrole-like structures through variations in the ketoxime side chains [10].



Scheme 1. Examples of modern-day pyrrole synthesis. (A) Pyrrole synthesis with nickel as catalyst [11]; (B) pyrrole synthesis with calcium carbide [12]; (C) pyrrole synthesis with two acetylene-like compounds [13]; (D) pyrrole synthesis with acetylene [10].

All examples use very specific catalysts and non-aqueous solvents to form the corresponding pyrrole derivatives. In contrast with these conditions, our reactions are performed from simple, prebiotic, relevant building blocks in an aqueous medium.

Acetylene can be either formed in volcanic processes [14], or by the reaction of CaC_2 with water [15]. Acetylene has also been detected in extant fumarolic gases [16] and in volcanic glasses [17]. Atmospheric acetylene has been suggested as part of a presumptive methane-rich primordial atmosphere due to photolysis of methane [18]. Acetylene is highly reactive and shows strong ligation to transition metals. It is therefore considered as a possible carbon source for the formation of biomolecules in prebiotic scenarios. Propyne (methylacetylene) can be found besides acetylene in volcanic gas samples [14], can be formed from propylene through pyrolysis [19], and is also detected in interstellar cold clouds [20].

In previous work, we showed the formation of short-chain fatty acids [21] and intermediates of extant carbon fixation cycles [22] from acetylene and carbon monoxide as carbon sources under simulated volcanic hydrothermal conditions. By adding ammonium chloride as a nitrogen source, we now show that pyrrole is

formed out of acetylene and ammonia in the presence of NiS and CoS at 105 °C after 1 day. Transition metal sulfides served as catalysts, according to *Günter Wüchtershüuser's* Iron– Sulfur World theory [23]. This proof-of-principle reaction could provide the basis for the prebiotic synthesis of more complex pyrroles, including tetrapyrroles or related molecules.

2. Materials and Methods

All chemicals were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich GmbH (Steinheim, Germany) in the highest purity available. Acetylene 2.6 (acetone free) was purchased from Linde AG (Pullach, Germany), and CO 2.5 and argon 4.6 were purchased from Westfalen AG (Münster, Germany). In a typical run (run 1, Table S1), a 125 mL glass serum bottle was charged with 1.0 mmol NiSO₄-6 H₂O and 1.0 mmol NH₄Cl, and closed with a gas-tight silicon stopper. The bottle was evacuated three times and filled with argon, finally resulting in a de-aerated state. Subsequently, the bottle was filled with 1 M Na₂S solution, 1 M NaOH solution, and argon-saturated water, resulting in a total reaction volume of 5 mL. In this mixture, a precipitate of black NiS was immediately formed due to its low solubility constant of 1×10^{-22} [15,24,25] in aqueous solution. Finally, 60 mL of acetylene gas and 60 mL of CO were added. Liquids and gases were injected by using gas-tight syringes. The freshly precipitated NiS (NiSO₄ + Na₂S → NiS↓ + Na₂SO₄) acted as a putative transition metal catalyst for the reaction, and the molar variations of Na₂S to NiSO₄ resulted in free sulfide ions in the solution. For the formation of dimethylpyrrole, propyne was used instead of acetylene.

Reactions were carried out at 105 °C. pH variations were achieved through the addition of H₂SO₄ solution (1 M), NaOH solution (1 M), and solid Ca(OH)₂. For safety reasons (danger of explosion) and for technical reasons, the reactions were carried out at low gas pressure. Bottles were filled with ~1 bar at room temperature, leading to a total absolute pressure of ~2.5 bar at 105 °C. After the defined reaction time, the reaction mixture was allowed to cool down and transferred into a test tube. After centrifuging at 3000 rpm for 10 min, the supernatant was extracted with 3 × 1 mL ethyl acetate. The organic phases were dried over Na₂SO₄ and directly analyzed with gas chromatography–mass spectrometry (GC–MS). GC–MS analysis was performed with a GC-2010, coupled with MS-QP2010 Ultra (Shimadzu GmbH, Duisburg, Germany) with a 30 m × 0.25 mm × 0.25 µm fused silica capillary column (Equity TM5, Supelco, Bellefonte, PA, USA) and an AOC-20i auto injector. Additionally, 1 mL of supernatant was freeze dried and treated with 250 µL ACN and N-(tert-butyldimethylsilyl)-N-methyltrifluoracetamide each, and heated at 70 °C for about an hour.

Temperature program and settings for ethyl acetate phase: 0–6 min at 40 °C; 6–25 min at 40–280 °C, 10 °C/min; injector temperature, 260 °C; interface temperature, 260 °C; column flow rate, 1 mL/min; scan interval, 0.5 s; and injection volume, 1.0 μ L.

Temperature program and settings for silylated products: 0–6 min at 90 °C; 6–25 min at 90–310 °C, 10 °C/min; injector temperature, 260 °C; interface temperature, 260 °C; column flow rate, 1 mL/min; scan interval, 0.5 s; and injection volume, 0.5 μ L.

Peak assignment was achieved by comparison with the retention times and mass spectra of purchased reference compounds, as well as with data from the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) spectral library. Pyrrole showed a retention time of 5.4 min; dimethylpyrrole a retention time of 8.8 min. Quantification was performed by external calibration using known concentrations of pyrrole and dimethylpyrrole, respectively. Runs without a transition metal compound or with argon instead of acetylene were performed for comparison.

3. Results

We here show the formation of pyrrole under simulated volcanic hydrothermal conditions from simple and geochemically feasible building blocks. In a retrosynthetic view, two molecules of acetylene and one molecule of $\rm NH_3$ forms pyrrole (Scheme 2).



Scheme 2. Retrosynthesis of pyrrole, formed by two molecules of acetylene (\equiv) and NH₃.

Using our GC-MS settings, pyrrole was found at a retention time of 5.6 min (65.9 °C), as shown by comparison with the reference material. The highest mass peak was observed at 67.0 u. A second characteristic peak was detected at 41.0 u, which belongs to the C-C=N⁺ fragment. When the stable isotope labeled ¹⁵NH₄Cl was used instead of unlabeled ¹⁴NH₄Cl, the detected product displayed a molecule mass +1 in the corresponding GC-MS analysis (Figure 2).

Table 1. Pyrrole formation from acetylene and ammonia using different transition metals as catalysts and different gas compositions after one day at 105 °C. Metal sulfides were formed in situ from MeSO₄ and Na₂S. pH values were adjusted with 1 mL 1 M NaOH and measured at the end of the reaction time. Yields are based on the conversion of NH₄Cl. Dimethylpyrrole was formed from propyne instead of acetylene.

Run	NiS	FeS	Co8	Ni(OH) ₂	NaOH	NH₄Cl	CO	C_2H_2	Prop yne	ropyne t _{resc} pH		Pyrrole (Runs 1–5) Dimethylpyrrole (Run 6)	Yield
	(mmol)	(mmol)	(mmol)	(mmol)	(mmol)	(mmol)	(mL)	(mL)	(mL)	(d)		(µM)	(%)
1	1	-	-	-	1	1	60	60	-	1	9.1	11.38	1.14
2	-	1	-	-	1	1	60	60	-	1	9.1	<0.1	< 0.01
3	-	-	1	-	1	1	60	60	-	1	8.7	5.31	0.53
4	-	-	-	-	1	1	60	60	-	1	9,9	<0.1	< 0.01
5	-	-	-	1	1	1	60	60	-	1	9.8	<0.1	< 0.01
6	1	-	-	-	1	1	-	120	-	1	8.6	5.75	0.57
7	1	-	-	-	1	1	60		60	1	9.3	132.25	13.2



Figure 2. Mass spectra of pyrrole with 67.0 u as the molecule mass and 41.0 u as the mass of the characteristic fragment C-C=N⁺. (A) Pyrrole spectrum from run 1 (Table 1). (B) Pyrrole spectrum from standard. (C) Pyrrole spectrum from a run performed with ¹⁵NH₄Cl.

NiS was used as a transition metal catalyst for the formation of pyrrole from acetylene and ammonia. Run 1 (composition: 1 mmol NiSO₄, 1 mmol Na₂S, 1 mmol NH₄Cl, 1 mL 1 M NaOH, 60 mL C₂H₂, 60 mL CO, 105 °C) (see Table 1) was set as the standard run with a maximum yield of 1.14% pyrrole, based on the conversion of NH₄Cl. In runs without a transition metal, acetylene, or nitrogen source, but otherwise identical conditions to run 1, no pyrrole formation was observed.

FeS and CoS were tested as further transition metal catalysts for pyrrole formation. In these cases, $FeSO_4$ and $CoSO_4$ were used instead of NiSO_4. The pyrrole formation in experiments using cobalt was about 50% compared to experiments with nickel. In the case of iron, no formation of pyrrole could be observed (Table 1).

In the above-described setup, acetylene was present with a small molar excess compared to NH_4Cl (2.57 mmol to 1.00 mmol). When the amount of acetylene was increased to 120 mL (5.14 mmol), the yield of pyrrole decreased to 50% as compared to run 1, indicating that pyrrole formation was not limited by C_2H_2 in our setting.

The yield of pyrrole had its optimum around pH 9.1 (Figure 3; Table S1), which corresponds to the pKa of ammonia of 9.25. At acidic pH values, pyrrole was not detected. At higher pH values than the pKa of ammonia, the yields decreased rapidly (Figure 3). This observation could be explained by higher concentrations of OH^- and therefore a blockage of catalytic nickel sites. This is supported by runs, with Ni(OH_2 instead of NiSO₄, under otherwise identical parameters, which show no formation of pyrrole (Table 1).



Figure 3. Formation of pyrrole at different pH values. pH values were measured at the end of the reaction time. The red dotted line shows the pKa of NH_3/NH_4Cl .

Pyrrole formation was observed in reaction times from 0 min to 7 days (168 h). Notably, pyrrole formation could already be observed after the short reaction time of one hour, and showed its maximum after one day (24 h) (Figure 4; Table S2). A longer reaction period led to continuously declining yields of pyrrole. This observation indicates follow-up reactions of pyrrole, which, under optimized conditions, combined with suitable reactants, could lead to the required oligomerization of pyrrole to biologically important cyclic tetrapyrroles (see Figures S1–S4).



Figure 4. Time-dependent NiS-catalyzed formation of pyrrole from acetylene and ammonia.

The concentration of catalysts also played an important role. Out of the possible nickel compounds in our experimental setup, NiSO₄, NiOH, and NiS, only NiS supported pyrrole formation (Table 1, Table S3). Therefore, we changed the amount of Na₂S in some runs to achieve different concentrations of NiS. The maximum yield of pyrrole was found at an equimolar concentration to the transition metal (Figure 5, Table S3). As mentioned earlier, a high pH inhibited the formation of pyrrole. Therefore, high concentrations of Na₂S hindered the formation of pyrrole by increasing the pH of the solution. On the other hand, with NiSO₄ not catalytically active, a low concentration of Na₂S showed lower yields of pyrrole, since NiS could not be formed.



Figure 5. Formation of pyrrole with different concentrations of Na_2S . The orange line indicates the pH of the corresponding experiment.

The classical pyrrole syntheses mentioned above involve the nucleophilic attack of nitrogen at a carbonyl group, resulting in the elimination of water. In our experimental setting, this mechanism would also be possible via the formation of carbonyl groups from CO. However, the formation of pyrrole was also observed in the absence of CO. Due to this result, two mechanisms for the formation of pyrrole can be suggested. The first one would be similar to the possible mechanism for the formation of thiophene, which was published earlier [26,27]. Here, NH₃ displaces the sulfide ion from the transition metal and therefore acts as the reactant (Scheme 3A). After two steps of deprotonation and binding to two acetylene molecules, the corresponding divinyl amine undergoes an oxidative ring closure. At this stage, SO_4^{2-} is possibly reduced to SO_3^{2-} , which can be found in the freeze dried liquid after silylation (Figure S5). Another possibility of an oxidizing agent in our oxygen-free reaction mixture would be the reduction of Ni²⁺ to Ni⁰. The formation of Ni⁰ from Ni²⁺ was shown earlier in similar experiments [28].



Scheme 3. Proposed mechanism of the Ni-catalyzed formation of pyrrole. (A) starts with the binding of ammonia to the Ni-ion, (B) starts with an acetylene–nickel bond.

Another possible mechanism starts with acetylene binding to the Ni ion (Scheme 3B). Notably, acetylene shows strong coordination tendency towards Ni ions [29,30]. The following reaction steps would be identical; namely, two deprotonations, binding to two molecules of acetylene, and ring closure.

The oligomerization of pyrrole to porphin rings would require an additional CH group. As a proof of principle towards the formation of these derivatives, we tested propyne (methylacetylene) instead of acetylene under experimental conditions, which led to the formation of pyrrole. Indeed, one of the products in this reaction was dimethylpyrrole. Dimethylpyrrole can be found at a retention time of 8.8 min. The typical masses were 95 u, which is the molecular peak, 94 u as M-1, and 80.0 u, which results from the loss of one methyl group (Figure 6). According to our mechanistic view, we assume that the position of the two methyl groups was at C2 and C5. However, products with other positions are possible. The dimethylpyrrole yield, based on the conversion of NH₄Cl, was 13.2%, which is about ten times higher compared to the yield of pyrrole from acetylene.



Figure 6. Mass spectra of dimethylpytrole with 94.0 u as the molecule, and \otimes .0 u as the mass resulting of the loss of a methyl group. (A) First spectrum is of run 7 (Table 1). (B) Dimethylpytrole spectrum from standard.

In addition to pyrrole and dimethylpyrrole, further nitrogen-containing molecules were detected in trace amounts in single runs; for example, methylthiazole and pyridinol (Figures S6 and S7).

4. Discussion

We here showed that pyrrole and dimethyl pyrrole can be abiotically formed from acetylene or methylacetylene, ammonium chloride, and metal sulfides under aqueous conditions at 105 °C. The best yields for pyrrole were achieved at a pH of 9.1, an equimolar concentration of Na₂S and NiSO₄, and after one day of reaction time. The conditions of our experiments were chosen to fit a scenario where life possibly emerged near volcanic exhalations [31] or hydrothermal vents at hadean times [32]. Nowadays, for the synthesis of pyrrole derivatives, very specific educts, solvents, and catalysts are used, in an attempt to optimize yields. In contrast, the currently shown synthesis of pyrrole is based on simple starting materials under aqueous and oxygen-free reaction conditions, in order to simulate prebiotic environments. As mentioned above, iron, nickel, and cobalt are still part of important biomolecules in modern biochemistry. It is therefore tempting to speculate that they were also involved in the prebiotic synthesis of pyrrole and its polymers. In support of this hypothesis is the fact that iron, nickel, and cobalt are commonly found in the crust of the Earth [33,34]. In our experiments, NiS and CoS showed their potential for catalytic activity in the formation of pyrrole from acetylene and ammonia.

The most common belief regarding the atmosphere on early Earth is that it mostly consisted of CO₂ and water vapor [35,36], with only small traces of N₂ and CO. Ammonia, which does not fit in this highly oxidized atmosphere, could be formed out of NO₃⁻ due to reduction driven by FeS/H₂S [37]. Nitrate, in this scenario, could be formed from atmospheric N₂ and CO₂ by electric discharges under oxygen-free conditions [38] and subsequently be dissolved in the ancient ocean.

The yields of pyrrole and dimethylpyrrole in our experiments are comparatively low. For safety reasons, due to the danger of explosion, experiments were performed at low pressure. At sub-seafloor level (>1000 bar), yields would be increased [39,40].

The synthesis of pyrrole can be seen as a first step in the formation of larger porphyrin systems. A first achievement in this direction could represent the synthesis of dimethylpyrrole in our experiments when starting from propyne instead of acetylene. Different side chains could then be achieved by using the corresponding starting materials, either to enhance the reactivity of the molecule for polymerization, or to match the side chains of biological tetrapyrrole structures. As transition metal sulfides first served as catalysts in this reaction system, a later substitution of the sulfide through the newly formed pyrrole structures could be imagined for the evolution of the potent catalyst factor F430, cobalamin, and also at a later stage, when oxygen was available, hemoglobin and chlorophyll.

Supplementary Materials: The following are available online at https://www.mdpi.com/article/ 10.3390/life11090980/s1, Figure S1: Structural formula of heme b, Figure S2: Structural formula of chlorophyll b, Figure S3: Structural formula of cobalamin (vitamin B12), Figure S4: Structural formula of coenzyme F430, Figure S5. Mass spectra of bis(tert-butyldimethylsilyl)-sulfite, Figure S6. Mass spectra of 2-methylthiazol, Figure S7. Mass spectra of 3-tert-butyldimethylsilyloxypyridine, Scheme S1: Knorr pyrrole synthesis, Scheme S2: Mechanism of Knorr pyrrole synthesis, Scheme S3: Mechanism of Fischer–Fink pyrrole synthesis, Scheme S4: Paal–Knorr reaction, Scheme S7: Mechanism of Paal–Knorr pyrrole synthesis, Scheme S4: Pyrrole synthesis according to Hantzsch, Scheme S5: Mechanism of Hantzsch pyrrole synthesis, Table S1: Formation of pyrrole depending on pH, Table S2: Formation of pyrrole depending on reaction time, Table S3: Formation of pyrrole depending on concentration of catalyst.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, C.H. and W.E.; data curation, C.S.; funding acquisition, C.H.; methodology, C.S.; supervision, C.H. and W.E.; visualization, C.S.; writing—original draft, C.S. and C.H.; writing—review and editing, C.S., C.H. and W.E. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research was funded by Hans-Fischer-Gesellschaft (Munich, Germany) and the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG, German Research Foundation)—Project-ID 364653263—TRR 235.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: Data are only reported in this publication including the Supplementary Materials file.

Acknowledgments: We thank Günter Wächtershäuser for continuous support and valuable discussions and Viktoria Schild for practical assistance.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. Poulos, T.L. Heme enzyme structure and function. Chem. Rev. 2014, 114, 3919–3962. [CrossRef]
- Bohr, C.; Hasselbalch, K.A.; Krogh, A. Ueber einen in biologischer Beziehung wichtigen Einfluss, den die Kohlensäurespannung des Blutes auf dessen Sauerstoffbindung übt. Skand. Arch. Für Physiol. 1904, 16, 402–412. [CrossRef]
- 3. Banerjee, R.V.; Matthews, R.G. Cobalamin-dependent methionine synthase. FASEB J. 1990, 4, 1450–1459. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 4. Knorr, L. Synthese von Pyrrolderivaten. Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges. 1884, 17, 1635–1642. [CrossRef]
- 5. Fischer, H.; Fink, E. Über eine neue Pyrrolsynthese. Hoppe-Seyler Z. Für Physiol. Chem. 1948, 283, 152–161. [CrossRef]
- Kleinspehn, G.G. A Novel Route to Certain 2-Pyrrolecarboxylic Esters and Nitriles. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1955, 77, 1546–1548. [CrossRef]
- Paal, C. Ueber die Derivate des Acetophenonacetessigesters und des Acetonylacetessigesters. Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges. 1884, 17, 2756–2767. [CrossRef]
- Knorr, L. Synthese von Furfuranderivaten aus dem Diacetbernsteinsäureester. Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges. 1884, 17, 2863–2870. [CrossRef]
- 9. Hantzsch, A. Neue Bildungsweise von Pyrrolderivaten. Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges. 1890, 23, 1474–1476. [CrossRef]
- 10. Trofimov, B.A.; Mikhaleva, A.I.; Schmidt, E.Y.; Sobenina, L.N. Chemistry of Pyrroles; CRC Press: Boca Raton, FL, USA, 2015.
- Singh, K.; Kabadwal, L.M.; Bera, S.; Alanthadka, A.; Banerjee, D. Nickel-Catalyzed Synthesis of N-Substituted Pyrroles Using Diols with Aryl- and Alkylamines. J. Org. Chem. 2018, 83, 15406–15414. [CrossRef]
- Kaewchangwat, N.; Sukato, R.; Vchirawongkwin, V.; Vilaivan, T.; Sukwattanasinitt, M.; Wacharasindhu, S. Direct synthesis of aryl substituted pyrroles from calcium carbide: An underestimated chemical feedstock. *Green Chem.* 2015, 17, 460–465. [CrossRef]

- Bhunia, N.; Das, B. One-Pot Synthesis of Pentasubstituted Pyrroles from Propargylic Alcohols, Amines, and Dialkyl Acetylenedicarboxylates; Tandem Amination, Propargylation and Cycloisomerization Catalyzed by Molecular Iodine. Synthesis 2013, 45, 1045–1050. [CrossRef]
- 14. Mukhin, L.M. Volcanic processes and synthesis of simple organic compounds on primitive earth. Orig. Life Evol. Biosph. 1976, 7, 355–368. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 15. Hollemann, A.F.; Wiberg, N. Lehrbuch der Anorganischen Chemie, 102nd ed.; Walter de Gruyter: Berlin, Germany, 2008.
- Igari, S.; Maekawa, T.; Sakata, S. Light hydrocarbons in fumarolic gases: A case study in the Kakkonda geothermal area. Chikyukagau 2000, 34, 103–109.
- Muenow, D.W. High temperature mass spectrometric gas-release studies of Hawaiian volcanic glass: Pele's tears. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 1973, 37, 1551–1561. [CrossRef]
- Oremland, R.S.; Voytek, M.A. Acetylene as fast food: Implications for development of life on anoxic primordial Earth and in the outer Solar System. Astrobiology 2008, 8, 45–58. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Sakakibara, Y. The Synthesis of Methylacetylene by the Pyrolysis of Propylene. I. The Effect of Pyrolysis Conditions on Product Yields. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1964, 37, 1262–1268. [CrossRef]
- Ehrenfreund, P.; Irvine, W.; Becker, L.; Blank, J.; Brucato, J.R.; Colangeli, L.; Derenne, S.; Despois, D.; Dutrey, A.; Fraaije, H.; et al. Astrophysical and astrochemical insights into the origin of life. *Rep. Prog. Phys.* 2002, 65, 1427–1487. [CrossRef]
- Scheidler, C.; Sobotta, J.; Eisenreich, W.; Wächtershäuser, G.; Huber, C. Unsaturated C3,5,7,9-Monocarboxylic Acids by Aqueous, One-Pot Carbon Fixation: Possible Relevance for the Origin of Life. Sci. Rep. 2016, 6, 27595. [CrossRef]
- Sobotta, J.; Geisberger, T.; Moosmann, C.; Scheidler, C.M.; Eisenreich, W.; Wächtershäuser, G.; Huber, C. A Possible Primordial Acetyleno/Carboxydotrophic Core Metabolism. *Life* 2020, 10, 35. [CrossRef]
- Wächtershäuser, G. Groundworks for an evolutionary biochemistry: The iron-sulphur world. Prog. Biophys. Mol. Biol. 1992, 58, 85–201. [CrossRef]
- Sillen, L.G.; Martell, A.E. Stability Constants of Metal-Ion Complexes; Lange's Handbook; Special Publ. No. 17; The Chemical Society: London, UK, 1964; pp. 8–11.
- Huang, S.; Lopez-Capel, E.; Manning, D.A.; Rickard, D. The composition of nanoparticulate nickel sulfide. Chem. Geol. 2010, 277, 207–213. [CrossRef]
- 26. Trofimov, B.A. New Reactions and Chemicals Based on Sulfur and Acetylene. Sulfur Rep. 1983, 3, 83-114. [CrossRef]
- Geisberger, T.; Sobotta, J.; Eisenreich, W.; Huber, C. Formation of Thiophene under Simulated Volcanic Hydrothermal Conditions on Earth-Implications for Early Life on Extraterrestrial Planets? *Life* 2021, *11*, 149. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Huber, C.; Kraus, F.; Hanzlik, M.; Eisenreich, W.; Wächtershäuser, G. Elements of metabolic evolution. *Chemistry* 2012, 18, 2063–2080. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Schrauzer, G.N.; Eichler, S. Zum Mechanismus der Cyclooctatetraen-Synthese nach W. Reppe. Chem. Ber. 1962, 95, 550–561. [CrossRef]
- Schrauzer, G.N. Über Reaktionen von Acrylnitril-Komplexen des Nickel(0) mit Alkinen. Ein Beitrag zur Aufklärung der Wirkungsweise von Reppe-Katalysatoren. Chem. Ber. 1961, 94, 1403–1409. [CrossRef]
- Wächtershäuser, G. From volcanic origins of chemoautotrophic life to Bacteria, Archaea and Eukarya. Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Ser. B Biol. Sci. 2006, 361, 1787–1806; discussion 1806–1808. [CrossRef]
- Baross, J.A.; Hoffman, S.E. Submarine hydrothermal vents and associated gradient environments as sites for the origin and evolution of life. Orig. Life Evol. Biosph. 1985, 15, 327–345. [CrossRef]
- 33. Cox, P.A. (Ed.) The Elements. Their Origin, Abundance, and Distribution; Oxford University Press: Oxford, UK, 1989.
- 34. Wedepohl, H.K. The composition of the continental crust. Geochim. Et Cosmochim. Acta 1995, 59, 1217–1232. [CrossRef]
- 35. Henderson-Sellers, A. The Earth's environment? Auniquely stable system? Geophys. Surv. 1981, 4, 297–329. [CrossRef]
- 36. Kasting, J.F. Earth's Early Atmosphere. Sience 1993, 259, 920–926. [CrossRef]
- Blöchl, E.; Keller, M.; Wachtershäuser, G.; Stetter, K.O. Reactions depending on iron sulfide and linking geochemistry with biochemistry. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 1992, 89, 8117–8120. [CrossRef]
- 38. Mancinelli, R.L.; McKay, C.P. The evolution of nitrogen cycling. Orig. Life Evol. Biosph. 1988, 18, 311-325. [CrossRef]
- 39. Matsumoto, K.; Sera, A.; Uchida, T. Organic Synthesis under high pressure. Synthesis 1985, 1985, 1–26. [CrossRef]
- 40. Klärner, F.-G.; Wurche, F. The effect of pressure on organic reactions. J. Prakt. Chem. 2000, 342, 609-636. [CrossRef]

3.2 Summary and Article: " From Zero to Hero: The Cyanide-Free Formation of Amino Acids and Amides from Acetylene, Ammonia and Carbon Monoxide in Aqueous Environments in a Simulated Hadean Scenario"

It has already been shown by Huber et al. that amino acids can be synthesised by using CO and CN⁻ as carbon sources. Here we show an alternative to the Strecker scheme for the formation of amino acids, which is thought to be a likely reaction to form amino acids in prebiotic chemistry. In addition, we show the formation of amides under aqueous conditions. The condensation reaction used in extant biochemistry to form peptide bonds is unlikely to occur in water, and therefore amino acids must first be activated to perform this reaction. In a prebiotic scenario an aqueous environment is essential, concentrations are low and activating agents are not available. Amides could now play a key role in the emergence of life, as it is possible to form the peptide functionality directly from the starting substances, and thus bypass the hindered condensation reaction.

A typical experiment is the same as in 3.1. We could detect a total of five amino acids and 13 amides in our reaction network. The influence of reaction parameters has been discussed in detail for alanine, aspartic acid, propionamide and succinamic acid. All show maximum yields in runs with Na₂S concentration equimolar to the metal ion in the reaction, a pH around 8.5 and a reaction time of 7 days. As for the transition metal sulphide, we used nickel, cobalt, iron and mixtures thereof. We observed the best formation of alanine with the Co/Fe mixture and of aspartate with the Ni/Co mixture. The best formation of propionamide was obtained with Co and Co/Fe, and the best formation of succinamic acid was obtained with Co and Ni/Co. This shows a broad catalytic basis and large variability regarding further evolution towards peptide formation.

Compound	# C	# N	${}^{13}C_{2}H_{2}$	¹⁵NH₄CI	¹³ CO
	Amino acio	ls			
Glycine	2	1	2	1	-
Alanine	3	1	3	1	-
β-Alanine	3	1	2	1	1
Aspartic acid	4	1	2	1	2
β-Homoserine	4	1	2	1	2
	Amides				
Formamide	1	1	1	1	-
Urea	1	2	-	2	1
Acetamide	2	1	2	1	-
Acrylamide	3	1	2	1	1
Propionamide	3	1	2	1	1
β-Alanine amide	3	1	2	2	1
Succinamic acid	4	1	2	1	2
Fumaramic acid	4	1	2	1	2
Pentenoic amides	5	1	4	1	1
Pentanoic amide	5	1	4	1	1
2-Aminobenzamide	7	2	6	2	1
2,4-Heptadienoic amide	7	1	6	1	1
Benzamide	7	1	6	1	1

Table 1: Amino acids and amides formed from acetylene, ammonia and carbon monoxide in the presence of NiS in 5 ml H₂O at 105 °C after 7 days. All substances were detected as their corresponding TBDMS derivatives. The number of carbon and nitrogen atoms derived from the reactants is identified by stable isotope labelling as indicated. Adapted from Seitz *et al.* 2024.

Author contribution: My individual contribution to this work included the interpretation of the available data and the conception and performance of additional necessary experiments. I was also involved in the preparation of the published research paper.



Article

From Zero to Hero: The Cyanide-Free Formation of Amino Acids and Amides from Acetylene, Ammonia and Carbon Monoxide in Aqueous Environments in a Simulated Hadean Scenario

Christian Seitz, Thomas Geisberger, Alexander Richard West ^(D), Jessica Fertl, Wolfgang Eisenreich ^(D) and Claudia Huber *^(D)

Bayerisches NMR Zentrum, Strukturelle Membranbiochemie, Technische Universität München, Lichtenbergstr. 4, 85748 Garching, Germany; c.seitz@tum.de (C.S.); thomas.geisberger@t-online.de (T.G.); a.r.west@student.rug.nl (A.R.W.); jessi-fertl@web.de (J.F.); wolfgang.eisenreich@mytum.de (W.E.) * Correspondence: claudia.huber@tum.de

Abstract: Amino acids are one of the most important building blocks of life. During the biochemical process of translation, cells sequentially connect amino acids via amide bonds to synthesize proteins, using the genetic information in messenger RNA (mRNA) as a template. From a prebiotic perspective (i.e., without enzymatic catalysis), joining amino acids to peptides via amide bonds is difficult due to the highly endergonic nature of the condensation reaction. We show here that amides can be formed in reactions catalyzed by the transition metal sulfides from acetylene, carbon monoxide and ammonia under aqueous conditions. Some α - and β -amino acids were also formed under the same conditions, demonstrating an alternative cyanide-free path for the formation of amino acids in prebiotic environments. Experiments performed with stable isotope labeled precursors, like ¹⁵NH₄Cl and ¹³C-acetylene, enabled the accurate mass spectroscopic identification of the products formed from the starting materials and their composition. Reactions catalyzed using the transition metal sulfides seem to offer a promising alternative pathway for the formation of amides and amino acids in prebiotic environments, bypassing the challenges posed by the highly endergonic condensation reaction. These findings shed light on the potential mechanisms by which the building blocks of life could have originated on early Earth.

Keywords: amino acids; amide; peptide bond; acetylene; transition metal sulfides; hydrothermal conditions; origin of life

1. Introduction

The role of amino acids as the fundamental building blocks of life is paramount in both modern biochemistry and theories of the origin of life. For modern biochemistry, α -amino acids are essential building blocks for peptides and proteins. In the context of the origin of life, various abiotic conditions, whether terrestrial or extraterrestrial in nature, have been proposed to explain their formation. One of the first experiments, which synthesized organic compounds such as amino acids from an inorganic starting material, were the experiments by Miller and Urey [1,2]. These pioneers of research on the origin of life used electric discharges as an energy form in a reducing gas atmosphere consisting of NH₃, H₂ and CH₄. Additionally, later, there were also experiments using a more neutral atmosphere consisting of CO₂, CO, N₂ and H₂O; however, the yields were not as high as the ones in a reducing gas atmosphere [3].

In the meantime, many other types of energy sources were considered to form organic compounds from simple precursors on the early Earth. There have been attempts using UV [4–8], X-ray [9,10] and proton irradiation [11,12], shock heating from 90 °C [13] to over 200 °C [14–16] or using volcanism-induced electric discharges as other possible energy sources [17,18]. In the iron–sulfur theory of the origin of metabolism [19], chemical

Life 2024, 14, 719. https://doi.org/10.3390/life14060719

https://www.mdpi.com/journal/life



Citation: Seitz, C.; Geisberger, T.; West, A.R.; Fertl, J.; Eisenreich, W.; Huber, C. From Zero to Hero: The Cyanide-Free Formation of Amino Acids and Amides from Acetylene, Ammonia and Carbon Monoxide in Aqueous Environments in a Simulated Hadean Scenario. Life **2024**, 14, 719. https://doi.org/10.3390/ life14060719

Academic Editors: Ranajay Saha and Alberto Vázquez-Salazar

Received: 8 May 2024 Revised: 27 May 2024 Accepted: 29 May 2024 Published: 1 June 2024



Copyright: © 2024 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). energy acts in the formation of amino acids [20] and peptides [21] using FeS/NiS catalysts. Herrera, another pioneer in the origin of life field, simply mixed ammonium thiocyanate with formaline and discovered amino acids and further organic molecules [22].

However, amino acids could also have originated from extra-terrestrial sources. Amino acids were detected in carbonaceous meteorites of various types from C1 [23–25], through to C2 [26–28] and C3 [24,29,30]. Recently, glycine oligopeptides were synthesized from C, CO and NH₃ under simulated stellar conditions [31].

The prebiotic synthesis of amino acids likely follows a Strecker reaction [32], starting from an aldehyde (Scheme 1). With the addition of ammonia, an imine is built, which reacts with cyanide to form α -aminonitrile which is finally hydrolyzed to an α -amino acid. Depending on the structure of R in the starting aldehyde, different amino acids can be synthesized by this type of reaction [33].



Scheme 1. Basic process of the Strecker reaction. The reaction proceeds via the nucleophilic addition of ammonia to the aldehyde (1). This generally extends to the iminium ion (2). The cyanide adds to this electrophilic species, resulting in an α -aminonitrile (3). The amino acid (4) is ultimately formed through hydrolysis.

In nature, amino acids are linked together via a peptide bond to form larger molecules. In this process, the carboxy group of one amino acid reacts with the amino group of another amino acid in a condensation reaction. However, an aqueous solution is unfavorable for the formation of amide bonds [34] and the reaction can, therefore, not be performed under normal conditions without catalysis. An alternative to the formation of peptides by stringing together individual amino acids via peptide bonds could be the formation of amino acids using simple molecules directly from the previous amino acid. Amides could play a central role in this scenario, where a functional peptide can be formed without being dependent on the unfavorable condensation reaction. In the context of the origin of life, the formation of amides has been shown in wet–dry cycles [35,36] or in reactions coupled to pyrite formation [37].

In previous works, we demonstrated the formation of fatty acids [38,39] and intermediates of existing carbon fixation cycles [40] using acetylene and carbon monoxide as carbon sources under simulated volcanic hydrothermal conditions. Nitrogen was successfully introduced into the system via ammonia, as shown by the formation of pyrrole, another essential unit in the biochemistry of modern life [41]. In these reactions, transition metal sulfides served as catalysts, in accordance with the iron–sulfur world theory of Günter Wächtershäuser [19]. In contrast to the typical cyanide-based Strecker scheme, we now show the simultaneous metal-catalyzed formation of amino acids from acetylene, carbon monoxide and ammonia under simulated hydrothermal conditions, again demonstrating the synthetic importance of acetylene for prebiotic chemistry. Moreover, we detected various amides under these aqueous conditions underlining the putative role of amide functionalities in the evolution of peptides and proteins.

2. Materials and Methods

All chemicals were purchased from Sigma Aldrich GmbH (Steinheim, Germany) in the highest purity available. Acetylene 2.6 (acetone free) was purchased from Linde AG (Pullach, Germany), and CO 2.5 and argon 4.6 were purchased from Westfalen AG (Münster, Germany).

Experiments were performed as published previously [41]. Briefly, in a typical run (run 1, Table S2), a 125 mL glass serum bottle was charged with 1.0 mmol NiSO₄ \cdot 6 H₂O and 1.0 mmol NH₄Cl and closed with a gas tight silicon stopper.

The bottle was evacuated three times and filled with argon, finally resulting in a de-aerated state. Subsequently, the bottle was filled with argon-saturated water, 1 M Na₂S solution and 1 M NaOH solution, resulting in a total reaction volume of 5 mL. In this mixture, a precipitate of black NiS was immediately formed due to its low solubility constant of 1×10^{-22} [42,43] in aqueous solution. Finally, 60 mL of acetylene gas and 60 mL of CO were added. Reactions were carried out at 105 °C using reaction times up to seven days. Variations were achieved through the addition of different volumes of NaOH or Na₂S solution and the use of FeSO₄ or CoSO₄ instead of or additionally to NiSO₄. After the defined reaction time, 1 mL of the reaction mixture was freeze dried and derivatized with 0.5 mL acetonitrile and 0.5 mL *N-tert*-butyldimethylsilyl-*N*-methyltrifluoracetamide (MTBSTFA) at 70 °C for one hour.

Stable isotope precursors (${}^{13}CO$, ${}^{13}C_2$ -Acetylene and 15 NH₄Cl) were used to elucidate the composition of the products. ${}^{13}CO$ and 15 NH₄Cl were directly added instead of their analogs. ${}^{13}C_2$ -Acetylene gas was obtained by adding tetra-*n*-butylammonium fluoride (TBAF) to solid ${}^{13}C_2$ -(trimethylsilyl)acetylene in an evacuated serum bottle via a syringe. The resulting ${}^{13}C_2$ -acetylene gas was then used for experiments.

The TBDMS derivatives of the products were analyzed by GC-MS using a GC-2010, coupled with MS-QP2010 Ultra (Shimadzu GmbH, Duisburg, Germany) with a 30 m \times 0.25 mm \times 0.25 µm fused silica capillary column (Equity TM5, Supelco, Bellefonte, PA, USA) and an AOC-20i auto injector.

The applied temperature of the column oven was as follows: 0–6 min at 90 °C; 6–25 min at 90–310 °C, 10 °C/min; injector and transfer temperature were kept at 260 °C.

Identification was performed by comparison of retention times and mass spectra of purchased reference compounds, as well as with data from the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) spectral library. Retention times are given in Table S1.

Quantification was performed by external calibration using a solution of alanine with different concentrations.

For comparison, blank runs with argon instead of acetylene and runs without a transition metal compound were performed.

3. Results

We reacted acetylene, carbon monoxide and ammonia under demanding anaerobic, aqueous conditions at 105 $^\circ$ C for up to 7 days. As transition metal catalysts, FeS, NiS, CoS and mixtures of them were used, which were freshly prepared in situ from metal sulfates and sodium sulfide.

Under similar conditions, mainly unsaturated, odd numbered carboxylic acids from formic acid up to nonadecenoic acids were detected [38,39]. We now show the formation of carboxylic acid amides up to a chain length of C₅ and the simultaneous formation of amino acids (Table 1). Runs with ¹³CO, $H^{13}C \equiv$ ¹³CH and ¹⁵NH₄Cl obtained these products as genuine reaction products and it could be seen that they were composed from the starting materials. In the absence of NiS, FeS or CoS, these amides and amino acids were not formed.

Specifically, we detected α -alanine, β -alanine, glycine, aspartic acid and β -homoserine and 13 amides including formamide, propionamide and succinamic acid (Table 1). All substances were analyzed as their corresponding *tert*-butyldimethylsilyl (TBDMS) derivatives by GC-MS.

Further condensation to detectable amounts of peptides under otherwise similar conditions would probably require higher concentrations [44,45]. In an origin of life scenario, this could be achieved through surface bonding on the catalyzing mineral [46], thermal concentration in hydrothermal rock pores [47] and dehydration–hydration cycles [48]. Nevertheless, the detection of surrogate amides provides evidence for the one-pot formation of amides and amino acids from acetylene, CO and ammonia in a hydrothermal environment. It is tempting to speculate that this scenario could support further evolution into peptides on the early Earth, avoiding the unfavorable condensation of amino acids.

Table 1. Amino acids and amides formed from acetylene (2.71 mmol), ammonia (1.00 mmol) and carbon monoxide (2.68 mmol) in the presence of NiS (1.00 mmol) in 5 mL H₂O at 105 °C after 7 days. All substances were analyzed as their corresponding TBDMS derivatives. Number of carbon and nitrogen atoms derived from the reactants are identified by stable isotope labelling as indicated.

Compound	# C	# N	$^{13}\mathrm{C_{2}H_{2}}$	¹⁵ NH ₄ Cl	¹³ CO				
Amino acids									
Glycine	2	1	2	1	-				
Alanine	3	1	3	1	-				
β-Alanine	3	1	2	1	1				
Aspartic acid	4	1	2	1	2				
β-Ĥomoserine	4	1	2	1	2				
Amides									
Formamide	1	1	1	1	-				
Urea	1	2	-	2	1				
Acetamide	2	1	2	1	-				
Acrylamide	3	1	2	1	1				
Propionamide	3	1	2	1	1				
β-Alanine amide	3	1	2	2	1				
Succinamic acid	4	1	2	1	2				
Fumaramic acid	4	1	2	1	2				
Pentenoic amides	5	1	4	1	1				
Pentanoic amide	5	1	4	1	1				
2-Aminobenzamide	7	2	6	2	1				
2,4-Heptadienoic amide	7	1	6	1	1				
Benzamide	7	1	6	1	1				

For more a more specific study, two amino acids and two amides were chosen as representatives. In Figures 1–4 the mass spectra of differently labelled propionamide (Figure 1), succinamic acid (Figure 2), alanine (Figure 3) and aspartic acid (Figure 4) are shown. In each Figure A shows the corresponding spectra of the unlabeled compounds; B shows the spectra of the reaction products in which ¹³C-acetylene was used; C, in which ¹³CO was used, and D, in which ¹⁵N-labelled ammonia was used. Propionamide, succinamic acid and aspartic acid, which were used in high amounts, were measured in SCAN mode. Due to the comparatively low yield of alanine, we used single-ion monitoring (SIM) to show the labelling patterns of alanine. Here, only the typical masses of TBDMS-alanine, which are m/z = 260, m/z = 232 and m/z = 158, were measured (Figure 51). The most intensive mass peak usually represents the fragment lacking a t-butyl group (M-57⁺). In the case of propionamide, succinamic acid and aspartic acid these are m/z = 130, m/z = 288 and m/z = 418, respectively. It should be noted that peptides or peptide-like assemblies could not be observed.

Based on the specific mass data for the reaction products obtained from the experiments with different stable isotope labelled precursors, the starting materials from which the individual compounds were synthesized could be identified. It turned out that propionamide was formed from one molecule of acetylene, carbon monoxide and ammonia, succinamic acid from one molecule of acetylene, two molecules of CO and one molecule of ammonia, alanine from one and a half molecule of acetylene, two molecules of water and one molecule of ammonia, and aspartic acid from one molecule of acetylene, two molecules of carbon monoxide, two molecules of water and one molecule of ammonia (Scheme 2). Interestingly, all of the carbon atoms in alanine came from acetylene. In contrast, β -alanine was formed from one molecule of acetylene and one molecule of carbon monoxide (Table 1).



Figure 1. Different mass spectra of propionamide. (A) is from run 1 (Table S2), (B) is from a run with ${}^{13}C_2H_2$, (C) is from a run with ${}^{13}CO$ and (D) is from a run with ${}^{15}NH_4CI$. The typical mass of m/z = 130 results from the loss of the t-butyl group from TBDMS.



Figure 2. Different mass spectra of succinamic acid. (A) is from run 1 (Table S2), (B) is from a run with ${}^{13}C_2H_2$, (C) is from a run with ${}^{13}CO$ and (D) is from a run with ${}^{15}NII_4Cl$. The typical mass of m/z = 288 results from the loss of the t-butyl group from the TBDMS.



Figure 3. Different mass spectra of alanine. Measurement was performed in single ion monitoring (SIM) mode. Shown are the masses of typical fragments of TBDMS-derivatized amino acids. In the case of alanine these are m/z = 260, m/z = 232 and m/z = 158. (**A**) is from run 1 (Table S2), (**B**) is from a run with ¹³C₂H₂, (**C**) is from a run with ¹³CO and (**D**) is from a run with ¹⁵NH₄Cl.



Figure 4. Different mass spectra of aspartic acid. (**A**) is from run 1 (Table S2), (**B**) is from a run with ${}^{13}C_2H_2$, (**C**) is from a run with ${}^{13}CO$ and (**D**) is from a run with ${}^{15}NH_4Cl$. Typical mass fragments of TBDMS-derivatized aspartic acid are m/z = 418, m/z = 390 and m/z = 302.



Scheme 2. Retrosynthesis of propionamide from one molecule of ammonia, acetylene and carbon monoxide (**A**); succinamic acid from one molecule of ammonia, one molecule of acetylene, two molecules of carbon monoxide and one molecule of water (**B**); alanine from one molecule of ammonia, one and a half molecules of acetylene and two molecules of water (**C**); and aspartic acid from one molecule of ammonia and acetylene and two molecules of carbon monoxide and water (**D**).

Different reaction parameters were investigated. Tables S2–S5 show all of the reactions which were performed to elucidate the influence of the metal ion catalysts, pH value, reaction time and the amount of Na_2S in the reaction mixture.

As shown in previous works [41], only metal sulfides, which were freshly formed in situ from metal sulfates and sodium sulfide, were catalytically active in our reaction setup. To analyze the role of the metal sulfide catalysts, we used NiSO₄, CoSO₄ and FeSO₄ as well as 50/50 (mol%) mixtures of two of them and a 33/33/33 (mol%) mixture of all three transition metals to form the respective sulfides. In previous works [41], nickel sulfide showed the best yields in product formation. However, in the case of propionamide and succinamic acid, cobalt sulfide or mixtures of the sulfide gave the best yields. In the case of alanine and aspartic acid, nickel sulfide or sulfide mixtures were superior catalysts (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Formation of propionamide, succinamic acid, alanine and aspartic acid with different metal ions as metal sulfide catalysts. Mixtures of transition metal catalysts contain 50/50 (mol%) or 33/33/33 (mol%) of the corresponding metal-sulfides, respectively.

Different pH values were achieved by adding NaOH to the reaction mixtures (Table S5). Propionamide, succinamic acid, aspartic acid and alanine showed maximum yields at about pH 8.4 (Figure 6). At acidic pH values, no formation of amides and amino acids could be detected. At pH values > 9.0 the formation of amides and amino acids both rapidly decreased.



Figure 6. Formation of *propionamide (green), succinamic acid (violet), alanine (blue) and aspartic acid (orange)* in the presence of NiS at different pH values. pH values were measured at the end of the reaction time.

The formation of amides and amino acids was detected in reaction times ranging from 0 min to 7 days (Figure 7). However, product formation started comparatively slowly and constantly increased until the reaction was stopped at 7 days. According to our data, it seems promising to increase the reaction time beyond 7 days. However, all of the gases in the serum bottle were consumed after this time. Filling up the missing gas volume with CO and acetylene after that point showed no increase in product formation. This can probably be explained by a deactivation of the catalyst during the reaction period.



Figure 7. Time-dependent NiS catalyzed formation of *propionamide (green)*, *succinamic acid (violet)*, *alanine (blue) and aspartic acid (orange)* from acetylene, carbon monoxide and ammonia.

As was shown before [41], metal sulfate alone was not catalytically active in our setup. Therefore, the concentration of catalyst in the reaction can be controlled by changing the amount of Na₂S. As expected, an equimolar concentration of metal sulfate and sodium sulfide showed the best yields of amino acids and amides (Figure 8). Lesser concentrations of sulfide resulted in lesser amounts of active catalysts. Higher concentrations also had a negative effect, which was probably due to their effect on the pH value.





4. Discussion

The synthesis of peptide bonds in non-biological systems is, despite recent success [49,50], a challenging issue [51]. These problems are even more serious considering that, in an origin of life scenario, complex protecting groups and appropriate solvents are not available.

Supported by stable isotope labelling, here, we provided proof of the formation of simple amides, potential synthons for more complex peptides, in abiotic reactions starting from acetylene, ammonium chloride, carbon monoxide and metal sulfides under aqueous conditions at 105 °C. The best yields were achieved at a pH of 8.4, equimolar concentrations of metal sulfates and sodium sulfide and seven days of reaction time. Different metal sulfides and mixtures thereof showed catalytic potential in the formation of amino acids and simple amides. The conditions of our experiments were chosen to fit an Hadean scenario, where life possibly emerged near volcanic exhalations [52] or hydrothermal vents [53].

Based on the ¹³C label distribution in the detected products, three mechanisms of amide formation from acetylene, carbon monoxide and ammonia can be postulated (Scheme 3). The dominant mechanism is the carbonylation or double carbonylation of acetylene, followed by amide formation leading to, e.g., propionamide and succinamic acid (Scheme 3A). A second pathway includes the hydration of acetylene, followed by oxidation and amination, leading to, e.g., acetic acid amide (Scheme 3B). In a third reaction pathway, the cleavage of acetylene is involved, as reflected by the about 66% ¹³C enrichment in formic acid amide when ¹³C labeled acetylene was used as starting material (Scheme 3C). The residual 33% represents a formic acid amide derived from CO (Scheme 3D). We hypothesize that in our experiments, all of the reaction steps took place in the reaction sphere of the metal sulfide precipitates.

Amino acids can be formed from α , β unsaturated carboxylic acids through the addition of NH₃ (Scheme 4A), leading to α and β alanine (Scheme 4B) and aspartic acid (Scheme 4C), a reaction which has to compete with the addition of H₂O (Scheme 4D) or the reductive amination of α -ketoacids (Scheme 4E) [54].

As mentioned before, the difference in the synthesis of alanine and β -alanine is particularly significant. The carbon atoms of β -alanine originate from one molecule of acetylene and one molecule of carbon monoxide. In contrast, all of the carbon atoms in α -alanine are from acetylene. Interestingly, evolution did not choose the more available anti-*Markownikow* product, β -alanine, as one of its basic building blocks, but rather preferred an

alternative route to the *Markownikow* product, α -alanine. This could indicate an early form of control over life processes through the preference for a less present reaction product.

Scheme 3. Formation of amides from acetylene as starting material. Shown is the formation of propionamide (A), acetamide (B) and formamide (C). (D) shows the simultaneously occurring reaction of CO into formamide.



Scheme 4. Possible mechanisms of the formation of amino acids in our setup. (**A**): proposed mechanism of NH₃ addition to α , β unsaturated carboxylic acids. (**B**,**C**): mechanism for the example of α , β alanine and aspartic acid. (**D**): competing reaction with the addition of water and (**E**): another possible mechanism via reductive amination of α -ketoacids.

We would like to mention that our analytical setup did not discern between the D and L forms of amino acids. We assume, in the first instance, the formation of racemic mixtures which, in consecutive steps, are selected by different binding constants on the catalytic surfaces [19]. The formation of homochiral peptides and their stability in the Earth's crust was recently discussed by S. Toxvaerd [55].

The carbon sources in our reaction network were acetylene and carbon monoxide. Acetylene would have been commonly available in an early world scenario as it can be formed by volcanic processes [56] and/or from CaC_2 in a reaction with water [57]. Acetylene is also considered an important reagent for the formation of smaller molecules containing carbon atoms in interstellar chemistry [58,59]. Acetylene can form smaller hydrocarbons, polyenes and benzenes and therefore lead to a variety of possible carbon

11 of 14

precursors for early biochemistry [60]. In our experiments the labelling patterns of the products show the utilization of acetylene as the main carbon source.

Here, we show that all the transition metals, nickel, cobalt and iron, and even mixtures, can serve as potential catalysts in prebiotic reactions. All three can catalyze different reactions to different degrees, which is an indication that different biochemical compounds may have developed from them. These are used for different reactions in modern biochemistry. The natural availability of these metals on early Earth supports this hypothesis. Iron, nickel and cobalt are commonly found in the crust of the Earth [61,62].

Iron, as the most abundant mineral out of these three transition metals, was shown to have the best catalytic properties in earlier studies on reductive amination [54] and CO_2 reduction [63]. In this study, we report enhanced results for amide and amino acid formation by using nickel, cobalt and mixtures containing cobalt as one constituent. To date, only a limited number of studies have dealt with the electrochemical and catalytic properties of transition metals in an origin of life context and predictions are hard to give. A summary of recent studies is given by de Graaf and Li [64,65]. However, the relevance of all three transition metals as catalysts is supported by extant biochemistry. For example, iron in FeS clusters and hemoglobin enable redox reactions and oxygen transport, respectively. Nickel is important for hydrogen activation and in cofactor F430 for Methanogenesis. Cobalt is contained in coenzyme B12, a cofactor in enzymes that are necessary in the metabolism of amino acids.

As mentioned before, the amino acids are most likely synthesized via a Strecker reaction in a prebiotic environment. We show here that the formation of amino acids is also possible using ammonia only without cyanide, which is necessary for the Strecker reaction. Ammonia, however, does not fit in a relatively oxidized atmosphere, which is assumed for early Earth [66,67]. But, ammonia could be formed out of NO_3^- due to reduction driven by FeS/H₂S [68]. Nitrate, in this scenario, could be formed from atmospheric N₂ and CO₂ through electric discharges under oxygen free conditions [69] and subsequently be dissolved in the ancient ocean.

The formation of peptides is an endergonic process, which means that it does not occur spontaneously under aqueous conditions. This reaction occurs with a decrease in entropy and is so energetically unfavorable that the equilibrium constant K_{syn} for the combination of two amino acids is $<10^{-5}$ [34]. Therefore, in modern synthetic pathways, amino acids must first be activated. To make matters worse, in a prebiotic scenario, an aqueous environment is essential, concentrations are low and activating agents are not available. This makes the condensation reaction even more difficult. Here, we can show the formation of amides, carrying the functionality of dipeptides, in water. In an origin of life context, this finding is important, because we now demonstrate that amides/peptides are not necessarily formed by the condensation of a carboxy group with an amine, but could also be synthesized directly from carbon monoxide, acetylene and ammonium. This pathway avoids the adverse circumstances of peptide formation from individual amino acids and underlines the importance of acetylene in origin of life syntheses.

Supplementary Materials: The following supporting information can be downloaded at: https: //www.mdpi.com/article/10.3390/life14060719/s1, Table S1. Retention time and typical fragment mass of amino acids and amides, Table S2. Propionamide, succinamic acid, alanine and aspartic acid formation based on different metal catalysts, Table S3. Propionamide, succinamic acid, alanine and aspartic acid formation based on different reaction times, Table S4. Propionamide, succinamic acid, alanine and aspartic acid formation based on different amounts of metal sulfide catalysts, Table S5. Propionamide, succinamic acid, alanine and aspartic acid formation based on different pH values, Figure S1. Typical fragments of TBDMS- amino acids in GC/MS experiments using the example of alanine.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, C.H. and W.E.; data curation, C.S., J.F., T.G. and A.R.W.; funding acquisition, C.H.; methodology, C.S., J.F. and T.G.; supervision, C.H. and W.E.; visualization, C.S.; writing—original draft, C.S. and C.H.; writing—review and editing, C.S., A.R.W., C.H. and W.E. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research was funded by the Hans-Fischer-Gesellschaft (Munich, Germany) and the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG, German Research Foundation)—Project-ID 364653263— TRR 235.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: Data is contained within the article or Supplementary Materials.

Acknowledgments: We thank Günter Wächtershäuser for continuous support and valuable discussions. Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

References

- Miller, S.L. A Production of Amino Acids under Possible Primitive Earth Conditions. Science 1953, 117, 528–529. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Urey, H.C. On the Early Chemical History of the Earth and the Origin of Life. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 1952, 38, 351–363. [CrossRef]
- Cleaves, H.J.; Chalmers, J.H.; Lazcano, A.; Miller, S.L.; Bada, J.L. A reassessment of prebiotic organic synthesis in neutral planetary atmospheres. Orig. Life Evol. Biosph. 2008, 38, 105–115. [CrossRef]
- Sagan, C.; Khare, B.N. Long-wavelength ultraviolet photoproduction of amino acids on the primitive Earth. Science 1971, 173, 417–420. [CrossRef]
- 5. Sutherland, J.D. The Origin of Life-Out of the Blue. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 2016, 55, 104-121. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Bell, J.D.; Harkiss, A.H.; Nobis, D.; Malcolm, E.; Knuhtsen, A.; Wellaway, C.R.; Jamieson, A.G.; Magennis, S.W.; Sutherland, A. Conformationally rigid pyrazoloquinazoline α-amino acids: One- and two-photon induced fluorescence. *Chem. Commun.* 2020, 56, 1887–1890. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Harkiss, A.H.; Bell, J.D.; Knuhtsen, A.; Jamieson, A.G.; Sutherland, A. Synthesis and Fluorescent Properties of β-Pyridyl α-Amino Acids. J. Org. Chem. 2019, 84, 2879–2890. [CrossRef]
- Steinman, G.; Smith, A.E.; Silver, J.J. Synthesis of a sulfur-containing amino acid under simulated prebiotic conditions. Science 1968, 159, 1108–1109. [CrossRef]
- 9. Takahashi, J.; Hosokawa, T.; Masuda, H.; Kaneko, T.; Kobayashi, K.; Saito, T.; Utsumi, Y. Abiotic synthesis of amino acids by x-ray irradiation of simple inorganic gases. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **1999**, *74*, 877–879. [CrossRef]
- Utsumi, Y.; Takahashi, J. Synthesis of Amino Acids from N₂, H₂O Vapor and CO₂ Gas Mixture by Synchrotron Radiation Induced Photochemical Reactions at Atmospheric Pressure. Jpn. J. Appl. Phys. 1998, 37, L1268. [CrossRef]
- 11. Kobayashil, K.; Kaneko, T.; Saito, T. Characterization of complex organic compounds formed in simulated planetary atmospheres by the action of high energy particels. *Adv. Space Res.* **1999**, *24*, 461–464. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Kobayashi, K.; Tsuchiya, M.; Oshima, T.; Yanagawa, H. Abiotic synthesis of amino acids and imidazole by proton irradiation of simulated primitive earth atmospheres. Orig. Life Evol. Biosph. 1990, 20, 99–109. [CrossRef]
- Lowe, C.U.; Rees, M.W.; Markham, R. Synthesis of complex organic compounds from simple precursors: Formation of aminoacids, amino-acid polymers, fatty acids and purines from ammonium cyanide. *Nature* 1963, 199, 219–222. [CrossRef]
- Islam, N.; Kaneko, T.; Kobayashi, K. Determination of Amino Acids Formed in a Supercritical Water Flow Reactor Simulating Submarine Hydrothermal Systems. Anal. Sci. 2001, 17, 1631–1634.
- 15. Marshall, W.L. Hydrothermal synthesis of amino acids. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 1994, 58, 2099-2106. [CrossRef]
- Yanagawa, H.; Kobayashi, K. Chapter 8 An experimental approach to chemical evolution in submarine hydrothermal systems. Orig. Life Evol. Biosph. 1992, 22, 147–159. [CrossRef]
- Scheu, B.; Dingwell, D.B.; Cimarelli, C.; Bada, J.; Chalmers, J.H.; Burton, A.S. Prebiotic Synthesis in Volcanic Discharges: Exposing Ash to Volcanic/Primordial Gas Atmospheres. In *AGU Fall Meeting Abstracts*; AGU: Washington, DC, USA, 2017; p. B53A-1946.
 Springsklee, C.; Steiner, T.; Geisberger, T.; Scheu, B.; Huber, C.; Eisenreich, W.; Cimarelli, C.; Dingwell, D.B. *Prebiotic Synthesis in*
- Volcanic Discharges: Lightning, Porous Ash and Volcanic Gas Atmospheres; Copernicus GmbH: Göttingen, Germany, 2020. [CrossRef]
 Wächtershäuser, G. Groundworks for an evolutionary biochemistry: The iron-sulphur world. Prog. Biophys. Mol. Biol. 1992, 58,
- Wattershauser, G. Ground works for an evolutionary biotenenistry. The non-subjust work. Prog. Biophys. Not. 1992, 30, 85–201. [CrossRef]
 Huber, C.; Kraus, F.; Hanzlik, M.; Eisenreich, W.; Wächtershäuser, G. Elements of metabolic evolution. Chemistry 2012, 18,
- Huber, C.; Kraus, F.; Hanzlik, M.; Eisenreich, W.; Wächtershäuser, G. Elements of metabolic evolution. Chemistry 2012, 18, 2063–2080. [CrossRef]
- 21. Huber, C.; Eisenreich, W.; Hecht, S.; Wächtershäuser, G. A possible primordial peptide cycle. Science 2003, 301, 938–940. [CrossRef]
- 22. Herrera, A.L. A new theory of the origin and nature of life. Science 1942, 96, 14. [CrossRef]
- Botta, O.; Martins, Z.; Ehrenfreund, P. Amino acids in Antarctic CM1 meteorites and their relationship to other carbonaceous chondrites. *Meteorit. Planet. Sci.* 2007, 42, 81–92. [CrossRef]
- 24. Glavin, D.P.; Callahan, M.P.; Dworkin, J.P.; Elsila, J.E. The effects of parent body processes on amino acids in carbonaceous chondrites. *Meteorit. Planet. Sci.* 2010, 45, 1948–1972. [CrossRef]

- Burton, A.S.; Grunsfeld, S.; Elsila, J.E.; Glavin, D.P.; Dworkin, J.P. The effects of parent-body hydrothermal heating on amino acid abundances in CI-like chondrites. *Polar Sci.* 2014, *8*, 255–263. [CrossRef]
- Oro, J.; Gibert, J.; Lichtenstein, H.; Wikstrom, S.; Flory, D.A. Amino-acids, Aliphatic and Aromatic Hydrocarbons in the Murchison Meteorite. Nature 1971, 230, 105–106. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Kvenvolden, K.; Lawless, J.; Pering, K.; Peterson, E.; Flores, J.; Ponnamperuma, C.; Kaplan, I.R.; Moore, C. Evidence for extraterrestrial amino-acids and hydrocarbons in the Murchison meteorite. *Nature* 1970, 228, 923–926. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
 Cronin, J.R.; Pizzarello, S. Amino acids in meteorites. *Adv. Space Res.* 1983, 3, 5–18. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Pizzarello, S.; Schrader, D.L.; Monroe, A.A.; Lauretta, D.S. Large enantiomeric excesses in primitive meteorites and the diverse
- effects of water in cosmochemical evolution. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 2012, 109, 11949–11954. [CrossRef]
 Burton, A.S.; Elsila, J.E.; Hein, J.E.; Glavin, D.P.; Dworkin, J.P. Extraterrestrial amino acids identified in metal-rich CH and CB carbonaceous chondrites from Antarctica. Meteorit. Planet. Sci. 2013, 48, 390–402. [CrossRef]
- Krasnokutski, S.A.; Jäger, C.; Henning, T.; Geffroy, C.; Remaury, Q.B.; Poinot, P. Formation of extraterrestrial peptides and their derivatives. *Sci. Adv.* 2024, 10, eadj7179. [CrossRef]
- Masamba, W. Petasis vs. Strecker Amino Acid Synthesis: Convergence, Divergence and Opportunities in Organic Synthesis. Molecules 2021, 26, 1707. [CrossRef]
- Strecker, A. Ueber die künstliche Bildung der Milchsäure und einen neuen, dem Glycocoll homologen Körper. Justus Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1850, 75, 27–45. [CrossRef]
- Jakubke, H.-D.; Kuhl, P.; Könnecke, A. Grundprinzipien der proteasekatalysierten Knüpfung der Peptidbindung. Angew. Chem. 1985, 97, 79–87. [CrossRef]
- Forsythe, J.G.; Yu, S.-S.; Mamajanov, I.; Grover, M.A.; Krishnamurthy, R.; Fernández, F.M.; Hud, N.V. Ester-Mediated Amide Bond Formation Driven by Wet-Dry Cycles: A Possible Path to Polypeptides on the Prebiotic Earth. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 2015, 54, 9871–9875. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Fox, S.W.; Harada, K. The Thermal Copolymerization of Amino Acids Common to Protein 1. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1960, 82, 3745–3751. [CrossRef]
- Keller, M.; Blochl, E.; Wächtershäuser, G.; Stetter, K.O. Formation of amide bonds without a condensation agent and implications for origin of life. *Nature* 1994, 368, 836–838. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Scheidler, C.; Sobotta, J.; Eisenreich, W.; Wächtershäuser, G.; Huber, C. Unsaturated C3,5,7,9-Monocarboxylic Acids by Aqueous, One-Pot Carbon Fixation: Possible Relevance for the Origin of Life. Sci. Rep. 2016, 6, 27595. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Geisberger, T.; Diederich, P.; Kaiser, C.J.O.; Vogele, K.; Ruf, A.; Seitz, C.; Simmel, F.; Eisenreich, W.; Schmitt-Kopplin, P.; Huber, C. Formation of vesicular structures from fatty acids formed under simulated volcanic hydrothermal conditions. *Sci. Rep.* 2023, 13, 15227. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Sobotta, J.; Geisberger, T.; Moosmann, C.; Scheidler, C.M.; Eisenreich, W.; Wächtershäuser, G.; Huber, C. A Possible Primordial Acetyleno/Carboxydotrophic Core Metabolism. *Life* 2020, 10, 35. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Seitz, C.; Eisenreich, W.; Huber, C. The Abiotic Formation of Pyrrole under Volcanic, Hydrothermal Conditions-An Initial Step towards Life's First Breath? Life 2021, 11, 980. [CrossRef]
- 42. Sillen, L.G.; Martell, A.E. Stability Constants of Metal-Ion Complexes, 2nd ed.; Chemical Society: London, UK, 1964.
- Huang, S.; Lopez-Capel, E.; Manning, D.A.; Rickard, D. The composition of nanoparticulate nickel sulfide. Chem. Geol. 2010, 277, 207–213. [CrossRef]
- Huber, C.; Wächtershäuser, G. Peptides by activation of amino acids with CO on (Ni,Fe)S surfaces: Implications for the origin of life. Science 1998, 281, 670–672. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Huber, C.; Wächtershäuser, G. alpha-Hydroxy and alpha-amino acids under possible Hadean, volcanic origin-of-life conditions. Science 2006, 314, 630–632. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Wächtershäuser, G. Before enzymes and templates: Theory of surface metabolism. *Microbiol. Rev.* 1988, 52, 452–484. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Matreux, T.; Aikkila, P.; Scheu, B.; Braun, D.; Mast, C.B. Heat flows enrich prebiotic building blocks and enhance their reactivity. *Nature* 2024, 628, 110–116. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Rodriguez-Garcia, M.; Surman, A.J.; Cooper, G.J.T.; Suárez-Marina, I.; Hosni, Z.; Lee, M.P.; Cronin, L. Formation of oligopeptides in high yield under simple programmable conditions. *Nat. Commun.* 2015, 6, 8385. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Canavelli, P.; Islam, S.; Powner, M.W. Peptide ligation by chemoselective aminonitrile coupling in water. Nature 2019, 571, 546–549. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Sauer, F.; Haas, M.; Sydow, C.; Siegle, A.F.; Lauer, C.A.; Trapp, O. From amino acid mixtures to peptides in liquid sulphur dioxide on early Earth. Nat. Commun. 2021, 12, 7182. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Isidro-Llobet, A.; Kenworthy, M.N.; Mukherjee, S.; Kopach, M.E.; Wegner, K.; Gallou, F.; Smith, A.G.; Roschangar, F. Sustainability Challenges in Peptide Synthesis and Purification: From R&D to Production. J. Org. Chem. 2019, 84, 4615–4628. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Wächtershäuser, G. From volcanic origins of chemoautotrophic life to Bacteria, Archaea and Eukarya. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. 2006, 361, 1787–1806; discussion 1806-8. [CrossRef]
- 53. Baross, J.A.; Hoffman, S.E. Submarine hydrothermal vents and associated gradient environments as sites for the origin and evolution of life. *Orig. Life Evol. Biosph.* **1985**, *15*, 327–345. [CrossRef]

- 54. Huber, C.; Wächtershäuser, G. Primordial reductive amination revisited. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 1695–1697. [CrossRef]
- Toxvaerd, S. Origin of Homochirality: The Formation and Stability of Homochiral Peptides in Aqueous Prebiological Environment in the Earth's Crust. Symmetry 2023, 15, 155. [CrossRef]
- Mukhin, L.M. Volcanic processes and synthesis of simple organic compounds on primitive earth. Orig. Life 1976, 7, 355–368. [CrossRef]
- 57. Wiberg, E.; Wiberg, N. Anorganische Chemie; 103. Auflage; De Gruyter: Berlin, Germany, 2017.
- McCarthy, M.C.; Gottlieb, C.A.; Cernicharo, J. Building Blocks of Dust: A Coordinated Laboratory and Astronomical Study of AGB Stars. J. Mol. Spectrosc. 2019, 356, 7–20. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Ehrenfreund, P.; Spaans, M.; Holm, N.G. The evolution of organic matter in space. Philos. Trans. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci. 2011, 369, 538–554. [CrossRef]
- Pentsak, E.O.; Murga, M.S.; Ananikov, V.P. Role of Acetylene in the Chemical Evolution of Carbon Complexity. ACS Earth Space Chem. 2024, 8, 798–856. [CrossRef]
- 61. Cox, P.A. Elements: Their Origin, Abundance, and Distribution; Reprinted with Corr.; Oxford Science Publications: Oxford, UK, 1989.
- Wedepohl, H.K. The composition of the continental crust. *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta* 1995, 59, 1217–1232. [CrossRef]
 Varma, S.J.; Muchowska, K.B.; Chatelain, P.; Moran, J. Native iron reduces CO₂ to intermediates and end-products of the
- acetyl-CoA pathway. Nat. Ecol. Ecol. 2018, 2, 1019–1024. [CrossRef]
 de Graaf, R.; de Decker, Y.; Soio, V.; Hudson, R. Ouantifving Catalysis at the Origin of Life. Chemistry 2023, 29, e202301447.
- 64. de Graaf, R.; de Decker, Y.; Sojo, V.; Hudson, R. Quantifying Catalysis at the Origin of Life. *Chemistry* 2023, 29, e202301447. [CrossRef]
 65. Li, Y. Kitadai, N. Nakamura, R. Chemical Diversity of Metal Sulfide Minerals and Its Implications for the Origin of Life. *Life*.
- Li, Y.; Kitadai, N.; Nakamura, R. Chemical Diversity of Metal Sulfide Minerals and Its Implications for the Origin of Life. Life 2018, 8, 46. [CrossRef]
- 66. Henderson-Sellers, A. The Earth's environment? A uniquely stable system? Geophys. Surv. 1981, 4, 297–329. [CrossRef]
- 67. Kasting, J.F. Earth's early atmosphere. Science 1993, 259, 920–926. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Blöchl, E.; Keller, M.; Wachtershäuser, G.; Stetter, K.O. Reactions depending on iron sulfide and linking geochemistry with biochemistry. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 1992, 89, 8117–8120. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 69. Mancinelli, R.L.; McKay, C.P. The evolution of nitrogen cycling. Orig. Life Evol. Biosph. 1988, 18, 311-325. [CrossRef]

Disclaimer/Publisher's Note: The statements, opinions and data contained in all publications are solely those of the individual author(s) and contributor(s) and not of MDPI and/or the editor(s). MDPI and/or the editor(s) disclaim responsibility for any injury to people or property resulting from any ideas, methods, instructions or products referred to in the content.
4 CONCLUSION & ND OUTLOOK

4.1 Expanding the Acetyleno Network

As mentioned above, Huber *et al.* had outstanding success with the introduction of acetylene into reactions under Wächtershäuser conditions. At that time, the focus was on reactions with acetylene alone or with an additional carbon source in the form of CO. Now the reaction network is being expanded to include nitrogen in the form of ammonia.

4.1.1 Formation of Amino Acids

Amino acids are essential building blocks in extant biochemistry. As a result, there are numerous examples of prebiotic amino acid synthesis. Most of them have in common that they are based on cyanide, according to the Strecker scheme. We have now demonstrated a milder amino acid synthesis by using ammonia, thus avoiding the negative aspects that come with cyanide. We were able to demonstrate the formation of five amino acids, using reaction conditions that simulate a hydrothermal environment. The amount of amino acid obtained varies greatly between the different amino acids, covering two orders of magnitude in the millimolar range.

4.1.2 Formation of Short Fatty Acid Amides

After amino acids, the next step on the path to modern biochemistry is the polymerisation into peptides and then proteins. However, the formation of peptide bonds, which is used in extant biochemistry to form those polymeres, is almost impossible to perform in an aqueous environment without catalysis. In current biochemistry, enzymes catalyse the formation of peptide bonds. With the discovery of amides in our reaction network, this unfavourable reaction could be bypassed by building the peptide bond on top of a precursor instead of linking existing units together. The group of amides, in which the oxygen atom of a carboxy group is replaced by nitrogen, is the simplest representative of this process. We found a total of 13 amides in our reaction networks. Again, concentrations in the millimolar range could be achieved.

4.1.3 Formation of Pyrrole

At first glance, the role of pyrrole as a biomolecule is not very obvious. However, the full potential of pyrrole is revealed when four of them come together to form tetrapyrrole structures. These, especially porphyrin and corrins, play an important role in modern biochemistry. Their ability to hold and stabilise metal ions within their ring structure allows them to perform specific functions. For example, with iron as the central metal ion, haemoglobin is responsible for binding and transporting oxygen, which is needed for energy balance through respiration. With cobalt as the central ion, the corresponding complex is an essential cofactor known as vitamin B_{12} or cobalamin. It

is required by animals, which use it as a cofactor in DNA synthesis, and in both fatty acid and amino acid metabolism. Pyrrole and dimethylpyrrole have been obtained in yields of up to 13% based on the conversion of ammonia.

4.1.4 Nucleobases

In the case of the nucleobases, uracil was found and confirmed by stable isotope labelling. However, the formation of the other nucleobases from acetylene and various other reactant molecules should be possible. Since previous experiments have shown a strong dependence on pH, this seems to be a possible explanation for the actual absence of the other nucleobases.

4.2 The Show Must Go On: Polymerisation

As mentioned above, the polymerisation into certain biomolecules such as proteins, DNA and RNA is an important prerequisite for the origin of life. So far, this work has only shown the formation of simple precursor molecules such as amino acids and pyrroles. There are several reasons why no large biomolecules have emerged from our reaction system, a fact which also has its benefits. Assuming again that the precursors produced would continue to react under the same conditions that led to their own formation, life would not have had a chance to emerge. For example, there would be no way of creating certain enzymes if amino acids reacted with any other amino acid directly at the point of their formation. Assuming that the formation of the various precursor molecules is very pH dependent, it is reasonable to assume that a different pH would also promote polymerisation reactions. It should also be noted that the concentrations of the molecules are quite low. An accumulation of these molecules in a different reaction environment could also have a positive effect on further reactions.

4.3 Possible Early Control Mechanisms of Life

As already mentioned, life is absolutely dependent on avoiding the state of chemical equilibrium, which is why the formation of compartments is essential. In modern biochemistry, one of the reasons for this is that reactions do not take place under normal conditions, but only under catalysis. By placing the catalyst where the reaction is needed, the time and place of the reaction can be determined. It also ensures that only the reactions that are actually needed take place. An interesting fact that we have found in this work is that there is evidence of an early control mechanism even before biochemistry began.

4.3.1 β-Alanine vs. α-Alanine

In modern biochemistry, the amino acid alanine is one of the most important building blocks of life. Its role in the formation of proteins has already been pointed out. In our experiments, however, we discovered an interesting fact. Assuming that α -alanines and β -alanines are formed from the same precursor molecules, they are in direct competition with each other. The product is formed that passes through the more stable transition state, in this case the anti-Markownikow product β -alanine. Heavy isotope labelling also showed that β -alanine is formed from one molecule each of NH₃, acetylene, CO and water, whereas α -alanine is formed from two molecules of water, one and a half molecules of acetylene and one molecule of ammonia.



Figure 19: Retrosynthesis of α - and β -alanine. Adapted from Seitz *et al.* 2024.

The evolution of life chose the less favourable α -alanine, which is present in smaller quantities, as one of its building blocks.

4.3.2 Iron — Nickel — Cobalt

As mentioned above, catalysts play an important role in the origin of life. However, it is not only the presence of a catalyst that matters; we can also show that the type of catalyst plays a crucial role. In our experiments, we could show that Ni, Co, Fe and their mixtures can catalyse different reactions with varying degrees of effectiveness. Iron shows excellent catalytic properties in reductive amination. No results could be achieved in this reaction using either NiS or CoS as catalysts (Huber & Wächtershäuser 2003). The picture was different in the experiments on the formation of amino acids and fatty acid amides, where Cobalt proved to be the strongest central atom in the formation of propionamide and succinammic acid. NiS, on the other hand, has shown catalytic solid properties in previous experiments. However, in the experiments on the formation of amino acids, mixtures of metals proved to be more advantageous catalysts (Figure 20). It seems that the different metal sulphides (or mixtures of them) can catalyse different reactions. This again leads to a possible control mechanism.



Figure 20: Different amounts of products achieved by using different metal sulphide catalysts. Adapted from Seitz *et al.* 2024.

In this work, some important precursors to modern biomolecules were synthesized which makes a further contribution to the importance of Wächtershäuser's iron sulphurworld-theory in connection with acetylene. As described above, it is a long way from simple biomolecules to the diversity of life, but this work may help us get a little closer to the mystery of the origin of life.

5 REFERENCES

- Abe, Y., E. Ohtani, T. Okuchi, K. Righter, and M. J. Drake (2000), Water in the early Earth, In: Origin of the Earth and Moon, edited by R. M. Canup and K. Righter, pp. 413-433, University of Arizona Press, Tucson
- Allègre, C. J.; Poirier; J.-P.; Humler, E.; Hofmann, A. W. (1995): The Chemical Composition of the Earth. In: *Earth and Planetary Science Letters* 134 (3), p 515–526. DOI: 10.1016/0012-821X(95)00123-T.
- Bada, J. L.; Korenaga, J. **(2018):** Exposed Areas Above Sea Level on Earth >3.5 Gyr Ago: Implications for Prebiotic and Primitive Biotic Chemistry. In: *Life* 8 (4) p 55. DOI: 10.3390/life8040055.
- Becker, S.; Schneider, C.; Okamura, H.; Crisp, A.; Amatov, T.; Dejmek, M.; Carell, T. (2018): Wet-dry cycles enable the parallel origin of canonical and non-canonical nucleosides by continuous synthesis. In: *Nature Communications* 9 (1), 163. DOI: 10.1038/s41467-017-02639-1.
- Bell, E. A.; Boehnke, P.; Harrison, T. M.; Mao, W. L. (2015): Potentially biogenic carbon preserved in a 4.1 billion-year-old zircon. In: *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 112 (47), pp 14518–14521. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1517557112.
- Bell, J. D.; Harkiss, A. H.; Nobis, D.; Malcolm, E.; Knuhtsen, A.; Wellaway, C. R. *et al.* (2020): Conformationally rigid pyrazoloquinazoline α-amino acids: one- and twophoton induced fluorescence. In: *Chemical Communications* 56 (12), pp 1887– 1890. DOI: 10.1039/C9CC09064A.
- Benner, S. A.; Ellington, A. D.; Tauer, A. **(1989):** Modern metabolism as a palimpsest of the RNA world. In: *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 86 (18), pp 7054–7058. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.86.18.7054.
- Berg, I. A.; Kockelkorn, D.; Ramos-Vera, W. H.; Say, R. F.; Zarzycki, J.; Hügler, M. et al. (2010): Autotrophic carbon fixation in archaea. In: *Nature reviews. Microbiology* 8 (6), pp 447–460. DOI: 10.1038/nrmicro2365.
- Blöchl, E.; Keller, M.; Wachtershäuser, G.; Stetter, K. O. (1992): Reactions depending on iron sulfide and linking geochemistry with biochemistry. In: *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 89 (17), pp 8117– 8120. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.89.17.8117.
- Botta, O.; Martins, Z.; Ehrenfreund, P. (2007): Amino acids in Antarctic CM1 meteorites and their relationship to other carbonaceous chondrites. In: *Meteoritics & Planetary Science* 42 (1), pp 81–92. DOI: 10.1111/j.1945-5100.2007.tb00219.x.
- Burton, A. S.; Elsila, J. E.; Hein, J. E.; Glavin, D. P.; Dworkin, J. P. (2013): Extraterrestrial amino acids identified in metal □rich CH and CB carbonaceous chondrites from Antarctica. In: *Meteoritics & Planetary Science* 48 (3), pp 390– 402. DOI: 10.1111/maps.12063.

- Burton, A. S.; Grunsfeld, S.; Elsila, J. E.; Glavin, D. P.; Dworkin, J. P. (2014): The effects of parent-body hydrothermal heating on amino acid abundances in CI-like chondrites. In: *Polar Science* 8 (3), pp 255–263. DOI: 10.1016/j.polar.2014.05.002.
- Cleaves, H. J.; Chalmers, J. H.; Lazcano, A.; Miller, S. L.; Bada, J. L. **(2008):** A Reassessment of Prebiotic Organic Synthesis in Neutral Planetary Atmospheres. In: *Origins of Life and Evolution of the Biospheres* 38 (2), pp. 105–115. DOI: 10.1007/s11084-007-9120-3.
- Cockell, C. S. (2006): The origin and emergence of life under impact bombardment. In: *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological sciences 361* (1474), pp 1845–1856 DOI: 10.1098/rstb.2006.1908.
- Cody, G. D.; Boctor, N. Z.; Filley, T. R.; Hazen, R. M.; Scott, J. H.; Sharma, A.; Yoder, H. S. (2000): Primordial Carbonylated Iron-Sulfur Compounds and the Synthesis of Pyruvate. In: *Science* 289 (5483), pp 1337–1340. DOI: 10.1126/ science.289.5483.1337.
- Cody, G. D. (2004): Transition Metal Sulfides and the Origin of Metabolism. In: *Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences* 32 (1), pp 569–599. DOI: 10.1146/ annurev.earth.32.101802.120225.
- Colín-García, M. **(2016):** Hydrothermal vents and prebiotic chemistry: a review. In: *Boletín de la Sociedad Geológica Mexicana* 68 (3), pp 599–620. DOI: 10.18268/ bsgm2016v68n3a13.
- Corliss, J. B.; Baross, J. A.; Hoffman, S. E. (1981): An hypothesis concerning the relationship between submarine hot springs and the origin of life on Earth. In: *Oceanologica Acta, Special issue*, pp 59-70.
- Crick, F. **(1970):** Central Dogma of Molecular Biology. In: *Nature* 227 (5258), pp 561–563. DOI: 10.1038/227561a0.
- Cronin, J. R.; Pizzarello, S. **(1983):** Amino acids in meteorites. In: *Advances in Space Research* 3 (9), pp 5–18. DOI: 10.1016/0273-1177(83)90036-4.
- Dalrymple, G. B. (2001): The age of the Earth in the twentieth century: a problem (mostly) solved. In: *Geological Society, London, Special Publications* 190 (1), pp 205–221. DOI: 10.1144/GSL.SP.2001.190.01.14.
- Darnault, C.; Volbeda, A.; Kim, E. J.; Legrand, P.; Vernède, X.; Lindahl, P. A.; Fontecilla-Camps, J. C. **(2003):** Ni-Zn-[Fe₄-S₄] and Ni-Ni-[Fe₄-S] clusters in closed and open α subunits of acetyl-CoA synthase/carbon monoxide dehydrogenase. In: *Nature Structural Biology* 10 (4), pp 271–279. DOI: 10.1038/nsb912.
- Das, T.; Ghule, S.; Vanka, K. **(2019):** Insights Into the Origin of Life: Did It Begin from HCN and H₂O? In: ACS central science 5 (9), pp 1532–1540. DOI: 10.1021/ acscentsci.9b00520.

- Diederich, P.; Geisberger, T.; Yan, Y.; Seitz, C.; Ruf, A.; Huber, C. *et al.* (**2023**): Formation, stabilization and fate of acetaldehyde and higher aldehydes in an autonomously changing prebiotic system emerging from acetylene. In: *Communications chemistry* 6 (1), 38. DOI: 10.1038/s42004-023-00833-5.
- Dodd, M. S.; Papineau, D.; Grenne, T.; Slack, J. F.; Rittner, M.; Pirajno, F. *et al.* **(2017):** Evidence for early life in Earth's oldest hydrothermal vent precipitates. In: *Nature* 543 (7643), pp 60–64. DOI: 10.1038/nature21377.
- Doolittle, W. F. (1999): Phylogenetic Classification and the Universal Tree. In: *Science* 284 (5423), pp 2124–2129. DOI: 10.1126/science.284.5423.2124.
- Dörr, M.; Käßbohrer, J.; Grunert, R.; Kreisel, G.; Brand, W. A.; Werner, R. A. *et al.* (2003): A Possible Prebiotic Formation of Ammonia from Dinitrogen on Iron Sulfide Surfaces. In: *Angewandte Chemie* (Int. Ed.) 42 (13), pp 1540–1543. DOI: 10.1002/ anie.200250371.
- Ehrenfreund, P.; Spaans, M.; Holm, N. G. (2011): The evolution of organic matter in space. In: *Philosophical Transactions. Series A, Mathematical, physical and engineering sciences* 369 (1936), pp 538–554. DOI: 10.1098/rsta.2010.0231.
- Eigen, M. (1997): What will endure of 20th century biology? In: *What is Life? The Next Fifty Years. Speculations on the Future of Biology*, edited by Michael Patrick Murphy, pp 5–24, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Fontecilla-Camps, J. C.; Amara, P.; Cavazza, C.; Nicolet, Y.; Volbeda, A. **(2009):** Structure-function relationships of anaerobic gas-processing metalloenzymes. In: *Nature* 460 (7257), pp 814–822. DOI: 10.1038/nature08299.
- Fox, G. E. (2010): Origin and evolution of the Ribosome. In: *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 2 (9), a003483. DOI: 10.1101/cshperspect.a003483.
- Fox, S. W.; Harada, K. (1960): The Thermal Copolymerization of Amino Acids Common to Protein. In: *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 82 (14), pp 3745–3751. DOI: 10.1021/ja01499a069.
- Fox, S. W.; Jungck, J R.; Nakashima, T. (1974): From proteinoid microsphere to contemporary cell: Formation of internucleotide and peptide bonds by proteinoid particles. In: Origins of Life and Evolution of Biospheres 5 (1-2), pp 227–237. DOI: 10.1007/BF00927027.
- Froese, D. S.; Fowler, B.; Baumgartner, M. R. (2019): Vitamin B₁₂, folate, and the methionine remethylation cycle-biochemistry, pathways, and regulation. In: *Journal of inherited metabolic disease* 42 (4), S. 673–685. DOI: 10.1002/jimd.12009.
- Fujii, N.; Saito, T. **(2004):** Homochirality and life. In: *Chemical record* 4 (5), pp 267–278. DOI: 10.1002/tcr.20020.

- Geisberger, T.; Sobotta, J.; Eisenreich, W.; Huber, C. (2021): Formation of Thiophene under Simulated Volcanic Hydrothermal Conditions on Earth — Implications for Early Life on Extraterrestrial Planets? In: *Life* 11 (2), 149. DOI: 10.3390/ life11020149.
- Geisberger, T.; Diederich, P.; Kaiser, C. J. O.; Vogele, K.; Ruf, A.; Seitz, C. *et al.* (2023): Formation of vesicular structures from fatty acids formed under simulated volcanic hydrothermal conditions. In: *Scientific Reports* 13 (1), 15227. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-023-42552-w.
- Gilbert, W. **(1986):** Origin of life: The RNA world. In: *Nature* 319 (6055), p 618. DOI: 10.1038/319618a0.
- Glavin, D. P.; Callahan, M. P.; Dworkin, J. P.; Elsila, J. E. (2010): The effects of parent body processes on amino acids in carbonaceous chondrites. In: *Meteoritics & Planetary Science* 45 (12), p 1948–1972. DOI: 10.1111/j.1945-5100.2010.01132.x.
- Gold, T. (1992): The deep, hot biosphere. In: *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 89 (13), p 6045–6049. DOI: 10.1073/ pnas.89.13.6045.
- Guerrier-Takada, C.; Gardiner, K.; Marsh, T.; Pace, N.; Altman, S. **(1983):** The RNA moiety of ribonuclease P is the catalytic subunit of the enzyme. In: *Cell* 35 (3 Pt 2), pp 849–857. DOI: 10.1016/0092-8674(83)90117-4.
- Harkiss, A. H.; Bell, J. D.; Knuhtsen, A.; Jamieson, A. G.; Sutherland, A. **(2019)**: Synthesis and Fluorescent Properties of β-Pyridyl α-Amino Acids. In: *The Journal* of Organic Chemistry 84 (5), pp 2879–2890. DOI: 10.1021/acs.joc.9b00036.
- Holm, N. G.; Charlou, J. L. (2001): Initial indications of abiotic formation of hydrocarbons in the Rainbow ultramafic hydrothermal system, Mid-Atlantic Ridge. In: *Earth and Planetary Science Letters* 191 (1-2), p 1–8. DOI: 10.1016/s0012-821x(01)00397-1.
- Holm, N. G.; Andersson, E. (2005): Hydrothermal Simulation Experiments as a Tool for Studies of the Origin of Life on Earth and Other Terrestrial Planets: A Review. In: Astrobiology 5 (4), pp 444–460. DOI: 10.1089/ast.2005.5.444.
- Huber, C.; Wächtershäuser, G. (1997): Activated Acetic Acid by Carbon Fixation on (Fe,Ni)S Under Primordial Conditions. In: *Science* 276 (5310), pp 245–247. DOI: 10.1126/science.276.5310.245.
- Huber, C.; Wächtershäuser, G. (1998): Peptides by Activation of Amino Acids with CO on (Ni,Fe)S Surfaces: Implications for the Origin of Life. In: *Science* 281 (5377), pp 670–672. DOI: 10.1126/science.281.5377.670.
- Huber, C.; Eisenreich, W.; Hecht, S.; Wächtershäuser, G. (2003): A Possible Primordial Peptide Cycle. In: *Science* 301 (5635), S. 938–940. DOI: 10.1126/ science.1086501.

- Huber, C.; Wächtershäuser, G. **(2003):** Primordial reductive amination revisited. In: *Tetrahedron Letters* 44 (8), pp 1695–1697. DOI: 10.1016/S0040-4039(02)02863-0.
- Huber, C.; Wächtershäuser, G. **(2006):** α-Hydroxy and α-Amino Acids Under Possible Hadean, Volcanic Origin-of-Life Conditions. In: *Science* 314 (5799), pp 630–632. DOI: 10.1126/science.1130895.
- Huber, C.; Eisenreich, W.; Wächtershäuser, G. **(2010):** Synthesis of α-amino and α-hydroxy acids under volcanic conditions: implications for the origin of life. In: *Tetrahedron Letters* 51 (7), pp 1069–1071. DOI: 10.1016/j.tetlet.2009.12.084.
- Huber, C.; Kraus, F.; Hanzlik, M.; Eisenreich, W.; Wächtershäuser, G. (2012): Elements of Metabolic Evolution. In: *Chemistry* 18 (7), S. 2063–2080. DOI: 10.1002/chem.201102914.
- Huber, C. (2013): Die Chemie am Ursprung des Lebens. In: *Biospektrum* 19 (4), pp 363–365. DOI: 10.1007/s12268-013-0320-2.
- Hury, J.; Nagaswamy, U.; Larios-Sanz, M.; Fox, G. E. **(2006):** Ribosome origins: The relative age of 23S rRNA Domains. In: *Origins of Life and Evolution of Biospheres* 36 (4), pp 421–429. DOI: 10.1007/s11084-006-9011-z.
- Igari S.; Maekawa T.: Sakata S. **(2000):** Light hydrocarbons in fumarolic gases: A case study in the Kakkonda geothermal area. In: *Chikyukagau* 34, pp 103–109.
- Islam, M. N.; Kaneko, T.; Kobayashi, K. (2001): Determination of Amino Acids Formed in a Supercritical Water Flow Reactor Simulating Submarine Hydrothermal Systems. In: Analytical Sciences 17, pp 1631–1634.
- Kannan, L.; Li, H.; Rubinstein, B.; Mushegian, A. **(2013):** Models of gene gain and gene loss for probabilistic reconstruction of gene content in the last universal common ancestor of life. In: *Biology Direct* 8, 32. DOI: 10.1186/1745-6150-8-32.
- Keller, M. A.; Kampjut, D.; Harrison, S. A.; Ralser, M. (2017): Sulfate radicals enable a non-enzymatic Krebs cycle precursor. In: *Nature Ecology & Evolution* 1 (4), 83. DOI: 10.1038/s41559-017-0083.
- Keller, M. A.; Kampjut, D.; Harrison, S. A.; Driscoll, P. C.; Ralser, M. (2019): Reply to 'Do sulfate radicals really enable a non-enzymatic Krebs cycle precursor?'. In: *Nature Ecology & Evolution* 3 (2), pp 139–140. DOI: 10.1038/s41559-018-0792-z.
- Kelley, D. S.; Karson, J. A.; Blackman, D. K.; Früh-Green, G. L.; Butterfield, D. A.; Lilley, M. D. et al. (2001): An off-axis hydrothermal vent field near the Mid-Atlantic Ridge at 30° N. In: *Nature 412* (6843), pp 145–149. DOI: 10.1038/35084000.
- Kitadai, N.; Kameya, M.; Fujishima, K. **(2017):** Origin of the Reductive Tricarboxylic Acid (rTCA) Cycle-Type CO₂ Fixation: A Perspective. In: *Life* 7 (4), 39. DOI: 10.3390/life7040039.

- Kobayashi, K.; Tsuchiya, M.; Oshima, T.; Yanagawa, H. (1990): Abiotic synthesis of amino acids and imidazole by proton irradiation of simulated primitive earth atmospheres. In: Origins of Life and Evolution of Biospheres 20 (2), pp 99–109. DOI: 10.1007/BF01808270.
- Kobayashi, K.; Kaneko, T.; Saito, T. (1999): Characterization of complex organic compounds formed in simulated planetary atmospheres by the action of high energy particles. In: *Advances in Space Research* 24 (4), pp 461–464. DOI: 10.1016/S0273-1177(99)00088-5.
- Koshland, D. E. **(2002):** The Seven Pillars of Life. In: *Science* 295 (5563), pp 2215–2216. DOI: 10.1126/science.1068489.
- Kruger, K.; Grabowski, P. J.; Zaug, A. J.; Sands, J.; Gottschling, D. E.; Cech, T. R. (1982): Self-splicing RNA: Autoexcision and autocyclization of the ribosomal RNA intervening sequence of Tetrahymena. In: *Cell* 31 (1), pp 147–157. DOI: 10.1016/ 0092-8674(82)90414-7.
- Kubyshkin, V.; Budisa, N. (2017): Synthetic alienation of microbial organisms by using genetic code engineering: Why and how? In: *Biotechnology Journal* 12 (8) 1600097. DOI: 10.1002/biot.201600097.
- Kvenvolden, K.; Lawless, J.; Pering, K.; Peterson, E.; Flores, J.; Ponnamperuma, C. et al. (1970): Evidence for Extraterrestrial Amino-acids and Hydrocarbons in the Murchison Meteorite. In: *Nature* 228 (5275), pp 923–926. DOI: 10.1038/228923a0.
- Ligon, B. L. (2002): Biography: Louis Pasteur: A controversial figure in a debate on scientific ethics. In: *Seminars in Pediatric Infectious Diseases* 13 (2), pp 134–141. DOI: 10.1053/spid.2002.125138.
- Lipmann, F. **(1965):** Projecting Backward from the Present Stage of Evolution of Biosynthesis. In: *The Origins of Prebiological Systems and of their Molecular Matrices,* pp 259–280, Academic Press, New York.
- Lonsdale, P. (1977): Clustering of suspension-feeding macrobenthos near abyssal hydrothermal vents at oceanic spreading centers. In: *Deep Sea Research* 24 (9), pp 857–863. DOI: 10.1016/0146-6291(77)90478-7.
- Lowe, C. U.; Rees, M. W.; Markham, R. (1963): Synthesis of Complex Organic Compounds from Simple Precursors: Formation of Amino-Acids, Amino-Acid Polymers, Fatty Acids and Purines from Ammonium Cyanide. In: *Nature* 199 (4890), pp 219–222. DOI: 10.1038/199219a0.
- Mansy, S. S.; Szostak, J. W. (2008): Thermostability of model protocell membranes. In: Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 105 (36), pp 13351–13355. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0805086105.
- Marchi, S.; Bottke, W. F.; Elkins-Tanton, L. T.; Bierhaus, M.; Wuennemann, K.; Morbidelli, A.; Kring, D. A. (2014): Widespread mixing and burial of Earth's Hadean crust by asteroid impacts. In: *Nature* 511 (7511), 578–582. DOI: 10.1038/ nature13539.

- Marshall, W. L. (1994): Hydrothermal synthesis of amino acids. In: *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta* 58 (9), pp 2099–2106. DOI: 10.1016/0016-7037(94)90288-7.
- Martin, W.; Russell, M. J. (2003): On the origins of cells: a hypothesis for the evolutionary transitions from abiotic geochemistry to chemoautotrophic prokaryotes, and from prokaryotes to nucleated cells. In: *Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological sciences* 358 (1429), pp 59–83. DOI: 10.1098/rstb.2002.1183.
- Matthews, C. N.; Minard, R. D. (2008): Hydrogen cyanide polymers connect cosmochemistry and biochemistry. In: *Proceedings of the International Astronomical Union* 4 (S251), pp 453–458. DOI: 10.1017/S1743921308022175.
- McCarthy, M. C.; Gottlieb, C. A.; Cernicharo, J. (2019): Building blocks of dust: A coordinated laboratory and astronomical study of AGB carbon star IRC+10216. In: *Journal of Molecular Spectroscopy* 356, pp 7–20. DOI: 10.1016/j.jms.2018.11.018.
- McGlynn, S. E.; Mulder, D. W.; Shepard, E. M.; Broderick, J. B.; Peters, J. W. (2009): Hydrogenase cluster biosynthesis: organometallic chemistry nature's way. In: *Dalton Transactions* (22), pp 4274–4285. DOI: 10.1039/b821432h.
- McKay, C. P.; Borucki, W. J. (1997): Organic Synthesis in Experimental Impact Shocks. In: *Science* 276 (5311), pp 390–392. DOI: 10.1126/ science.276.5311.390.
- Miller, S L. (1953): A Production of Amino Acids Under Possible Primitive Earth Conditions. In: *Science* 117 (3046), pp. 528–529. DOI: 10.1126/ science.117.3046.528.
- Miyakawa, S.; Cleaves, H. J.; Miller, S. L. (2002): The Cold Origin of Life: A. Implications Based On The Hydrolytic Stabilities Of Hydrogen Cyanide And Formamide. In: Origins of life and evolution of the biosphere 32 (3), pp 195–208. DOI: 10.1023/a:1016514305984.
- Mojzsis, S. J.; Arrhenius, G.; McKeegan, K. D.; Harrison, T. M.; Nutman, A. P.; Friend, C. R. (1996): Evidence for life on Earth before 3,800 million years ago. In: *Nature* 384 (6604), pp 55–59. DOI: 10.1038/384055a0.
- Mojzsis, S. J.; Harrison, T. M.; Pidgeon, R. T. (2001): Oxygen-isotope evidence from ancient zircons for liquid water at the Earth's surface 4,300 Myr ago. In: *Nature* 409 (6817), pp 178–181. DOI: 10.1038/35051557.
- Mukhin, L. M. (1976): Volcanic processes and synthesis of simple organic compounds on primitive Earth. In: *Origins of Life and Evolution of the Biospheres* 7 (4), pp 355– 368. DOI: 10.1007/BF00927931.
- Nelson, K. E.; Levy, M.; Miller, S. L. (2000): Peptide nucleic acids rather than RNA may have been the first genetic molecule. In: *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America 97 (8), pp 3868–3871. DOI: 10.1073/ pnas.97.8.3868.

- Nutman, A. P.; Bennett, V. C.; Friend, C. R. L.; van Kranendonk, M. J.; Chivas, A. R. (2016): Rapid emergence of life shown by discovery of 3,700-million-year-old microbial structures. In: *Nature* 537 (7621), pp 535–538. DOI: 10.1038/ nature19355.
- Oremland, R. S.; Voytek, M. A. (2008): Acetylene as Fast Food: Implications for Development of Life on Anoxic Primordial Earth and in the Outer Solar System. In: *Astrobiology* 8 (1), pp 45–58. DOI: 10.1089/ast.2007.0183.
- Oró, J.; Gibert, J.; Lichtenstein, H.; Wikstrom, S.; Flory, D. A. **(1971):** Amino-Acids, Aliphatic and Aromatic Hydrocarbons in the Murchison Meteorite. In: *Nature* 230 (5289), pp 105–106. DOI: 10.1038/230105a0.
- Osinski, G. R.; Spray, J. G.; Lee, P. **(2001):** Impact□induced hydrothermal activity within the Haughton impact structure, arctic Canada: Generation of a transient, warm, wet oasis. In: *Meteoritics & Planetary Science* 36 (5), pp 731–745. DOI: 10.1111/j.1945-5100.2001.tb01910.x.
- Parkos, D.; Pikus, A.; Alexeenko, A.; Melosh, H. J. **(2018):** HCN Production via Impact Ejecta Reentry During the Late Heavy Bombardment. In: *Journal of Geophysical Research: Planets* 123 (4), pp 892–909. DOI: 10.1002/2017JE005393.
- Payne, K. A. P.; Quezada, C. P.; Fisher, K.; Dunstan, M. S.; Collins, F. A.; Sjuts, H. et al. (2015): Reductive dehalogenase structure suggests a mechanism for B12dependent dehalogenation. In: *Nature* 517 (7535), pp 513–516. DOI: 10.1038/ nature13901.
- Peretó, J.; Bada, J. L.; Lazcano, A. **(2009):** Charles Darwin and The Origin of Life. In: Origins of Life and Evolution of the Biospheres 39 (5), S. 395–406. DOI: 10.1007/s11084-009-9172-7.
- Peters, J. W.; Williams, L. D. (2012): The Origin of Life: Look Up and Look Down. In: *Astrobiology* 12 (11), pp 1087–1092. DOI: 10.1089/ast.2012.0818.
- Pizzarello, S.; Schrader, D. L.; Monroe, A. A.; Lauretta, D. S. (2012): Large enantiomeric excesses in primitive meteorites and the diverse effects of water in cosmochemical evolution. In: *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 109 (30), pp 11949–11954. DOI: 10.1073/ pnas.1204865109.
- Poulos, T. L. **(2014):** Heme Enzyme Structure and Function. In: *Chemical Reviews* 114 (7), pp 3919–3962. DOI: 10.1021/cr400415k.
- Ragsdale, S. W. **(1995):** CO Dehydrogenase and the Central Role of This Enzyme in the Fixation of Carbon Dioxide by Anaerobic Bacteria. In: *Acetogenesis*, edited by Harold L. Drake, pp 88–126, Springer US, Boston, MA.
- Raymann, K.; Brochier-Armanet, C.; Gribaldo, S. (2015): The two-domain tree of life is linked to a new root for the Archaea. In: *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America 112 (21), pp 6670–6675. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1420858112.

- Reinhold, A.; Westermann, M.; Seifert, J.; Bergen, M. von; Schubert, T.; Diekert, G. (2012): Impact of vitamin B₁₂ on Formation of the Tetrachloroethene Reductive Dehalogenase in *Desulfitobacterium hafniense* Strain Y51. In: *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 78 (22), pp 8025–8032. DOI: 10.1128/AEM.02173-12.
- Sagan, C.; Khare, B. N. (1971): Long-Wavelength Ultraviolet Photoproduction of Amino Acids on the Primitive Earth. In: *Science* 173 (3995), pp 417–420. DOI: 10.1126/science.173.3995.417.
- Sanchez, R. A.; Ferris, J. P.; Orgel, L. E. (1967): Studies in Prebiotic Synthesis: II. Synthesis of purine precursors and amino acids from aqueous hydrogen cyanide. In: *Journal of Molecular Biology* 30 (2), S. 223–253. DOI: 10.1016/S0022-2836(67)80037-8.
- Scheidler, C.; Sobotta, J.; Eisenreich, W.; Wächtershäuser, G.; Huber, C. (2016): Unsaturated C₃, □, □, □. Monocarboxylic Acids by Aqueous, One-Pot Carbon Fixation: Possible Relevance for the Origin of Life. In: *Scientific Reports* 6 (1), 27595. DOI: 10.1038/srep27595.
- Scheu, B.; Dingwell, D. B.; Cimarelli, C.; Bada, J.; Chalmers, J. H.; Burton, A. S. (2017): Prebiotic Synthesis in Volcanic Discharges: Exposing Ash to Volcanic/Primordial Gas Atmospheres. Paper presented at the AGU Fall Meeting Abstract.
- Schöning, K.; Scholz, P.; Guntha, S.; Wu, X.; Krishnamurthy, R.; Eschenmoser, A. (2000): Chemical Etiology of Nucleic Acid Structure: The α-threofuranosyl-(3'→2') Oligonucleotide System. In: *Science* (New York) 290 (5495), pp 1347–1351. DOI: 10.1126/science.290.5495.1347.
- Schwander, L.; Brabender, M.; Mrnjavac, N.; Wimmer, J L. E.; Preiner, M.; Martin, W. F. (2023): Serpentinization as the source of energy, electrons, organics, catalysts, nutrients and pH gradients for the origin of LUCA and life. In: *Frontiers in Microbiology* 14, 1257597. DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2023.1257597.
- Seiffert, G. B.; Ullmann, G. M.; Messerschmidt, A.; Schink, B.; Kroneck, P. M. H.; Einsle, O. (2007): Structure of the non-redox-active tungsten/[4Fe:4S] enzyme acetylene hydratase. In: *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 104 (9), pp 3073–3077. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0610407104.
- Seitz, C.; Eisenreich, W.; Huber, C. **(2021):** The Abiotic Formation of Pyrrole under Volcanic, Hydrothermal Conditions An Initial Step towards Life's First Breath? In: *Life* 11 (9). DOI: 10.3390/life11090980.
- Seitz, C.; Geisberger, T.; West, A. R.; Fertl, J.; Eisenreich, W.; Huber, C. **(2024):** From Zero to Hero: The Cyanide-Free Formation of Amino Acids and Amides from Acetylene, Ammonia and Carbon Monoxide in Aqueous Environments in a Simulated Hadean Scenario. In: *Life* 14 (6), 719. DOI: 10.3390/life14060719.
- Shock, E. L.; Schulte, M. D. (1998): Organic synthesis during fluid mixing in hydrothermal systems. In: *Journal of Geophysical Research: Planets* 103 (E12), pp 28513–28527. DOI: 10.1029/98JE02142.

- Sleep, N. H. (1990): Hotspots and mantle plumes: Some phenomenology. In: Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth 95 (B5), pp 6715–6736. DOI: 10.1029/ JB095iB05p06715.
- Sobotta, J. (**2018**). Investigations of carbon fixation in model organisms and in cell-free prebiotic transition metal-catalyzed reactions. (PhD Dissertation). Technical University Munich, Munich.
- Sobotta, J.; Geisberger, T.; Moosmann, C.; Scheidler, C. M.; Eisenreich, W.; Wächtershäuser, G.; Huber, C. (2020): A Possible Primordial Acetyleno/ Carboxydotrophic Core Metabolism. In: *Life* 10 (4), 35. DOI: 10.3390/life10040035.
- Span, I.; Wang, K.; Wang, W.; Zhang, Y.; Bacher, A.; Eisenreich, W. et al. **(2012):** Discovery of acetylene hydratase activity of the iron-sulphur protein lspH. In: *Nature Communications* 3, S. 1042. DOI: 10.1038/ncomms2052.
- Steinman, G.; Smith, A. E.; Silver, J. J. (1968): Synthesis of a Sulfur-Containing Amino Acid under Simulated Prebiotic Conditions. In: *Science* 159 (3819), pp 108–1109. DOI: 10.1126/science.159.3819.1108.
- Sutherland, J. D. (2016): The Origin of Life Out of the Blue. In: *Angewandte Chemie* (*Int. Ed.*) 55 (1), pp 104–121. DOI: 10.1002/anie.201506585.
- Takahashi-Iñiguez, T.; García-Hernandez, E.; Arreguín-Espinosa, R.; Flores, M. E.
 (2012): Role of vitamin B₁₂ on methylmalonyl-CoA mutase activity. In: *Journal of Zhejiang University. Science B* 13 (6), pp 423–437. DOI: 10.1631/jzus.B1100329.
- Takahashi, J.; Hosokawa, T.; Masuda, H.; Kaneko, T.; Kobayashi, K.; Saito, T.; Utsumi, Y. (1999): Abiotic synthesis of amino acids by x-ray irradiation of simple inorganic gases. In: *Applied Physics Letters* 74 (6), pp 877–879. DOI: 10.1063/ 1.123396.
- tenBrink, F.; Schink, B.; Kroneck, P. M. H. (2011): Exploring the Active Site of the Tungsten, Iron-Sulfur Enzyme Acetylene Hydratase. In: *Journal of Bacteriology* 193 (5), pp 1229–1236. DOI: 10.1128/JB.01057-10.
- Thauer R.K.; Kaster A.K.; Goenrich M.; Schick M: Hiromoto T; Shima S.(2010): Hydrogenases from methanogenic archaea, nickel, a novel cofactor, and H₂ storage. In: *Annual Review of Biochemistry* 79, pp 507-536. DOI: 10.1146/annurev.biochem.030508.152103.
- Thom, C. S.; Dickson, C. F.; Gell, D. A.; Weiss, M. J. (**2013**): Hemoglobin Variants: Biochemical Properties and Clinical Correlates. In: *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine* 3 (3), a011858. DOI: 10.1101/cshperspect.a011858.
- Tian, F.; Kasting, J. F.; Zahnle, K. (2011): Revisiting HCN formation in Earth's early atmosphere. In: *Earth and Planetary Science Letters* 308 (3-4), pp 417–423. DOI: 10.1016/j.epsl.2011.06.011.

- Ueno, Y.; Yamada, K.; Yoshida, N.; Maruyama, S.; Isozaki, Y. (2006): Evidence from fluid inclusions for microbial methanogenesis in the early Archaean era. In: *Nature* 440 (7083), pp 516–519. DOI: 10.1038/nature04584.
- Utsumi, Y.; Takahashi, J. **(1998):** Synthesis of Amino Acids from N₂, H₂O Vapor and CO₂ Gas Mixture by Synchrotron Radiation Induced Photochemical Reactions at Atmospheric Pressure. In: *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics* 37 (10B), L1268. DOI: 10.1143/JJAP.37.L1268.
- Volbeda, A.; Fontecilla-Camps, J. C. (2006): Catalytic nickel–iron–sulfur clusters: from minerals to enzymes. In: *Bioorganometallic Chemistry. Topics in Organometallic Chemistry*, edited by G. Simonneaux, pp 57-82, Springer, Berlin.
- Wächtershäuser, G. (1988a): Before enzymes and templates: theory of surface metabolism. In: *Microbiological Reviews* 52 (4), pp 452–484. DOI: 10.1128/ mr.52.4.452-484.1988.
- Wächtershäuser, G. (1988b): Pyrite Formation, the First Energy Source for Life: a Hypothesis. In: *Systematic and Applied Microbiology* 10 (3), pp 207–210. DOI: 10.1016/S0723-2020(88)80001-8.
- Wächtershäuser, G. (1990): Evolution of the first metabolic cycles. In: *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 87 (1), pp 200–204. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.87.1.200.
- Wächtershäuser, G. (1992): Groundworks for an evolutionary biochemistry: The ironsulphur world. In: *Progress in Biophysics and Molecular Biology* 58 (2), S. 85–201. DOI: 10.1016/0079-6107(92)90022-X.
- Wächtershäuser, G. (2000): Origin of life. Life as We Don't Know It. In: *Science* 289 (5483), pp 1307–1308. DOI: 10.1126/science.289.5483.1307.
- Wächtershäuser, G. (2006): From volcanic origins of chemoautotrophic life to Bacteria, Archaea and Eukarya. In: *Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences* 361 (1474), pp 1787-806. DOI: 10.1098/ rstb.2006.1904.
- Wächtershäuser, G. (2007): On the Chemistry and Evolution of the Pioneer Organism. In: *Chemistry & Biodiversity* 4 (4), pp 584–602. DOI: 10.1002/cbdv.200790052.
- Wächtershäuser, G. (2014): From Chemical Invariance to Genetic Variability. In: *Bioinspired Catalysis,* Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, pp 1–20.
- Walker, S. I.; Packard, N.; Cody, G. D. (2017): Re-conceptualizing the origins of life. In: *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series A, Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences* 375 (2109), 20160337. DOI: 10.1098/rsta.2016.0337.
- Weiss, M. C.; Sousa, F. L.; Mrnjavac, N.; Neukirchen, S.; Roettger, M.; Nelson-Sathi, S.; Martin, W. F. (2016): The physiology and habitat of the last universal common ancestor. In: Nature Microbiology 1 (9), 16116. DOI: 10.1038/nmicrobiol.2016.116.

- Woese, C. R. (1981): Archaebacteria. In: *Scientific American* 44 (6), pp 98–122. DOI: 10.1038/scientificamerican0681-98.
- Woese, C. R.; Kandler, O.; Wheelis, M. L. (1990): Towards a natural system of organisms: proposal for the domains Archaea, Bacteria, and Eucarya. In: *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 87 (12), pp 4576–4579. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.87.12.4576.
- Woese, C. R. (2000): Interpreting the universal phylogenetic tree. In: Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 97 (15), pp 8392–8396. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.97.15.8392.
- Yamada, K. (2013): Cobalt: Its Role in Health and Disease. In: *Metal ions in life sciences*, edited by A. Sigel, H. Sigel and R. Siegel, pp 295–320, Springer, Dordrecht. DOI: 10.1007/978-94-007-7500-8_9.
- Yanagawa, H.; Kobayashi, K. (1992): Chapter 8 An experimental approach to chemical evolution in submarine hydrothermal systems. In: Origins of Life and Evolution of the Biospheres 22 (1-4), pp 147–159. DOI: 10.1007/BF01808022.
- Zahnle, K.; Arndt, N.; Cockell, C.; Halliday, A.; Nisbet, E.; Selsis, F.; Sleep, N. H. (2007): Emergence of a Habitable Planet. In: *Space Science Reviews* 129 (1-3), pp 35–78. DOI: 10.1007/s11214-007-9225-z.
- Zahnle, K.; Schaefer, L.; Fegley, B. **(2010):** Earth's Earliest Atmospheres. In: *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 2 (10), a004895. DOI: 10.1101/ cshperspect.a004895.
- Zahnle, K.; Lupu, R.; Catling, D. C.; Wogan, N. (2020): Creation and Evolution of Impact-generated Reduced Atmospheres of Early Earth. In: *The Planetary Science Journal* 1 (1), 11. DOI: 10.3847/PSJ/ab7e2c.
- Zhang, L.; Peritz, A.; Meggers, E. (2005): A Simple Glycol Nucleic Acid. In: *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 127 (12), pp 4174–4175. DOI: 10.1021/ja042564z.

6 REPRINT PERMISSION

Reprint permission for the articles "The Abiotic Formation of Pyrrole under Volcanic, Hydrothermal Conditions – An Initial Step towards Life's First Breath?" and "From Zero to Hero: The Cyanide-Free Formation of Amino Acids and Amides from Acetylene, Ammonia and Carbon Monoxide in Aqueous Environments in a Simulated Hadean Scenario".

Re: Reprint permission



Winni Huang | MDPI <winni.huang@mdpi.com> An Christian Seitz Cc Life Editorial Office

Dear Mr. Seitz,

Thanks for your email. No special permission is required to reuse all or part of article published by MDPI, as we are open access journal. Especially you are the author of this paper. So you are free to use the data, with appropriate citation and reference to the original publication.

You can also find more detailed information in this link, https://www.mdpi.com/openaccess

Kind regards,

Winni Huang Assistant Editor Email: <u>winni.huang@mdpi.com</u>

7 SUPPORTING M&TERI&L

7.1 Supplemental Material: "The Abiotic Formation of Pyrrole under Volcanic, Hydrothermal Conditions – An Initial Step towards Life's First Breath?"

Supplement Materials

Figure S1. Structural formula of heme b	
Figure S2. Structural formula of chlorophyll b	
Figure S3. Structural formula of cobalamin (vitamin B12)	2
Figure S4. Structural formula of coenzyme F430	
Figure S5. Mass-spectra of Bis(tert-butyldimethylsilyl)-sulfite	
Figure S6. Mass-spectra of 2-methylthiazol	4
Figure S7. Mass-spectra of 3-tert-Butyldimethylsilyloxypyridine	

Scheme S1. Knorr-pyrrole synthesis	5
Scheme S2. Mechanism of the Knorr-pyrrole-synthesis	5
Scheme S3. Mechanism of the Fischer-Fink-pyrrole-synthesis	6
Scheme S4. Paal-Knorr-reaction	6
Scheme S5. Mechanism of the Paal-Knorr-pyrrole-synthesis	6
Scheme S6. Pyrrole synthesis according to Hantzsch.	7
Scheme S7. Mechanism of the Hantzsch'sche-pyrrole-synthesis	7

Table S1. Formation of pyrrole depending on pH	8
Table S2. Formation of pyrrole depending on reaction time	8
Table S3. Formation of pyrrole depending on concentration of catalyst	9

Figures



Figure S1. Structural formula of heme b. Tetrapyrrole is indicated in red



Figure S2. Structural formula of chlorophyll b. Tetrapyrrole is indicated in red



Figure S3. Structural formula of cobalamin (vitamin B12). Tetrapyrrole is indicated in red



Figure S4. Structural formula of coenzyme F430. Tetrapyrrole is indicated in red



Figure S5. Mass-spectra of Bis(tert-butyldimethylsilyl)-sulfite. First spectrum is of a typical run, second spectrum is from NIST.



Figure S5. Mass-spectra of 2-methylthiazol. First spectrum is of a typical run, second spectrum is from NIST.



Figure \$7. Mass-spectra of 3-tert-Butyldimethylsilyloxypyridine. First spectrum is of a typical run, second spectrum is from NIST.



Fischer-Fink (4)

Scheme S1. Knorr-pyrrole synthesis. *Knorr*-product (4) as well as *Fischer-Fink*-product (5) can be observed in this reaction



Scheme S2. Mechanism of the Knorr-pyrrole-synthesis



Scheme S3. Mechanism of the Fischer-Fink-pyrrole-synthesis



Scheme S4. Paal-Knorr-reaction.



Scheme S5. Mechanism of the Paal-Knorr-pyrrole-synthesis



Scheme S6. Pyrrole synthesis according to Hantzsch.



Scheme S7. Mechanism of the Hantzsch'sche-pyrrole-synthesis

Tables

If not stated otherwise, all runs were performed with 1.00 mmol NiSO₄, 1.00 mmol Na₂S, 1 mL NaOH, 60 mL CO and 60 mL acetylene for one day at 105 °C. A total reaction volume of 5 mL was achieved by adding argon-saturated water. Yields are given at mol% conversion based on NH₄Cl. pH was measured at the end of the reaction time.

Table S1. Formation of pyrrole depending on pH. Different values were achieved by adding different amounts of 1 M NaOH (run 5, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 14), Ca(OH)₂ (run 6, 9, 10), 1 M H₂SO₄ (run 1-3) or none of them (run 4). Other parameters as stated above. The defined standard run is run 8 in this table (1 mL NaOH (1M)).

Run	рН	NaOH (1 M)	Ca(OH)₂	H₂SO4 (1 M)	pyrrole	yield
		[mmol]	[mmol]	[mmol]	[µM]	[%]
1	1.8	-	-	1	<0.1	<0.01
2	2.4	-	-	0.5	<0.1	<0.01
3	3.8	-	-	0.1	<0.1	<0.01
4	6.8	-	-	-	0.71	0.071
5	7.1	0.1	-	-	0.65	0.065
6	7.6	-	0.3	-	1.25	0.546
7	7.8	0.5	-	-	2.53	0.253
8	9.1	1.0	-	-	11.38	1.138
9	9.4	-	1.3	-	1.70	0.17
10	9.6	1.5	-	-	1.70	0.17
11	10.3	2.0	-	-	0.75	0.075
12	10.9	3.0	-	-	0.40	0.04
13	10.9	-	2.6	-	0.18	0.018
14	11.3	4.0	-	-	0.16	0.016

Table S2. Formation of pyrrole depending on reaction time. Other parameters as stated above. Thedefined standard run is run 19 in this table (1 d).

Run	t _{reac}	рΗ	pyrrole	yield
	[h]		[µM]	[%]
15	0.00	8.7	<0.1	<0.01
16	0.08	8.8	<0.1	<0.01
17	0.17	8.8	<0.1	<0.01
18	0.50	8.7	<0.1	<0.01
19	1.00	8.8	0.82	0.08
20	2.00	8.9	1.58	0.16
21	4.00	8.7	2.20	0.22
22	8.00	8.5	3.40	0.34

23	24.0	9.1	11.377	1.138
24	48.0	8.2	3.66	0.37
25	72.0	8.6	2.85	0.29
26	96.0	8.5	1.88	0.19
27	120	8.2	1.52	0.15
28	144	8.4	1.00	0.10
29	168	8.3	0.92	0.09

Table S3. Formation of pyrrole depending on concentration of catalyst. Different concentrations of NiS were achieved by adding different amounts of Na₂S to a constant amount of NiSO₄ (1 mmol). NiS, the actual catalyst is formed *in situ*. Other parameters as stated above. The defined standard run is run 34 in this table (1.00 mmol Na₂S).

[mmol] [μM] [%] 30 0.00 6.9 <0.1 <0.01 31 0.25 7.2 <0.1 <0.01 32 0.50 7.5 0.76 0.08 33 0.75 7.9 0.62 0.06 24 1.00 0.1 1.1377 1.138
30 0.00 6.9 <0.1 <0.01 31 0.25 7.2 <0.1
31 0.25 7.2 <0.1 <0.01 32 0.50 7.5 0.76 0.08 33 0.75 7.9 0.62 0.06 4 1.00 0.1 1.177 1.178
32 0.50 7.5 0.76 0.08 33 0.75 7.9 0.62 0.06 34 1.00 0.1 1.1.277 1.120
33 0.75 7.9 0.62 0.06 34 1.00 0.1 11.277 1.128
34 1.00 9.1 11.377 1.138
35 1.25 9.0 4.78 0.48
36 1.50 9.4 2.63 0.26
37 1.75 9.8 0.57 0.06
38 2.00 11.1 0.32 0.03

7.2 Supplemental Material: "From Zero to Hero: The Cyanide-Free Formation of Amino Acids and Amides from Acetylene, Ammonia and Carbon Monoxide in Aqueous Environments in a Simulated Hadean Scenario."

Supplemental Materials

Table S1. Retention times and typical fragment masses of amino acids and amides	2
Table S 2. Propionamide, succinamic acid, alanine and aspartic acid formation based on	
different metal catalysts.	3
Table S 3. Propionamide, succinamic acid, alanine and aspartic acid formation based on	
different reaction times.	3
Table S 4. Propionamide, succinamic acid, alanine and aspartic acid formation based on	
different amounts of the metal sulfide catalysts	3
Table \$5. Propionamide, succinamic acid, alanine and aspartic acid formation based on	
different pH values	4
Figure S 1. Typical fragments of TBDMS-amino acids in GC/MS experiments at the example of	

Tables

Table S 1. Retention times and typical fragment masses of amino acids and amides. Amino acids and amides were formed from acetylene (2.71 mmol), ammonia (1.00 mmol) and carbon monoxide (2.68 mmol) in the presence of NiS (1.00 mmol) in 5 ml H2O at 105°C after 7 days. Retention times are given for the method described in materials and methods. M-57 is the characteristic mass of each compound after fragmentation of the tert-butyl group from the silylated form.

Compound	Rt [min]	[M-57 ^{+.}]
Amir	no acids	
Glycine	13.2	246
Alanine	12.9	260
β-Alanine	14.5	260
Aspartic acid	16.7	418
β-Homoserine	19.1	404
Ar	nides	
Formamide	7.1	102
Urea	14.6	231
Acetamide	11.0	116
Acrylamide	8.3	128
Propionamide	8.4	130
β-Alaninamide	14.5	259
Succinamic acid	16.1	288
Fumaramic acid	17.9	286
Pentenoic amides	9.7/10.5/10.6	156
Pentanoic amide	10.6	158
2-Aminobenzamide	10.2	307
2,4-Heptadienoic amide	13.1	182
Benzamide	14.4	178

If not stated otherwise, all runs were performed with 1.00 mmol NiSO₄, 1.00 mmol Na₂S, 1 ml NaOH, 60 ml CO (2.68 mmol) and 60 ml acetylene (2.71 mmol) for seven days at 105 °C. A total reaction volume of 5 ml was achieved by adding argon-saturated water. pH

values were measured at the end of the reaction time. Concentrations are given for the total liquid reaction system of 5 ml. Yields are based on the conversion of NH_4Cl .

Table S 2. Propionamide, succinamic acid, alanine and aspartic acid formation based on different metal catalysts. Ni, Co, Fe and mixture of them were used. Metal sulfides were formed *in situ* from metal sulfates and Na₂S. Other parameters as stated above. Defined standard run is marked in red (1mmol NiS catalyst).

	NiS	CoS	FeS	pН	Conc. Prop	Conc. Succ	Conc. Ala	Conc. Asp	Yield Prop	Yield Succ	Yield Ala	Yield Asp
	[mmol]	[mmol]	[mmol]		[mM]	[mM]	[mM]	[mM]	[%]	[%]	[‰]	[%]
1	1	-	-	8.8	7.67	0.75	0.05	0.62	3.84	0.37	0.25	0.31
2	-	1	-	7.6	36.01	3.27	<0.01	0.86	18.01	1.63	0.02	0.43
3	-	-	1	9.2	4.08	0.12	0.04	0.04	2.04	0.06	0.22	0.02
4	0.5	0.5	-	8.7	11.72	11.03	0.06	0.43	5.86	5.51	0.29	0.22
5	0.5	-	0.5	8.8	27.85	1.19	0.1	0.61	13.92	0.59	0.48	0.31
6	-	0.5	0.5	8.4	20.94	10.1	0.06	2.76	10.47	5.05	0.32	1.38
7	0.3	0.3	0.3	8.7	17.21	4.07	0.01	0.47	8.6	2.04	0.07	0.23

Table S 3. Propionamide, succinamic acid, alanine and aspartic acid formation based on different reaction times. Other parameters as stated above. Defined standard run is marked in red (7 days, 10080 minutes).

	timo	6 4	Conc.	Conc.	Conc.	Conc.	Yield	Yield	Yield	Yield
	ume	μп	Prop	Succ	Ala	Asp	Prop	Succ	Ala	Asp
	[min]		[mM]	[mM]	[mM]	[mM]	[%]	[%]	[‰]	[%]
8	0	9.3	< 0.01	< 0.01	<0.01	<0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.03	< 0.01
9	5	9.3	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.01	<0.01
10	10	9.3	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.02	<0.01
11	30	9.5	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.02	<0.01
12	60	9.3	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.03	<0.01
13	120	9.3	<0.01	< 0.01	0.01	0.02	<0.01	<0.01	0.05	<0.01
14	240	9.3	<0.01	<0.01	0.02	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.09	<0.01
15	480	9.3	<0.01	<0.01	0.02	<0.01	<0.01	< 0.01	0.12	<0.01
16	1440	9.2	0.27	0.02	0.03	0.01	0.14	<0.01	0.15	<0.01
17	2880	9.1	1.64	0.1	0.03	0.34	0.82	0.05	0.16	0.17
18	4320	9	4.91	0.37	0.03	0.18	2.46	0.18	0.17	0.09
19	5760	8.6	<0.01	0.39	0.04	0.45	< 0.01	0.19	0.2	0.22
20	7200	8.6	5.88	0.39	0.04	0.44	2.94	0.2	0.21	0.22
21	8640	8.6	6.71	0.6	0.06	0.62	3.36	0.3	0.3	0.31
22	10080	8.8	7.4	0.65	0.06	0.62	3.7	0.32	0.31	0.31

on different amounts of the metal sulfide catalysts, which were achieved by adding different amounts of Na₂S. Other parameters as stated above. Defined standard run is marked in red (1 mmol Na₅S).

Table S 4. Propionamide, succinamic acid, alanine and aspartic acid formation based

NaS		س الا	Conc.	Conc.	Conc.	Conc.	Yield	rield	rield	Yield
		рп	Prop	Succ	Ala	Asp	Prop	Succ	Ala	Asp
	[mmol]		[mM]	[mM]	[mM]	[mM]	[%]	[%]	[‰]	[%]
2	3 0	6.8	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
2	4 0.25	7	0.21	0.06	<0.01	0.01	0.11	0.03	<0.01	<0.01
2	5 0.5	7.1	0.55	<0.01	0.02	0.04	0.27	<0.01	0.08	0.02
2	6 0.75	8	2.92	0.91	0.03	0.48	1.46	0.45	0.14	0.24
2	7 1	8.6	5.88	0.7	0.06	0.62	2.94	0.35	0.31	0.31
2	8 1.25	9.1	3.53	0.21	0.06	0.4	1.76	0.11	0.32	0.2
2	9 1.5	9	0.22	0.12	0.03	<0.01	0.11	0.06	0.13	<0.01
3	0 1.75	9.3	0.05	0.07	0.02	0.04	0.03	0.04	0.11	0.02
3	1 2	9.6	0.08	<0.01	0.01	<0.01	0.04	<0.01	0.06	< 0.01

Table S 5. Propionamide, succinamic acid, alanine and aspartic acid formation based on different pH values, which were achieved by adding different volumes of NaOH solution. Other parameters as stated above. Defined standard run is marked in red (1 mL NaOH).

	NaOH	pН	Conc. Prop	Conc. Succ	Conc. Ala	Conc. Asp	Yield Prop	Yield Succ	Yield Ala	Yield Asp
	[ml]		[mM]	[mM]	[mM]	[mM]	[%]	[%]	[‰]	[%]
32	0	6.7	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
33	0.25	6.8	0.2	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.1	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
34	0.75	7.9	2.11	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	1.06	<0.01	0.02	<0.01
35	1	8.4	7.26	0.85	0.04	0.61	3.63	0.43	0.22	0.31
36	1.25	8.9	1.76	0.26	0.03	0.54	0.88	0.13	0.17	0.27
37	1.5	9.4	0.66	<0.01	<0.01	0.12	0.33	<0.01	0.05	0.06
38	1.75	9.6	0.05	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.02	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
39	2	9.8	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
Figures



Figure S 1. Typical fragments of TBDMS- amino acids in GC/MS experiments at the example of alanine. Shown in red are the fragments *m*/*z*=260 ([M-57^{+.}], left), *m*/*z*=232 ([M-85^{+.}], middle) and *m*/*z*=158 ([M-159^{+.}], right).

Source Services & S

8.1 Journal Articles

Heker, I.; **Seitz, C.;** Voskuhl, L.; Kong, Y; Erdmann, I.; Huber, C.; Eisenreich, W.; Meckenstock, R. U. Chemoorganoautotrophic growth with polycyclic aromatic organic substrates, *Nat. Commun.* **2024** (under revision).

Seitz, C.; Geisberger, T.; West, A. R.; Fertl, J.; Eisenreich, W.; Huber, C. From Zero to Hero: The Cyanide-Free Formation of Amino Acids and Amides from Acetylene, Ammonia and Carbon Monoxide in Aqueous Environments in a Simulated Hadean Scenario. *Life* **2024**, *14*, 719. DOI: 10.3390/life14060719.

Meckenstock, R. U.; Heker, I.; **Seitz, C.;** Voskuhl, L.; Eisenreich, W. Chemo-organoautotrophic degradation of aromatic hydrocarbons indicates a new type of bacterial metabolism. *ARPHA Conference Abstracts* **2023** 6: e111950. DOI: 10.3897/aca.6.e111950.

Diederich P.; Ruf, A.; Weidner, L.; Geisberger, T.; **Seitz, C.;** Eisenreich, W.; Huber, C.; Schmitt-Kopplin, P. C2-addition patterns emerging from acetylene in a prebiotic sulfur mineral setup under hydrothermal volcanic conditions. *Commun Chem* **2023**, *6*, 220. DOI: 10.1038/s42004-023-01021-1.

Geisberger, T.; Diederich, P.; Kaiser, C. J. O.; Vogele, K.; Ruf, A.; **Seitz, C.;** Simmel, F.; Eisenreich, W.; Schmitt-Kopplin, P.; Huber, C. Formation of vesicular structures from fatty acids formed under simulated volcanic hydrothermal conditions. *Sci Rep.* **2023**, 13(1):15227. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-023-42552.

Diederich, P.; Geisberger, T.; Yan, Y.; **Seitz, C.;** Ruf, A.; Huber, C.; Hertkorn, N.; Schmitt-Kopplin, P. Formation, stabilization and fate of acetaldehyde and higher aldehydes in an autonomously changing prebiotic system emerging from acetylene. *Commun Chem.* **2023**, 6(1):38. DOI: 10.1038/s42004-023-00833-5.

Seitz, C; Eisenreich, W; Huber, C. The Abiotic Formation of Pyrrole under Volcanic, Hydrothermal Conditions — An Initial Step towards Life's First Breath? *Life* **2021**, *11*, 980. DOI: 10.3390/life11090980.

8.2 Posters

- 07/2020 Molecular Origins of Life, Munich. Poster on "Chemical evolution of biomolecules formed under volcanic hydrothermal conditions".
- 06/2022 Molecular Origins of Life, Munich. Poster on "Prebiotic synthesis of pyrrole under volcanic hydrothermal conditions".

07/2024 Molecular Origins of Life, Munich. Poster on "Prebiotic synthesis of amino acids and amides under volcanic hydrothermal conditions".